

Master's thesis

Power Sum Decomposition of Ternary Sextic Forms

Anne Brugård

Mathematics 60 ECTS study points

Department of Mathematics Faculty of Mathematics and Natural Sciences



Spring 2023

Anne Brugård

Power Sum Decomposition of Ternary Sextic Forms

Supervisors: Kristian Ranestad Torgunn Karoline Moe

Abstract

In this thesis we investigate power sum decomposition of ternary sextic forms by using apolarity. We find and classify all Betti tables for the resolution of an apolar ideal of a ternary sextic form. By using the Betti tables, we find a generalized notion of rank, the cactus rank, for every ternary sextic form and find the configuration of points that gives the cactus rank. Further, we use this results to give a stratification of the space of ternary sextic forms. Finally, we do explicit computations on double cubic forms and prove that every such sextic will have a cubic forms in the apolar ideal.

Acknowledgements

First of all, I have to thank my supervisor Kristian Ranestad. Thank you for being a resource and mentor, not only in connection with this these, but also for being available the past five years. The impact you have had on my years of study at UiO can not be understated. Though the amount you have thought me is without comparison, I do hope you have learned something from me as well.

I would also like to thank Torgunn Karoline Moe for providing both academical as well as emotional support through my years at UiO. As my supervisor, thank you for always asking the questions necessary for me to understand what I didn't.

John Christian Ottem, thank you for always being there whenever I have a mathematical or a technical problem, but most of all, thanks for all the red and yellow lines.

Kaja Lindstrøm, thank you for challenging yourself and reaching out to me when I first arrived at the 11th floor. The last few years would never have been the same without you.

Ronny Fredrik Ansnes, though the time we had together was cut all too short, you changed my mindset in ways I will cherish forever.

Finally, I would like to thank Andreas Mobråthen for being the best and most important person in the (my) world. Thank you for always cheering for me no matter what kind of projects I delve into.

Contents

1	Introduction	1
	1.1 Methods and Results	1
	1.2 Outline	4
2	Preliminaries	6
4	2.1 Applarity	6
	2.2 Applating	8
	2.2 Buchshaum Fisonbud Matrix	0
		9
3	Classification of Betti Tables	12
4	Grassmannians and	
	Skew Symmetric Matrices	21
	4.1 Grassmannians	21
	4.2 Skew Symmetric Matrices of Dimension 4	23
	4.2.1 Geometric Interpretation	26
	4.3 More on Grassmannians and Skew Symmetric Matrices	28
	4.3.1 Chow Ring of a Grassmannian	29
	4.3.2 Chern Classes of Vector Bundles on Grassmannians	38
	4.3.3 The set of Isotropic Subspaces as a Subvariety of a Grassmannian	43
	4.3.4 Computation with Chern Classes	44
	4.4 Application to Skew Symmetric Matrices of Dimension 4, 6 and 9	47
	4.4.1 Skew Symmetric Matrices of Dimension 4 - revisited	47
	4.4.2 Skew Symmetric Matrices of Dimension 6	47
	4.4.3 Skew Symmetric Matrices of Dimension 9	52
5	Finite Schemes in \mathbb{P}^2	56
	5.1 Hilbert–Burch Matrices of some Finite Schemes in \mathbb{P}^2	56
	5.1.1 Finite Schemes in \mathbb{P}^2 of Length 4 and 5	57
	5.1.2 Other Finite Schemes in \mathbb{P}^2	61
	5.2 Zero-Dimensional Subideals of F^{\perp}	73
6	Bank and	
U	Power Sum Representations	82
7	Stratification	89
•	7.1 Belations Between the \mathcal{G}_{BS}	89
	7.1.1 Closure Relations Between some of the $\mathcal{G}_{\mathcal{P}S}$	89
	7.1.2 Containment Relations Between some of the \mathcal{G}_{PS}	90
	7.2 Relations between the \mathcal{F}_{PS}	93
	7.2.1 Geometric Interpretation	96
	7.3 Binary Forms	99
		00

8	Double Cubic Forms						
9	Conclusion 1 9.1 Comparison of the Secant and the Catelecticant Varieties 1						
	9.2 Further Questions	105					
10	Appendix	106					
	10.1 Computation for Chapter 4	106					
	10.2 Computation for Chapter 5	108					
	10.3 Computation for Chapter 8	118					
Re	eferences	121					

1 | Introduction

Decomposition of homogeneous polynomials into power sums of linear forms has been studied for centuries, [AH95], [Syl04] and [Muk09]. A large amount of the research has been centralized around the question of finding the *rank*, that is the minimal number of linear forms needed to decompose a homogeneous polynomial $F \in S = \mathbb{C}[x_0, \ldots, x_n]$ into sums of powers of linear forms. Finding an explicit minimal decomposition of F is in general very hard. Finding the rank is easier, at least with some generalization of the notion of rank. Our approach to power sum decomposition is to use the so called *cactus rank*, which we will find for any ternary sextic form.

To find the cactus rank, we will use *apolarity*. We can associate to F a homogeneous ideal $F^{\perp} \subset T = \mathbb{C}[y_0, \ldots, y_n]$, referred to as the *apolar ideal* of F. The minimal length of a finite scheme Γ whose ideal is I_{Γ} is a subideal of F^{\perp} , will be the cactus rank of F. To find the cactus rank for each F, we give a classification of the possible *Betti tables* of the resolution of T/F^{\perp} for a ternary sextic form, see Section 2.2, and compute the cactus rank associated to each table. Further, we use the classification to give a stratification of the space of ternary sextic forms.

Our work and methods are inspired by [Kap+21], where the same approach is used for power sum decomposition of quaternary quartic forms.

1.1 Methods and Results

A homogeneous polynomial of degree d can be considered both as an element $F \in S_d$, written as

$$F = a_0 x_0^d + a_1 x_0^{d-1} x_1 + \dots + a_N x_n^d,$$

where $N = \binom{n+d}{n} - 1$ and $a_i \in \mathbb{C}$, and as a point $[F] \in \mathbb{P}(S_d) = \mathbb{P}^N$. Given the Veronese embedding

$$v_d: \mathbb{P}(S_1) \to \mathbb{P}(S_d)$$
$$[L] \mapsto [L^d],$$

we have that $F = L_1^d + \ldots + L_s^d$ if and only if $[F] \in \langle v_d([L_1], \ldots, [L_s]) \rangle$.

There is a duality between $\mathbb{P}(S_d)$ and $\mathbb{P}(T_d)$ given by differentiation. That is, $y_i(x_j) = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} x_j$ and $x_i(y_j) = \frac{\partial}{\partial y_i} y_j$. Consider the homogeneous annihilator ideal

$$F^{\perp} = \{ G \in T : G(F) = 0 \},\$$

called the *apolar ideal* of F^{\perp} . Our main tool in this thesis is the following lemma:

Lemma 1.1.1 (Lemma 2.1.5 Applarity lemma). Let $\Gamma \subset \mathbb{P}(S_1)$ be a scheme and let $F \in S_d$. Then $[F] \in \langle v_d(\Gamma) \rangle$ if and only if $F^{\perp} \supset I_{\Gamma}$.

As a consequence, if $\Gamma = \{[L_1], \ldots, [L_s]\}$, we have that $[F] \in \langle v_d([L_1], \ldots, [L_s]) \rangle$, and hence $F = L_1^d + \ldots + L_s^d$ if and only if $I_{\Gamma} \subset F^{\perp}$.

Definition 1.1.2.

- The rank of $F \in S_d$, denoted r(F), is the minimal s such that $F = L_1^d + \cdots + L_s^d$, and
- The cactus rank of $F \in S_d$, denoted cr(F), is the minimal length of Γ such that $I_{\Gamma} \subset F^{\perp}$.

The length of a finite scheme Γ is the Hilbert polynomial of T/I_{Γ} . Observe that $\operatorname{cr}(F) \leq \operatorname{r}(F)$, where we have equality if we can find a subscheme of minimal length consisting of distinct points.

In some cases we can find several subideals $I_{\Gamma} \subset F^{\perp}$ of minimal length. This corresponds to finding several decompositions of F into a power sum of linear forms. The possible decompositions of a homogeneous polynomial into power sums of linear forms, are formalized in the following definition:

Definition 1.1.3. The variety of sums of powers of $F \in S_d$ is

 $\operatorname{VSP}(F,s) = \overline{\{([L_1],\ldots,[L_s]) \in \operatorname{Hilb}_s(\mathbb{P}(S_1)) : \exists \lambda_i \in \mathbb{C} \text{ such that } F = \lambda_1 L_1^d + \ldots + \lambda_s L_s^d\}}.$

When s is equal to the rank of F, VSP(F, r(F)) is a variety in $Hilb_{r(F)}(\mathbb{P}(S_1))$, where each point corresponds to a way of representing F as a power sum of r(F) linear forms.

Let $F \in S = \mathbb{C}[x_0, x_1, x_2]$. Then F^{\perp} is an Artinian Gorenstein ideal since T/F^{\perp} is and Artinian Gorenstein ring, by [Mac72]. A structure theorem for Gorenstein ideals I of codimension 3 proved by [BE77], gives that I is generated by the (n-1)th order pfaffians, the minors obtained by deleting the same row and column, of a skew symmetric matrix M, see Theorem 2.3.3. By the correspondence between ideals of finite schemes and matrices given by the Hilbert–Burch theorem, Theorem 5.1.1, our strategy for finding zero-dimensional ideals $I_{\Gamma} \subset F^{\perp}$ is to search for submatrices of M. We will use the following terminology:

- If F^{\perp} is minimally generated by the (n-1)th order pfaffians of a matrix M, we say that M is a Buchsbaum-Eisenbud matrix of F^{\perp} . If F is not specified, we say that M is a Buchsbaum-Eisenbud matrix.
- If I_{Γ} is minimally generated by the maximal minors of a matrix H, we say that H is a *Hilbert–Burch matrix* of I_{Γ} . If I_{Γ} is not specified, we say that H is a *Hilbert–Burch matrix*.

We give an example of our strategy for finding a decomposition.

Example 1.1.4. Let $F \in S_6$ be the Fermat sextic, $F = x_0^6 + x_1^6 + x_2^6$. Then, by computation, $F^{\perp} = \langle y_0 y_1, y_0 y_2, y_1 y_2, y_0^6 - y_1^6, y_0^6 - y_2^6 \rangle$. The following matrix M is a Buchsbaum–Eisenbud matrix of F^{\perp} , where we have chosen a basis such that the M is skew symmetric:

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -y_0^5 & y_1^5 & y_2 & -y_2 \\ y_0^5 & 0 & -y_2^5 & -y_1 & 0 \\ -y_1^5 & y_2^5 & 0 & 0 & y_0 \\ -y_2 & y_1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ y_2 & 0 & -y_0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

Firstly, we see that the 4th order pfaffians are the generators of F^{\perp} . Secondly, we see that we have a submatrix

$$H = \begin{pmatrix} -y_2 & y_1 & 0\\ y_2 & 0 & -y_0 \end{pmatrix}$$

whose 2×2 minors gives three of the generators of F^{\perp} . This is the subideal I_{Γ} . Indeed, the points in Γ is the common zeros of y_0y_1, y_0y_2 and y_1y_2 , which is (1 : 0 : 0), (0 : 1 : 0) and (0 : 0 : 1). By Lemma 1.1.1, we can write F as a power sum of the points in $\mathbb{P}(S_1)$ corresponding to (1 : 0 : 0), (0 : 1 : 0) and (0 : 0 : 1). The corresponding points in $\mathbb{P}(S_1)$ are x_0, x_1 and x_2 , thus $F = x_0^6 + x_1^6 + x_2^6$.

The first result in this thesis is a classification of the Betti tables of the apolar ideals of a *non-degenerate* ternary sextic form F, for which there are no linear forms in F^{\perp} . In Theorem 3.0.4, we prove that there exists 16 different Betti tables for the apolar ideal of a ternary sextic form, summarized in Figure 3.3. From Theorem 3.0.4 we get the following corollary.

Corollary 1.1.5 (Corollary 3.0.5). The Betti table for the apolar ideal of a ternary sextic form F is determined by the number of quadratic, cubic and quartic generators of F^{\perp} .

The number of quadratic, cubic and quartic generators of F^{\perp} are equal to the Betti numbers b_{12}, b_{13} and b_{14} , respectively. Due to this, we write $B_{[b_{12}b_{13}b_{14}]}$ to denote a Betti table that is determined by these numbers. We also give the following definition of the *Betti strata*:

Definition 1.1.6. $\mathcal{F}_{B_{[b_{12}b_{13}b_{14}]}} = \{F \in \mathbb{P}(S_6) : T/F^{\perp} \text{ has Betti table } B_{[b_{12}b_{13}b_{14}]}\}.$

When the Betti table is not fixed, we write Betti strata \mathcal{F}_B . In Chapter 6 we prove that each \mathcal{F}_B is irreducible. We also compute the rank and $\text{VSP}(F, \mathbf{r}(F))$ of a general element of each \mathcal{F}_B . Further, we compute the configuration of points in Γ . We get the same results for every element in a fixed \mathcal{F}_B , except in two cases. Of this reason, we define $\mathcal{F}_{[016a]}, \mathcal{F}_{[016b]}, \mathcal{F}_{[016c]}$, and $\mathcal{F}_{[023a]}, \mathcal{F}_{[023b]}$ and $\mathcal{F}_{[023c]}$. Our results are reproduced in Figure 1.1, where we include the dimension of each \mathcal{F}_B .

Betti table $B_{[b_{12}b_{13}b_{14}]}$	r(F)	$\mathrm{VSP}(F,r)$	Γ	$\dim(\mathcal{F}_B)$
[300]	3	one point	three points	8
[210]	4	one point	four points, three on a line	10
[200]	4	one point	four points	11
[202]	5	\mathbb{P}^1	five points, four on a line	11
[120]	5	one point	five points	14
[112]	6	\mathbb{P}^1	six points, four on a line	14
[111]	6	one point	six points on a conic	16
[104]	7	\mathbb{P}^1	seven points on a conic	17
[040]	6	one point	six points	17
[032]	7	\mathbb{P}^1	seven points, four on a line	17
[031]	7	one point	seven points	20
[023c]	8	\mathbb{P}^1	eight points, four on a line	20
[024]	8	\mathbb{P}^1	eight points, seven on a conic	20
[023b]	8	one point	eight points	23
[030]	9	\mathbb{P}^2	nine points in a CI	21
[016b]	9	\mathbb{P}^1	nine points, four on a line	23
[016c]	9	\mathbb{P}^1	nine points, seven on a conic	23
[023a]	9	one point	nine points in a CI	24
[016a]	9	two points	nine points	26
[009]	10	K3 surface	ten points	27

Figure 1.1: Rank and VSP for the Betti strata

In Chapter 7 we investigate the closure relation between the subsets \mathcal{F}_B and our main results are in Proposition 7.2.4, Proposition 7.2.5 and Proposition 7.2.7. A picture of the closure relations is in Figure 1.2 on page 5, where each arrow depicts an inclusion in the closure. The Fermat sextic is of type [300], which is included in the closure of every \mathcal{F}_B . Since the Fermat sextic is smooth, this shows that a general element in every \mathcal{F}_B is smooth.

In Chapter 8, we do explicit computations on the apolar ideal on ternary sextic forms that can be written as a double cubic form and prove the following theorem.

Theorem 1.1.7 (Theorem 8.0.8). Let Q be a irreducible ternary cubic form and let $F = Q^2$. Then F^{\perp} contains at least one cubic form. An F with cr(F) = s lies in the sth secant variety to the Veronese variety. In Chapter 9 we use our results to prove Theorem 9.1.1, which describes relations between the secant varieties and catalecticant matrices.

1.2 Outline

The rest of the thesis is organised as follows:

In Chapter 2 we first present the apolarity construction and prove the apolarity lemma. Then we describe the structure theorem for Gorenstein ideals of codimension 3 and explain how the theorem apply for ternary sextic forms.

In Chapter 3 we classify the 16 Betti tables of the resolution of the apolar ideal of a nondegenerate ternary sextic form.

In Chapter 4 we introduce some theory about Grassmannians that we need in order to find isotropic subspaces of a skew symmetric matrix. First, we use the equation for the Grassmannian G(2, 4) to find the 2-dimensional isotropic subspaces of a 4×4 skew symmetric matrix with linear entries. Thereafter, we use the Chow ring and Chern classes of G(3, 6) and G(4, 9) to find the 3and 4-dimensional isotropic subspaces of a 6×6 and a 9×9 skew symmetric matrix with linear entries, respectively. The isotropic subspaces we find correspond to Hilbert–Burch matrices of subideals of F^{\perp} .

In Chapter 5 we first give a description of the Hilbert–Burch matrices of the schemes that will appear as minimal subschemes of F^{\perp} . Then we prove that a Hilbert–Burch matrix of minimal subscheme will be a submatrix of a Buchsbaum–Eisenbud matrix M of F. At last we prove that the Hilbert–Burch matrices described actually appear as submatrices of M.

In Chapter 6 we first prove some results concerning the case when $I_{\Gamma} \subset F^{\perp}$ and Γ is contained in a line or a conic. Thereafter, we use these results to compute the rank and power sum representation of a non-degenerate ternary sextic form.

In Chapter 7 we first prove some containment relations between the schemes described in Chapter 5. Then, we use these relations to give a stratification of the space of non-degenerate ternary sextic forms. Lastly, we explain how the degenerate forms fits into the stratification.

In Chapter 8 we do explicit computations on the apolar ideal ternary sextic forms that can be written as a double cubic.

In Chapter 9 we compare our results to the secant varieties of the Veronese surface to catalecticant matrices. In addition, we raise some further questions related to power sum decomposition of homogeneous ternary forms.

We will use Macaulay2 [GS] in some of our computations. The Macaulay2 code can be found in Chapter 10.



Figure 1.2: Stratification of $\mathbb{P}(S_6) = \mathbb{P}^{27}$. An arrow represents a closure relation.

2 | Preliminaries

In this chapter we introduce three concepts which form the foundation of the rest of the thesis. First, in Section 2.1, we explain what an apolar ideal is and how it can be used to find a power sum decomposition of a homogeneous polynomial. Then, in Section 2.2, we describe what a Betti table is and some of the properties it has in our case. Lastly, in Section 2.3, we introduce a structure theorem that gives a correspondence between a skew symmetric matrix and an apolar ideal.

2.1 Apolarity

Let $S = \mathbb{C}[x_0, \ldots, x_n]$ and $T = \mathbb{C}[y_0, \ldots, y_n]$. There is a duality between S_d and T_d given by differentiation, where $y_i(x_j) = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} x_j$ and $x_i(y_j) = \frac{\partial}{\partial y_i} y_j$. Indeed, let

$$F = \sum_{i_0 + \dots + i_n = d} a_i x_0^{i_0} \dots x_n^{i_n} \in S_d \qquad \text{and} \qquad G = \sum_{i_0 + \dots + i_n = d} b_i y_0^{i_0} \dots y_n^{i_n} \in T_d$$

where $i = (i_0, \ldots, i_n)$ and $a_i, b_i \in \mathbb{C}$. Then

$$G(F) = F(G) = \sum_{i_0 + \dots + i_n = d} i_0! \dots i_n! a_i b_i.$$

Fixing $G \in T_d$, we get the hyperplane $H_G = \{[F] : G(F) = 0\} \subset \mathbb{P}(S_d) = \mathbb{P}^N$, where $N = \binom{n+d}{n} - 1$. Hence $\mathbb{P}(S_d)^{\vee} = \mathbb{P}(T_d)$.

Definition 2.1.1. The ideal $F^{\perp} = \{G \in T : G(F) = 0\} \subset T$ is called the *apolar ideal* of $F \in S$.

We define $H_F = \{[G] : [F] \in H_G\} \subset \mathbb{P}(T_d)$ and observe that $H_F = \mathbb{P}(F_d^{\perp})$. In the following, we will use the duality between S_d and T_d and the Veronese embedding, v_d , to investigate the relation between apolarity and power sum decomposition. Recall that

$$v_d : \mathbb{P}(S_1) \to \mathbb{P}(S_d)$$

 $[L] \mapsto [L^d].$

We prove three lemmas before we state and prove the apolarity lemma.

Lemma 2.1.2. Let $L = \lambda_0 x_0 + \cdots + \lambda_n x_n \in S_1$ and $G \in T_d$. Then differentiation and evaluation coincide, that is $G(L^d) = 0$ if and only if $G(\lambda_0, \ldots, \lambda_n) = 0$.

Proof. We have

$$L^{d} = (\lambda_{0}x_{0} + \dots + \lambda_{n}x_{n})^{d} = \sum_{i_{0} + \dots + i_{n} = d} \frac{d!}{i_{0}! \dots i_{n}!} (\lambda_{0}x_{0})^{i_{0}} \dots (\lambda_{n}x_{n})^{i_{n}},$$

and

$$G(L^d) = \sum_{i_0 + \dots + i_n = d} b_i \frac{d!}{i_0! \dots i_n!} i_0! \dots i_n! (\lambda_0)^{i_0} \dots (\lambda_n)^{i_n}$$

$$= d! \sum_{i_0 + \dots + i_n = d} b_i (\lambda_0)^{i_0} \dots (\lambda_n)^{i_n}.$$

On the other hand, we have that

$$G(\lambda_0,\ldots,\lambda_n)=\sum_{i_0+\cdots+i_n=d}b_i(\lambda_0)^{i_0}\ldots(\lambda_n)^{i_n}.$$

Thus $G(\lambda_0, \ldots, \lambda_n) = 0$ if and only if $G(L^d) = 0$.

Lemma 2.1.3. Let $\Gamma \subset \mathbb{P}(S_1)$ be a scheme and I_{Γ} the corresponding ideal. Then $\langle v_d(\Gamma) \rangle = \mathbb{P}(I_{\Gamma,d}^{\perp}) \subset \mathbb{P}(S_d)$.

Proof. Let Γ be a finite scheme and pick $G \in T_d$ such that $H_G \supset v_d(\Gamma)$. By definition of H_G , we have that G(F) = 0 for all $[F] \in v_d(\Gamma)$, which by Lemma 2.1.2, holds if and only if $G \in I_{\Gamma,d}$. For an arbitrary Γ , we get in the same way that $H_G \supset v_d(\Gamma)$ if and only if $G \in I_{\Gamma,d}$. In summary, we have that $I_{\Gamma_d} = \{G : H_G \supset v_d(\Gamma)\}$. Since $\langle v_d(\Gamma) \rangle$ is the intersection of all hyperplanes containing $v_d(\Gamma)$, we get that

$$\langle v_d(\Gamma) \rangle = \{ [F] : [F] \in H_G \text{ for all } G \in I_{\Gamma,d} \}$$

= $\{ [F] : G(F) = 0 \text{ for all } G \in I_{\Gamma,d} \}$
= $\{ [F] : F(G) = 0 \text{ for all } G \in I_{\Gamma,d} \}$
= $\mathbb{P}(I_{\Gamma_d}^{\perp})$

Lemma 2.1.4. Let $\Gamma \subset \mathbb{P}(S_1)$ be scheme and let $F \in S_d$. Then $[F] \in \langle v_d(\Gamma) \rangle$ if and only if $F_d^{\perp} \supset I_{\Gamma,d}$.

Proof. Let $[F] \in \mathbb{P}(S_d)$ and $G \in I_{\Gamma_d}$. By Lemma 2.1.3, $[F] \in \langle v_d(\Gamma) \rangle$ if and only if $F \in I_{\Gamma_d}^{\perp}$. Hence F(G) = G(F) = 0, thus $G \in F_d^{\perp}$.

There is a stronger version of Lemma 2.1.4 that we now can prove.

Lemma 2.1.5 (Apolarity lemma). Let $\Gamma \subset \mathbb{P}(S_1)$ be a scheme and let $F \in S_d$. Then $[F] \in \langle v_d(\Gamma) \rangle$ if and only if $F^{\perp} \supset I_{\Gamma}$.

Proof. Because of Lemma 2.1.4, we only need to prove that $F^{\perp} \supset I_{\Gamma}$ if and only if $F_d^{\perp} \supset I_{\Gamma,d}$. That $F^{\perp} \supset I_{\Gamma}$ implies $F_e^{\perp} \supset I_{\Gamma,e}$ for all e, so the first implication is obvious. For the second, assume $F_d^{\perp} \supset I_{\Gamma,d}$ and let $G \in I_{\Gamma,e}$. We want to show that $G \in F^{\perp}$, i.e. G(F) = 0. If e = d, then $G \in F_d^{\perp} \subset F^{\perp}$ by assumption. If e > d, then $G \in F^{\perp}$ because G(F) = 0 for any $G \in T_e$. Let e < d. Since $F \in S_d$ and $G \in T_e$, G(F) has degree d - e. Pick any $H \in T_{d-e}$ and consider the product HG. Since $G \in I_{\Gamma,e}$, we have $HG \in I_{\Gamma,d}$. By assumption $I_{\Gamma,d} \subset F_d^{\perp}$, hence $HG \in F_d^{\perp}$. We have that

$$HG(F) = H(G(F)) = 0$$
 (2.1)

for all $H \in T_{d-e}$. Since both H and G(F) has degree d-e we have that Equation (2.1) holds if and only if G(F) = 0. Thus $G \in F^{\perp}$, which was what we wanted to prove.

Corollary 2.1.6. Let $\Gamma = \{[L_1], \ldots, [L_s]\} \subset \mathbb{P}(S_1)$ and let $F \in S_d$. Then we can choose $L_i \in [L_i]$ such that $F = L_1^d + \cdots + L_s^d$ if and only if $F^{\perp} \supset I_{\Gamma}$.

Proof. Notice that $[F] \in \langle v_d(\Gamma) \rangle$ if and only if $F = L_1^d + \ldots + L_s^d$.

2.2 Betti Tables

Let $I \subset T = \mathbb{C}[y_0, \ldots, y_n]$ be a homogeneous ideal. A graded *free resolution* \mathcal{F} of T/I is an exact sequence of the form

 $\ldots \longrightarrow F_2 \longrightarrow F_1 \longrightarrow F_0 \longrightarrow T/I \longrightarrow 0,$

where $F_i \simeq \bigoplus_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} T(-j)^{b_{i,j}}$ is a free *T*-module. If there is an *l* such that $F_{l+2} = F_{l+3} = \cdots = 0$, but $F_{l+1} \neq 0$, we say that the resolution is *finite of length* l + 1. For a *minimal* finite free resolution of T/I, the exponents $b_{i,j}$ is called the *Betti numbers*. They form a *Betti table*

0:	$b_{0,0}$	$b_{1,1}$	$b_{2,2}$		$b_{n+1,n+1}$	
1:	$b_{0,1}$	$b_{1,2}$	$b_{2,3}$		$b_{n+1,n+2}$	
÷	:	:	:	÷	:	,
m:	$b_{0,m}$	$b_{1,m+1}$	$b_{2,m+2}$		$b_{n+1,n+1+m}$	

where m is such that $b_{i,m+p} = 1$ for one p and $b_{i,m+p} = 0$ for all other p, and $b_{i,i+j} = 0$ for j > m. We denote $b_{i,j} = 0$ with a -.

Definition-Proposition 2.2.1. [Eis95, Theorem 21.6] Let I be a homogeneous ideal of $T = \mathbb{C}[y_0, \ldots, y_n]$. Then I is an Artinian Gorenstein ideal if and only if $I = F^{\perp}$ for a homogeneous $F \in S$.

Let $T = \mathbb{C}[y_0, y_1, y_2]$. Assume $I \subset T$ is an Artinian Gorenstein ideal of codimension 3 and that \mathcal{F} is minimal. Then \mathcal{F} has length 3 by [Eis95, Corollary 21.16], thus we have the following free resolution \mathcal{F} :

$$0 \longrightarrow \bigoplus_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} T(-k)^{b_{3,k}} \longrightarrow \bigoplus_{k' \in \mathbb{Z}} T(-k')^{b_{2,k'}} \longrightarrow \bigoplus_{k'' \in \mathbb{Z}} T(-k'')^{b_{1,k''}} \longrightarrow T,$$

where we have chosen $b_{0,0} = 1$, and have that $b_{0,j} = 0$ for j > 0 since \mathcal{F} is a resolution of an ideal. We now dualize with $\operatorname{Hom}(-,T)$ and get

$$\operatorname{Hom}(\bigoplus_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}T(-j)^{b_{i,j}},T)\simeq$$
$$\bigoplus_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}\operatorname{Hom}(T(-j)^{b_{i,j}},T)\simeq$$
$$\bigoplus_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}T(j)^{b_{i,j}}.$$

We get the following resolution \mathcal{F}^{\vee} :

$$T \longrightarrow \bigoplus_{k'' \in \mathbb{Z}} T(k'')^{b_{1,k''}} \longrightarrow \bigoplus_{k' \in \mathbb{Z}} T(k')^{b_{2,k'}} \longrightarrow \bigoplus_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} T(k)^{b_{3,k}}.$$

By [Eis95, Corollary 21.16], $\mathcal{F} \simeq \mathcal{F}^{\vee}$ as complexes, which means that

$$\bigoplus_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} T(-k)^{b_{3,k}} \longrightarrow \bigoplus_{k' \in \mathbb{Z}} T(-k')^{b_{2,k'}} \longrightarrow \bigoplus_{k'' \in \mathbb{Z}} T(-k'')^{b_{1,k''}} \longrightarrow T$$

$$\stackrel{\wr}{\longrightarrow} T \longrightarrow \bigoplus_{k'' \in \mathbb{Z}} T(k'')^{b_{1,k''}} \longrightarrow \bigoplus_{k' \in \mathbb{Z}} T(k')^{b_{2,k'}} \longrightarrow \bigoplus_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} T(k)^{b_{3,k}}$$

Let l be such that $b_{3,l} = 1$ and $b_{3,k} = 0$ for $k \neq l$. To get the same grading on \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{F}^{\vee} , we shift \mathcal{F}^{\vee} with -l. This gives that

$$\bigoplus_{k'\in\mathbb{Z}}T(-k')^{b_{2,k'}}\simeq\bigoplus_{k''\in\mathbb{Z}}T(-l+k'')^{b_{1,k''}}.$$

In other words,

$$b_{2,k'} = b_{1,k''}$$
 when $k'' + k' = l$ (2.2)

By the definition of the Betti table, l = m + 3, so we get the following symmetric Betti table:

0:	1	-	-	-
1:	-	$b_{1,2}$	$b_{1,m}$	-
2:	-	$b_{1,3}$	$b_{1,m-1}$	-
÷	÷	:	÷	÷
m-2:	-	$b_{1,m-1}$	$b_{1,3}$	-
m-1:	-	$b_{1,m}$	$b_{1,2}$	-
m:	-	-	-	1

When I is Artinian Gorenstein, that is $I = F^{\perp}$ for an $F \in S_d$, then $m = \deg F = d$, [Eis95, p. 505] and [Iar99, Proposition C.22 and p. 48]. We have proven the following lemma.

Lemma 2.2.2. Let $S = \mathbb{C}[x_0, x_1, x_2]$ and $T = \mathbb{C}[y_0, y_1, y_2]$. Let $F \in S_d$ and $F^{\perp} \subset T$. Then the Betti table of the minimal free resolution of T/F^{\perp} is

0:	1	-	-	-
1:	-	$b_{1,2}$	$b_{1,d}$	-
2:	-	$b_{1,3}$	$b_{1,d-1}$	-
÷	÷	:	÷	÷
d - 2:	-	$b_{1,d-1}$	$b_{1,3}$	-
d - 1:	-	$b_{1,d}$	$b_{1,2}$	-
d:	-	-	-	1

2.3 Buchsbaum–Eisenbud Matrix

Let $T = \mathbb{C}[y_0, y_1, y_2]$. In this section we explain how we can relate the generators of an apolar ideal $F^{\perp} \subset T$ to a matrix. The relation follows from a general structure theorem. In order to state the theorem and to explain its consequences in our case, we give some definitions and lemmas.

Let A be an $n \times n$ matrix. Then A is skew symmetric if $A = -A^T$. The pfaffian of A, Pf(A), is the square root of the determinant of A, that is $(Pf(A))^2 = \det A$, [Cay09]. The (n-1)th order pfaffian of A is the square root of the determinant of the matrix obtained by deleting one row and the corresponding column of A. We denote by $Pf_{n-1}(A)$ the ideal generated by the (n-1)th order pfaffians of A. If $P = (P_0, \ldots, P_{n-1})$ is an ordered tuple and $a = (a_0, \ldots, a_{n-1})$ is a ordered tuple such that $a_0P_0 + \cdots + a_{n-1}P_{n-1} = 0$, then a is called a syzygy of P. We have the following two lemmas about skew symmetric matrices and syzygies.

Lemma 2.3.1. Let $n \ge 3$ be an odd integer and let A be an $n \times n$ skew symmetric matrix. Then det A = 0.

Proof. Since A is skew symmetric, we have that $A^T = -A$. Then

$$\det A = \det A^T = \det(-A) = (-1)^n \det A$$

Since n is odd, we get that

$$\det A = -\det A = 0.$$

Lemma 2.3.2. Let $n \ge 3$ be an odd integer and let A be an $n \times n$ skew symmetric matrix. Then the columns of A are syzygies of the (n-1)th order pfaffians of A ordered in the natural way.

Proof. Let $A = (a_{ij})_{i,j=0}^{n-1}$ and let M_{ij} be the $(n-1) \times (n-1)$ minor obtained by deleting the *i*th row and *j*th column and let $P_i = M_{ii}$ be the (n-1)th order pfaffian obtained by deleting the *i*th row and *i*th column. By [Cay09], we have the following relation:

$$M_{ij} = (-1)^{i+j+1} P_i P_j.$$

We now compute $\det A$ by expanding along the *i*th row. This gives

$$\det A = \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} (-1)^{i+j+1} a_{ij} M_{ij}$$
$$= \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} (-1)^{i+j+1} (-1)^{i+j+1} a_{ij} P_i P_j$$
$$= P_i \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} a_{ij} P_j$$

Since det A = 0 by Lemma 2.3.1, we get the following relation between the (n - 1)th order pfaffians:

$$a_{i0}P_0 + a_{i1}P_1 + \dots + a_{i,n-1}P_{n-1} = 0$$

Since $a_{ij} = -a_{ji}$, have showed that the *i*th column of A is a syzygy of the (n-1)th order pfaffians of A.

Let R be a ring and \hat{R} an R-module. If $f : \hat{R}^{\vee} \to \hat{R}$, we say that f is an *alternating map* if there exists a basis such that the matrix A of f is skew symmetric. We denote by $Pf_{n-1}(f)$ the ideal generated by the (n-1)th order pfaffian of A. We are now ready to state the structure theorem in full generality.

Theorem 2.3.3 (Buchsbaum–Eisenbud). Let R be a Noetherian local ring with maximal ideal J.

- 1. Let $n \geq 3$ be an odd integer and let \hat{R} be a free *R*-module of rank *n*. Let $f : \hat{R}^{\vee} \to \hat{R}$ be an alternating map whose image is contained in $J\hat{R}$. Suppose $Pf_{n-1}(f)$ has codimension 3. Then $Pf_{n-1}(f)$ is a Gorenstein ideal, minimally generated by *n* elements.
- 2. Every Gorenstein ideal of codimension 3 arises as above.

In particular this theorem holds in the polynomial ring with standard grading and a homogeneous ideal I. We will use the following graded version.

Corollary 2.3.4. Let $n \geq 3$ be an odd integer and $T = \mathbb{C}[y_0, y_1, y_2]$ with the usual grading.

- 1. Let $A = (a_{ij})$ be a skew symmetric matrix of dimension n, where a_{ij} are homogeneous polynomials such that all (n-1)th order pfaffians are homogeneous. Assume $Pf_{n-1}(A)$ has codimension 3. Then $Pf_{n-1}(A)$ is the apolar ideal of a homogeneous $F \in S$ minimally generated by n elements.
- 2. Let $I \subset T$ be a homogeneous Gorenstein ideal of codimension 3 generated by n elements. Then I is minimally generated by $Pf_{n-1}(A)$, where A is a skew symmetric matrix with homogeneous entries whose columns are a minimal basis for the syzygies of I.

Proof. (1) Let $f: T^n \to T^n$ be the alternating map given by A. Since every entry in A is a non constant homogeneous polynomial, the image of f is in JT^n and $Pf_{n-1}(A) = I$ is a homogeneous ideal. By Theorem 2.3.3, $Pf_{n-1}(A)$ is a Gorenstein ideal minimally generated by n elements. Since dim T = 3 and codim I = 3, I is Artinian. By Definition-Proposition 2.2.1, $I = F^{\perp}$ for a homogeneous $F \in S$.

(2) By Theorem 2.3.3, every Gorenstein ideal of codimension 3 is generated by the (n-1)th order pfaffians of an $n \times n$ skew symmetric matrix A. By Lemma 2.3.2, the columns of A are syzygies of the (n-1)th order pfaffians. The minimality follows from Theorem 2.3.3.

3 | Classification of Betti Tables

In this chapter we find and classify all Betti tables for the resolution of T/F^{\perp} for a ternary sextic form F. First, we find restrictions for the Betti numbers given by the Buchsbaum-Eisenbud matrix. Then we introduce the Hilbert function of T/F^{\perp} use it to find more restrictions on the Betti numbers. Lastly, we state and prove our theorem that gives the classification.

Let $S = \mathbb{C}[x_0, x_1, x_2]$ and $T = \mathbb{C}[y_0, y_1, y_2]$. Let $F \in S_6$. By Lemma 2.2.2 the Betti table of the resolution of T/F^{\perp} is

0:	1	-	-	-
1:	-	$b_{1,2}$	$b_{1,6}$	-
2:	-	$b_{1,3}$	$b_{1,5}$	-
3:	-	$b_{1,4}$	$b_{1,4}$	-
4:	-	$b_{1,5}$	$b_{1,3}$	-
5:	-	$b_{1,6}$	$b_{1,2}$	-
6:	-	-	-	1.

Moreover, by Equation (2.2) on page 9, $b_{1,6} = b_{2,3}$ and $b_{1,5} = b_{2,4}$. We choose to work with these numbers, therefore we write the Betti table as

0:	1	-	-	-
1:	-	$b_{1,2}$	$b_{2,3}$	-
2:	-	$b_{1,3}$	$b_{2,4}$	-
3:	-	$b_{1,4}$	$b_{1,4}$	-
4:	-	$b_{2,4}$	$b_{1,3}$	-
5:	-	$b_{2,3}$	$b_{1,2}$	-
6:	-	-	-	1.

The $b_{1,j}$ s are the number of minimal generators of F^{\perp} of degree j, and the $b_{2,j}$ are the number of syzygies between the generators of degree less than j. The syzygy represented by $b_{2,j}$ are linear for the generators of degree j - 1.

Now, we prove a lemma about the determinant of a matrix which we will use to prove a limitation of the Betti numbers.

Lemma 3.0.1. Let $n \ge 3$ and let M be an $n \times n$ matrix. Assume $m < \frac{n}{2}$ and l > m. If M has an $l \times (n - m)$ -submatrix where all the entries are zero, then det M = 0.

Proof. Write M as a block matrix with an $(n-m) \times m$ matrix A, an $(n-m) \times (n-m)$ matrix B, an $m \times m$ matrix C and an $m \times (n-m)$ block D where all the entries are zero, see Figure 3.1. Since M is a 2×2 upper triangular block matrix det $M = \det B \cdot \det C$. Because M has an $l \times (n-m)$ zero block and l > m, at least one of the rows of B is zero, which gives det B = 0. We then have det $M = \det B \cdot \det C = 0$ and the lemma holds.



Figure 3.1: The block matrix in Lemma 3.0.1.

Lemma 3.0.2. Let $F^{\perp} \subset T = \mathbb{C}[y_0, y_1, y_2]$ and let $b_{i,j}$ be the Betti numbers of the resolution of T/F^{\perp} . Let $k = b_{1,2} + b_{1,3}$ and $l = b_{2,3} + b_{2,4}$, then l < k.

Proof. Let M be an $n \times n$ matrix and assume M is a Buchsbaums–Eisenbud matrix of F^{\perp} . By Theorem 2.3.3 F^{\perp} is minimally generated by the (n-1)th order pfaffians of M. We will prove that if $l \geq k$, then at least one of the n generators are zero, contradicting the fact that n is minimal.

Assume for contradiction that $l \ge k$. Recall that k is the number of quadratic and cubic forms in F^{\perp} , $b_{1,4}$ the number of quartic forms and l the number of syzygies between the quadratic and the cubic forms. By symmetry, l is also the number of quintic and sextic forms in the ideal. Since the l syzygies are not syzygies between the $b_{1,4} + l$ quartic, quintic and sextic forms, M will have an $l \times (b_{1,4} + l)$ zero block. One of the pfaffians is obtained by computing the determinant of the matrix we get by deleting the first row and first column of M. We then have a $(k - 1 + b_{1,4} + l) \times (k - 1 + b_{1,4} + l)$ matrix with determinant equal to zero, by Lemma 3.0.1. Indeed, since $k \le l$, we get $k - 1 < l \le l + b_{1,4}$, see Figure 3.2. Both assumptions in Lemma 3.0.1 are satisfied, so the determinant is zero, and we have a contradiction.



Figure 3.2: The matrix M in the proof of Lemma 3.0.2.

To compute more limitations of the Betti numbers, we introduce the Hilbert function. Let $A = \bigoplus A_i$ be a graded module. Then the *Hilbert function* $H_{A_i} = \dim_{\mathbb{C}} A_i$, that is the dimension of A_i as a vector space of \mathbb{C} . We will use the following relation:

$$H_{T_i} = H_{F_i^{\perp}} + H_{T/F_i^{\perp}}.$$
(3.1)

We find H_{T_i} be computing the number of monomials of total degree *i* in *T*, that is $H_{T_i} = \binom{i+2}{2}$. The first values are

$$\begin{aligned} H_{T_0} &= 0, \\ H_{T_1} &= 3, \\ H_{T_2} &= 6, \end{aligned} \qquad \begin{array}{l} H_{T_3} &= 10, \\ H_{T_4} &= 15 \end{aligned}$$

Now, we express $H_{F^{\perp},i}$ in terms of the Betti numbers. Since F^{\perp} is a proper ideal, we obviously have $H_{F_0^{\perp}} = 0$, and since we have assume that there are no linear forms in F^{\perp} , also $H_{F_1^{\perp}} = 0$. We claim that we have the following relations:

$$\begin{split} H_{F_2^\perp} &= b_{1,2}, \\ H_{F_3^\perp} &= b_{1,3} + 3b_{1,2} - b_{2,3}, \\ H_{F_4^\perp} &= b_{1,4} + 6b_{1,2} + 3b_{1,3} - 3b_{2,3} - b_{2_4} \end{split}$$

Indeed, $H_{F^{\perp},i}$ is the number of generators of degree *i* and the number of forms of degree *i* obtained from the generators of lower degree, minus the number of forms of degree *i* obtained from the syzygies between the generators of lower degree. By combining the values of H_{T_i} and $H_{F_i^{\perp}}$ with $H_{T/F_i^{\perp}}$ by using Equation (3.1), we get

$$b_{1,2} = 6 - h_2,$$

$$b_{1,3} = 10 - h_3 - 3 \cdot b_{1,2} + b_{2,3},$$

$$b_{1,4} = 15 - h_4 - 6 \cdot b_{1,2} - 3 \cdot b_{1,3} + 3 \cdot b_{2,3} + b_{2,4},$$

where $h_i = H_{T/F_i^{\perp}}$.

Now, we find some limitation for $H = (h_0, \ldots, h_i, \ldots)$. Because $H_{F_0^{\perp}} = H_{F_1^{\perp}} = 0$, we get that $h_0 = 1$ and $h_1 = 3$, by Equation (2.2). Since F is ternary sextic forms, $H_{F^{\perp},i} = H_{T_i}$ for $i \ge 7$. This gives that $h_i = 0$ for $i \ge 7$. Since the Betti numbers are positive, Equation (2.2) also gives that $h_2 \le 6$ and $h_3 \le 10$. By [Iar99, Lemma 2.14], H is symmetric, that is

$$H = (h_0, h_1, h_2, h_3, h_4, h_5, h_6)$$

= $(h_0, h_1, h_2, h_3, h_2, h_1, h_0)$
= $(1, 3, h_2, h_3, h_2, 3, 1).$

We get a last limitation by the following lemma of Macaulay.

Lemma 3.0.3 (Macaulay). Set $H = (h_0, \ldots, h_i, \ldots)$, where h_i are non-negative integers and write

$$h_{i} = \begin{pmatrix} a_{i} \\ i \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} a_{i-1} \\ i-1 \end{pmatrix} + \dots \quad and$$
$$h_{i}^{\langle i \rangle} = \begin{pmatrix} a_{i}+1 \\ i+1 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} a_{i-1}+1 \\ i \end{pmatrix} + \dots,$$

with $a_i > a_{i-1} > \dots$. If H is a Hilbert function for a graded module, then $h_{i+1} \leq h_i^{\langle i \rangle}$.

As a consequence of Lemma 3.0.3, we get the following limitations.

$$\begin{aligned} H &= (1,3,5,h_3,5,3,1), & h_3 \leq 10, \\ H &= (1,3,5,h_3,5,3,1), & h_3 \leq 7, \\ H &= (1,3,4,h_3,4,3,1), & h_3 \leq 5, \\ H &= (1,3,3,h_3,3,3,1), & h_3 \leq 4, \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{split} H &= (1,3,2,h_3,2,3,1), & h_3 \leq 2, \\ H &= (1,3,1,h_3,1,3,1), & h_3 \leq 1, \\ H &= (1,3,0,h_3,0,3,1), & h_3 \leq 0. \end{split}$$

We are now ready to state and prove our theorem.

Theorem 3.0.4. Let F be a ternary sextic form. Assume that there is no linear form apolar to F. Then T/F^{\perp} has one of the 16 Betti tables in Figure 3.3. We also give the Hilbert polynomial of T/F^{\perp} .

Before we prove the theorem, we state a corollary of the theorem.

Corollary 3.0.5. The Betti table for the apolar ideal of a ternary sextic form F is determined by the number of quadratic, cubic and quartic generators of F^{\perp} .

Proof of Theorem 3.0.4. We recall the relations between the Betti numbers and the Hilbert function of T/F^{\perp} .

$$b_{1,2} = 6 - h_2,$$

$$b_{1,3} = 10 - h_3 - 3 \cdot b_{1,2} + b_{2,3},$$

$$b_{1,4} = 15 - h_4 - 6 \cdot b_{1,2} - 3 \cdot b_{1,3} + 3 \cdot b_{2,3} + b_{2,4},$$

In the proof, we will use these relations together with the limitation for the Betti numbers and the Hilbert function of T/F^{\perp} from Lemma 3.0.2 and Lemma 3.0.3. Since the Betti numbers and the h_i s are positive, we get that $0 \le b_{1,2} \le 6$. We go through each of these cases.

Case $b_{1,2} = 0$:

Since $b_{1,2} = 0$, $b_{2,3} = 0$, indeed $b_{2,3}$ represents the number of syzygies between the quadratic forms in F^{\perp} , and there are no quadratic forms in the ideal. The number of quartic generators in the ideal is $b_{1,4} = 15 - 6 - 3b_{1,3} + b_{2,4} = 9 - 3b_{1,3} + b_{2,4}$. The shape of the Betti table in this case is:

0:	1	-	-	-
1:	-	0	0	-
2:	-	$b_{1,3}$	$b_{2,4}$	-
3:	-	$9 - 3b_{1,3} + b_{2,4}$	$9 - 3b_{1,3} + b_{2,4}$	-
4:	-	$b_{2,4}$	$b_{1,3}$	-
5:	-	0	0	-
6:	-	-	-	1

When $b_{1,3} \in \{0,1\}$, $b_{2,4} = 0$ because of Lemma 3.0.2. We have the two Betti tables in Figure 3.3 and they correspond to the Hilbert functions (1,3,6,10,6,3,1) and (1,3,6,9,6,3,1). When $b_{1,3} = 2$, Lemma 3.0.2 gives $b_{2,4} \in \{0,1\}$. We have both of the Betti tables in Figure 3.3 and they correspond to the Hilbert function (1,3,6,8,6,3,1). For $b_{1,3} = 3$ the possible values for $b_{2,4} \in \{0,1,2\}$ by Lemma 3.0.2. We have the three Betti tables in Figure 3.3, which correspond to the Hilbert function (1,3,6,7,6,3,1). When $b_{1,3} = 4$ Lemma 3.0.2 gives that $b_{2,4} \in \{0,1,2,3\}$. Only case $b_{2,4} = 3$ is possible, indeed $b_{1,4} = 9 - 3 \cdot 4 + b_{2,4} = b_{2,4} - 3$, so $b_{2,4} \ge 3$. We have the Betti table in Figure 3.3 and the corresponding Hilbert function is (1,3,6,6,6,6,3,1).

The cases $b_{1,3} \ge 5$ are not realizable, indeed Lemma 3.0.2 gives that $b_{2,4} < b_{1,3}$, but $b_{1,4} = 9 - 3 \cdot b_{1,3} + b_{2,4} < 9 - 2b_{1,3}$ which gives $b_{1,4} < 0$ when $b_{1,3} \ge 5$.

		1 - 2 1 - - 1 1 - 	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
 - 2 3 - 1	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	 - 1 2 - 1
(1, 3, 3, 3, 3, 3, 1)	(1, 3, 4, 4, 3, 1)	(1, 3, 4, 4, 4, 3, 1)	(1, 3, 4, 5, 4, 3, 1)
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
(1, 3, 5, 5, 5, 3, 1)	(1, 3, 5, 6, 5, 3, 1)	(1, 3, 5, 6, 5, 3, 1)	(1, 3, 5, 7, 5, 3, 1)
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
(1, 3, 6, 6, 6, 3, 1)	(1, 3, 6, 7, 6, 3, 1)	(1, 3, 6, 7, 6, 3, 1)	(1, 3, 6, 7, 6, 3, 1)
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
(1, 3, 6, 8, 6, 3, 1)	$\left(1,3,6,8,6,3,1\right)$	(1, 3, 6, 9, 6, 3, 1)	$\left(1,3,6,10,6,3,1\right)$

Figure 3.3: The 16 Betti tables of the resolution of T/F^{\perp}

Case $b_{1,2} = 1$:

Since $b_{1,2} = 1$, $b_{2,3} = 0$, indeed there are no syzygies between the quadratic forms when there are just one quadratic generator in F^{\perp} . The number of quartic generators of the ideal is $b_{1,4} = 15 - 5 - 6 \cdot 1 - 3b_{1,3} + b_{2,4} = 4 - 3b_{1,3} + b_{2,4}$. The shape of the Betti table in this case is:

0:	1	-	-	-
1:	-	1	0	-
2:	-	$b_{1,3}$	$b_{2,4}$	-
3:	-	$4 - 3b_{1,3} + b_{2,4}$	$4 - 3b_{1,3} + b_{2,4}$	-
4:	-	$b_{2,4}$	$b_{1,3}$	-
5:	-	0	1	-
6:	-	-	-	1

When $b_{1,3} = 0$, $b_{2,4} = 0$ by Lemma 3.0.2. We have the Betti table in Figure 3.3 and it corresponds to the Hilbert function (1, 3, 5, 7, 5, 3, 1). For $b_{1,3} = 1$ we get that $b_{2,4} \in \{0, 1\}$ and we have the Betti tables in Figure 3.3. They correspond to the Hilbert function (1, 3, 5, 6, 5, 3, 1). When $b_{1,3} = 2$, Lemma 3.0.2 gives that $b_{2,4} \leq 2$. Only $b_{2,4} = 2$ is realizable, indeed $b_{1,4} = 4 - 3 \cdot 2 + b_{2,4} = b_{2,4} - 2$. We have this Betti table in Figure 3.3 and it corresponds to the Hilbert function (1, 3, 5, 5, 5, 3, 1).

The cases $b_{1,3} \ge 3$ are not realizable. Lemma 3.0.2 gives that $b_{2,4} \le b_{1,3}$ and $b_{1,4} = 4 - 3b_{1,3} + b_{2,4} \le 4 - 2b_{1,3}$ is negative when $b_{1,3} \ge 3$.

Case $b_{1,2} = 2$: The only possible values for $b_{2,3}$ is 0 and 1. Indeed, assume for contradiction that $b_{2,3} = 2$. Then we have that

$$p_0 x_0 = p_1 x_1, \tag{3.2}$$

$$p_0 x_0' = p_1 x_1', (3.3)$$

where the p_i s are quadratic generators of the ideal and x_i, x'_i are linear forms where no two are equal. Since T is a unique factorization domain and $x_0 \neq x_1$, $p_0 = x_1 x''_0$ and $p_1 = x_0 x''_1$. In the same way we get that $p_0 = x'_1 x''_0$ and $p_1 = x'_0 x''_1$, where all x^p_i are linear forms. Substituting this into Equation (3.3), we get that

$$x_1 x_0'' x_0' = x_0' x_1''' x_1',$$

and $x_0'' = x_1'''$. Denote x_0'' and x_1''' by x. Then we get that

$$x_1 x x_0 = x_0' x x_1,$$

where we have substituted $p_0 = x_1 x$ and $p_1 = x'_0 x$ into Equation (3.2). This gives that $x_0 = x'_0$, a contradiction. In summary, we have $b_{2,3} = \{0, 1\}$ and work through each case.

Subcase $b_{2,3} = 0$:

The number of cubic generators in F^{\perp} is $b_{1,3} = 10 - 2 \cdot 3 - h_3 = 4 - h_3$ and the number of quartic generators is $b_{1,4} = 15 - 4 - 6 \cdot 2 - 3b_{1,3} + b_{2,4} = b_{2,4} - 3b_{1,3} - 1$. We have the following shape of the Betti table of this case:

0:	1	-	-	-
1:	-	2	0	-
2:	-	$4 - h_3$	$b_{2,4}$	-
3:	-	$b_{2,4} - 3b_{1,3} - 1$	$b_{2,4} - 3b_{1,3} - 1$	-
4:	-	$b_{2,4}$	$4 - h_3$	-
5:	-	0	2	-
6:	-	-	-	1

We see that $h_3 \leq 4$. If we let $h_3 = 4$, we get $b_{1,3} = 0$ and, by Lemma 3.0.2, $b_{2,4} \in \{0, 1\}$. We also get that $b_{1,4} = b_{2,4} - 1 - 3 \cdot 0 = b_{2,4} - 1$, so $b_{1,2} = 1$. We have the Betti table in Figure 3.3 and the corresponding Hilbert function is (1, 3, 4, 4, 4, 3, 1).

The cases $h_3 \leq 3$ are not realizable. Indeed, we get $b_{1,3} = 4 - h_3$ and $b_{2,4} < 6 - h_3$. Then $b_{1,4} = b_{2,4} - 1 - 3b_{1,3} < 2h_3 - 7$, which is negative for $h_3 \leq 3$.

Subcase $b_{2,3} = 1$:

The number of cubic generators in the ideal is $b_{1,3} = 10 - 2 \cdot 3 - h_3 + 1 = 5 - h_3$ and the number of quartic generators is $b_{1,4} = 15 - 4 - 6 \cdot 2 - 3b_{1,3} + b_{2,4} + 3 \cdot 1 = b_{2,4} - 3b_{1,3} + 2$. In this case we have the following shape of the Betti table:

0:	1	-	-	-
1:	-	2	1	-
2:	-	$5 - h_3$	$b_{2,4}$	-
3:	-	$b_{2,4} - 3b_{1,3} + 2$	$b_{2,4} - 3b_{1,3} + 2$	-
4:	-	$b_{2,4}$	$5 - h_3$	-
5:	-	1	2	-
6:	-	-	-	1

We see that $h_3 \leq 5$. If we let $h_3 = 5$ we get that $b_{1,3} = 0$ and $b_{2,4} = 0$ by Lemma 3.0.2. We have the Betti table in Figure 3.3 and the corresponding Hilbert function is (1, 3, 4, 5, 4, 3, 1). When $h_3 = 4$, $b_{1,3} = 1$. From Lemma 3.0.2, we get that $b_{2,4} \leq 1$. We also have that $b_{1,4} = b_{2,4} + 2 - 3 \cdot 1 = b_{2,4} - 1$, so $b_{2,4} = 1$. We have this Betti table in Figure 3.3 which corresponds to the Hilbert function (1, 3, 4, 4, 4, 3, 1).

The cases $h_3 \leq 3$ are not realizable. Indeed, we get that $b_{1,3} = 5 - h_3$ and $b_{2,4} < 6 - h_3$. Then $b_{1,4} = b_{2,4} + 2 - 3b_{1,3} < 2h_3 - 10$ which is negative for $h_3 \leq 3$.

Case $b_{1,2} = 3$:

We get that $b_{2,3} \leq 3$ because there cannot be more that three linearly independent linear syzygies when we work with three variables. We will show that $b_{2,3} \neq 3$. Indeed, if $b_{2,3} = 3$ we have three linear syzygies between three quadratic forms and get the following equations:

$$a_1q_1 + a_2q_2 + a_3q_3 = 0,$$

$$b_1q_1 + b_2q_2 + b_3q_3 = 0,$$

$$c_1q_1 + c_2q_2 + c_3q_3 = 0,$$

where a_i, b_i, c_i are linear forms and q_i are quadratic forms. This system can be written in matrix form,

$$\begin{pmatrix} a_1 & a_2 & a_3 \\ b_1 & b_2 & b_3 \\ c_1 & c_2 & c_3 \end{pmatrix} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} q_1 \\ q_2 \\ q_3 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

For this matrix equation to have a non-trivial solution, the (3×3) matrix must have determinant equal to zero, i.e. there must be a linear relation between the rows. This linear relation is linear secondary syzygy between the quadratic forms, and can be found in the Betti table as $b_{3,4} = 1$, but $b_{3,4} = 0$ in our case, so we have contradiction. The only possible values for $b_{2,3}$ is 0, 1 and 2. We go through each case.

Subcase $b_{2,3} = 0$:

The number of cubic generators in the ideal is $b_{1,3} = 10 - 3 \cdot 3 - h_3 = 1 - h_3$ and the number of quartic generators is $b_{1,4} = 15 - 3 - 6 \cdot 3 - 3b_{1,3} + b_{2,4} = b_{2,4} - 3b_{1,3} - 6$. In this case the Betti table has the following shape:

0:	1	-	-	
1:	-	3	0	-
2:	-	$1 - h_3$	$b_{2,4}$	-
3:	-	$b_{2,4} - 3b_{1,3} - 6$	$b_{2,4} - 3b_{1,3} - 6$	-
4:	-	$b_{2,4}$	$1 - h_3$	-
5:	-	0	3	-
6:	-	-	-	1

We get that $h_3 \leq 1$ and, by Lemma 3.0.2, $b_{2,4} < 4 - h_3$. Then $b_{1,4} = b_{2,4} - 3b_{1,3} - 6 < 2h_3 - 5$ which is negative for $h_3 \leq 1$. There are no Betti table for $b_{2,3} = 0$.

Subcase $b_{2,3} = 1$:

The number of cubic generators in the ideal is $b_{1,3} = 10 - 3 \cdot 3 - h_3 + 1 = 2 - h_3$ and the number of quartic generators is $b_{1,4} = 15 - 3 - 6 \cdot 3 - 3b_{1,3} + b_{2,4} + 3 \cdot 1 = b_{2,4} - 3b_{1,3} - 3$. In this case the Betti table has the following shape:

0:	1	-	-	-
1:	-	3	1	-
2:	-	$2 - h_3$	$b_{2,4}$	-
3:	-	$b_{2,4} - 3b_{1,3} - 3$	$b_{2,4} - 3b_{1,3} - 3$	-
4:	-	$b_{2,4}$	$2 - h_3$	-
5:	-	1	3	-
6:	-	-	-	1

We get that $h_3 \leq 2$ and, by Lemma 3.0.2, $b_{2,4} < 4 - h_3$. Then $b_{1,4} = b_{2,4} - 3b_{1,3} - 3 < 2h_3 - 5$ which is negative for $h_3 \leq 2$. There are no Betti table for $b_{2,3} = 1$.

Subcase $b_{2,3} = 2$:

The number of cubic generators in the ideal is $b_{1,3} = 10 - 3 \cdot 3 - h_3 + 2 = 3 - h_3$ and the number of quartic generators is $b_{1,4} = 15 - 3 - 6 \cdot 3 - 3b_{1,3} + b_{2,4} + 3 \cdot 2 = b_{2,4} - 3b_{1,3}$. In this case the Betti table has the following shape:

0:	1	-	-	-
1:	-	3	2	-
2:	-	$3 - h_3$	$b_{2,4}$	-
3:	-	$b_{2,4} - 3b_{1,3}$	$b_{2,4} - 3b_{1,3}$	-
4:	-	$b_{2,4}$	$3 - h_3$	-
5:	-	2	3	-
6:	-	-	-	1

We see that $h_3 \leq 3$. Let $h_3 = 3$. Then $b_{1,3} = 0$ and $b_{2,4} = 0$ by Lemma 3.0.2. We have the Betti table in Figure 3.3 and the corresponding Hilbert function is (1, 3, 3, 3, 3, 3, 3, 1).

If we let $h_3 \leq 2$ we get, by Lemma 3.0.2, that $b_{2,4} \leq 4 - h_3$. Then $b_{1,4} = b_{2,4} - 3b_{1,3} < 2h_3 - 5$ which is negative for $h_3 \leq 2$.

Case $b_{1,2} = 4$:

We still have $b_{2,3} \leq 3$. The number of cubic forms in the ideal is $b_{1,3} = 10 - h_3 - 4 \cdot 3 + b_{2,3} = b_{2,3} - 2 - h_3$. We have $h_2 = 6 - b_{1,2} = 2$. From Lemma 3.0.3 we know that $h_3 \leq 2$ for the

sequence $(1, 3, 2, h_3, 2, 3, 1)$. If $h_3 = 2$ we get that $b_{1,3} = b_{2,3} - 4$, so we must have $b_{2,3} \ge 4$ for $b_{1,3}$ to be positive. Since $b_{2,3} \le 3$, this doesn't work. If $h_3 = 1$ we get $b_{1,3} = b_{2,3} - 3$. We check what happens when $b_{2,3} = 3$. The number of quartic generators is $15 - 2 - 6 \cdot 4 + 3 \cdot 3 + b_{2,4} = b_{2,4} - 2$, so $b_{2,4} \ge 2$. From Lemma 3.0.2 we get that $b_{2,4} = 0$. This doesn't work. The same happens for $h_3 = 0$. There are no Betti tables with $b_{1,2} = 4$.

Case $b_{1,2} = 5$:

We still have $b_{2,3} \leq 3$. The number of cubic generators in the ideal is $b_{1,3} = 10 - h_3 - 5 \cdot 3 + b_{2,3} = b_{2,3} - 5 - h_3$. We have $h_2 = 6 - b_{1,2} = 1$. From Lemma 3.0.3 we know that $h_3 \leq 1$ for the sequence $(1, 3, 1, h_3, 1, 3, 1)$. We get that $b_{1,3}$ is negative for $b_{2,3} \leq 3$ and $h_3 \leq 1$. There are no Betti tables with $b_{1,2} = 5$.

Case $b_{1,2} = 6$:

We still have $b_{2,3} \leq 3$. The number of cubic generators in the ideal is $b_{1,3} = 10 - h_3 - 6 \cdot 3 + b_{2,3} = b_{2,3} - 8 - h_3$. We have $h_2 = 6 - b_{1,2} = 0$. From Lemma 3.0.3 we know that $h_3 = 0$ for the sequence $(1, 3, 0, h_3, 0, 3, 1)$. We get that $b_{1,3}$ is negative for $b_{2,3} \leq 3$ and $h_3 = 0$. There are no Betti tables with $b_{1,2} = 6$.

4 | Grassmannians and Skew Symmetric Matrices

In this chapter we will use *Grassmannians* to find isotropic subspaces to some skew symmetric matrices. We will see in Chapter 5, that the isotropic subspaces correspond to finite schemes Γ such that $I_{\Gamma} \subset F^{\perp}$.

This chapter is organized as follows. First, in Section 4.1, we introduce the concept of Grassmannians. Then, in Section 4.2, we use the Grassmannian G(2, 4) to find 2-dimensional isotropic subspaces to a skew symmetric matrix of dimension 4. Then, in Section 4.3 we introduce the *Chow ring* of a Grassmannian and the *Chern classes* of vector bundles of a Grassmannian and explain how these concepts are related to isotropic subspaces of skew symmetric matrices. Finally, in Section 4.4, we use the Chern classes related to the Grassmannians G(3, 6) and G(4, 9) to find 3- and 4-dimensional isotropic subspaces to skew symmetric matrix of dimension 6 and 9, respectively.

4.1 Grassmannians

In projective space \mathbb{P}^n we have coordinates $(x_0 : \cdots : x_n)$, where $(x_0 : \cdots : x_n) = \lambda(x_0 : \cdots : x_n)$ for $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}^*$. A linear subspace of \mathbb{P}^n is defined as the set of points satisfying a set of linear equations. When these points satisfy n - d linear independent equations, we say that the linear space is *d*-dimensional. The set of all *d*-dimensional linear spaces in \mathbb{P}^n is called the *Grassmannian* of *d*-planes in *n*-space and denoted $\mathbb{G}(d, n)$. The set of (d + 1)-dimensional linear subspaces of a (n + 1)-dimensional vector space is equivalent to $\mathbb{G}(d, n)$ and is denoted $\mathbb{G}(d + 1, n + 1)$. We will also use the notation $\mathbb{G}(d + 1, V)$, where V is a given vector space.

We will now show that $\mathbb{G}(d, n)$ can be represented by a certain smooth subvariety of \mathbb{P}^N , where $N = \binom{n+1}{d+1} - 1$. Let *L* be a *d*-plane in \mathbb{P}^n and pick d+1 points $x_i = (x_{01} : \cdots : x_{ni})$ that span *L* and form the (d+1)(n+1) matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} x_{00} & \dots & x_{0n} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ x_{d0} & \dots & x_{dn} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Pick (d+1) integers j_0, \ldots, j_d , where $0 \leq j_0 < \cdots < j_d \leq n$, and let $p_{j_0\ldots j_d}$ be the $(d+1) \times (d+1)$ minor of the submatrix consisting of the j_i th columns for $i = 0, \ldots, d$. There are $\binom{n+1}{d+1}$ choices of picking the j_i s. Since the points x_i are assumed to span L, at least one of $p_{j_0\ldots j_d}$ has to be different from zero. In this way, the $p_{j_0\ldots j_d}$ defines a point $(\cdots : p_{j_0\ldots j_d} : \ldots)$ in \mathbb{P}^N , where we order the coordinates by lexicographic ordering. The $p_{j_0\ldots j_d}$ s are called the Plücker coordinates of L.

Example 4.1.1. Let d = 1 and n = 3. Then X = G(2, 4) is the Grassmannian of lines in \mathbb{P}^3 . Given a line L and two points $x = (x_0 : x_1 : x_2 : x_3)$ and $x' = (x'_0 : x'_1 : x'_2 : x'_3)$ on L, the Plücker coordinates of L is the 2×2 -minors of

$$\begin{pmatrix} x_0 & x_1 & x_2 & x_3 \\ x'_0 & x'_1 & x'_2 & x'_3 \end{pmatrix}$$

We get

$$p_{01} = x_0 x_1' - x_0' x_1 \qquad p_{12} = x_1 x_2' - x_1' x_2 p_{02} = x_0 x_2' - x_0' x_2 \qquad p_{13} = x_1 x_3' - x_1' x_3 p_{03} = x_0 x_3' - x_0' x_3 \qquad p_{23} = x_2 x_3' - x_2' x_3$$

By computation, we have the that Plücker coordinates of L satisfy the following relation:

$$p_{12}p_{34} - p_{13}p_{24} + p_{14}p_{23} = 0. (4.1)$$

We want to show that the points in G(2,4) are exactly the points in \mathbb{P}^5 that fulfill the relation in 4.1. Indeed, let $p = (p_{01} : p_{02} : p_{03} : p_{12} : p_{13} : p_{23}) \in \mathbb{P}^5$ be a point such that $p_{01}p_{23} - p_{02}p_{13} + p_{12}p_{03} = 0$. Since the p_{ij} s are projective coordinates, one of them has to be non-zero. Assume $p_{01} = 1$. We want to show that the p_{ij} s are Plücker coordinates of a line $L \in \mathbb{P}^3$, and we claim that L is the line spanned by $(1:0:-p_{12}:-p_{13})$ and $(0:1:p_{02}:p_{03})$. Indeed, the minors of

$$A = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & -p_{12} & -p_{13} \\ 0 & 1 & p_{02} & p_{03} \end{pmatrix}$$

gives that the Plücker coordinates of L is $(1 : p_{02} : p_{03} : p_{12} : p_{13} : -p_{12}p_{03} + p_{02}p_{13})$. Since $-p_{12}p_{03} + p_{02}p_{13} = p_{01}p_{23}$ and $p_{01} = 1$ by assumption, the Plücker coordinates can be written $(p_{01} : p_{02} : p_{03} : p_{12} : p_{13} : p_{23})$, thus the p_{ij} s are Plücker coordinates of L, which was what we wanted to show.

We will show that a similar relation as 4.1 between the Plücker coordinates of a *d*-plane in \mathbb{P}^n holds in general.

Proposition 4.1.2. Let $0 \le j_0 < \cdots < j_{d-1} \le n$ and $0 \le k_0 < \cdots < k_{d+1} \le n$ be two sequences of integers. Then

$$\sum_{\lambda=0}^{d+1} (-1)^{\lambda} p_{j_0\dots j_{d-1}k_{\lambda}} p_{k_0\dots k_{\lambda}^*\dots k_{d+1}} = 0,$$

where k_{λ}^* means that k_{λ} is not in the sequence k_0, \ldots, k_{d+1} .

Proof. First we write the relation we are going to prove in terms of determinants.

$$\sum_{\lambda=0}^{d+1} (-1)^{\lambda} \begin{vmatrix} x_{0,j_{0}} & \dots & x_{0,j_{d-1}} & x_{0,k_{\lambda}} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ x_{i,j_{0}} & \dots & x_{i,j_{d-1}} & x_{i,k_{\lambda}} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ x_{d,j_{0}} & \dots & x_{d,j_{d-1}} & x_{d,k_{\lambda}} \end{vmatrix} \begin{vmatrix} x_{0,k_{0}} & \dots & x_{0,k_{\lambda}}^{*} & \dots & x_{0,k_{d+1}} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ x_{i,k_{0}} & \dots & x_{i,k_{\lambda}}^{*} & \dots & x_{i,k_{d+1}} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ x_{d,k_{0}} & \dots & x_{d,k_{\lambda}}^{*} & \dots & x_{d,k_{d+1}} \end{vmatrix} = 0$$

We now expand the first determinants along the last column and get

$$\sum_{\lambda=0}^{d+1} (-1)^{\lambda} \left[\sum_{i=0}^{d} (-1)^{d+i} \begin{vmatrix} x_{0,j_0} & \dots & x_{0,j_d} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ x_{i,j_0}^* & \dots & x_{i,j_d}^* \end{vmatrix} x_{i,k_{\lambda}} \right] \begin{vmatrix} x_{0,k_0} & \dots & x_{0,k_{\lambda}}^* & \dots & x_{0,k_{d+1}} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ x_{i,k_0} & \dots & x_{i,k_{\lambda}}^* & \dots & x_{i,k_{d+1}} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ x_{d,k_0} & \dots & x_{d,k_{\lambda}}^* & \dots & x_{d,k_{d+1}} \end{vmatrix} = 0$$

We rearrange the terms and get the relation

$$\sum_{i=0}^{d} (-1)^{d+i} \begin{vmatrix} x_{0,j_0} & \dots & x_{0,j_d} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ x_{i,j_0}^* & \dots & x_{i,j_d}^* \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ x_{d,j_0} & \dots & x_{d,j_d} \end{vmatrix} \begin{vmatrix} d_{+1} \\ \sum_{\lambda=0}^{d} (-1)^{\lambda} x_{i,k_{\lambda}} \end{vmatrix} \begin{vmatrix} x_{0,k_0} & \dots & x_{0,k_{\lambda}}^* & \dots & x_{0,k_{d+1}} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ x_{i,k_0} & \dots & x_{i,k_{\lambda}}^* & \dots & x_{i,k_{d+1}} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ x_{d,k_0} & \dots & x_{d,k_{\lambda}}^* & \dots & x_{d,k_{d+1}} \end{vmatrix} \end{vmatrix} = 0$$

This relation is obtained from expanding the second determinant in the following relation along the first row.

$$\sum_{i=0}^{d} (-1)^{d+i} \begin{vmatrix} x_{0,j_0} & \dots & x_{0,j_d} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ x_{i,j_0}^* & \dots & x_{i,j_d}^* \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ x_{d,j_0} & \dots & x_{d,j_d} \end{vmatrix} \begin{vmatrix} x_{i,k_0} & \dots & x_{i,k_{\lambda}} & \dots & x_{i,k_{d+1}} \\ x_{0,k_0} & \dots & x_{0,k_{\lambda}} & \dots & x_{0,k_{d+1}} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ x_{i,k_0} & \dots & x_{i,k_{\lambda}} & \dots & x_{i,k_{d+1}} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ x_{d,k_0} & \dots & x_{d,k_{\lambda}} & \dots & x_{d,k_{d+1}} \end{vmatrix} = 0.$$

The second determinant is zero since two rows are equal, so we are done.

Conversely, every point in \mathbb{P}^N that fulfill the relation in Proposition 4.1.2 corresponds to a d-plane in \mathbb{P}^n , [KL72, Theorem 1]. We now show that $\mathbb{G}(d, n)$ is smooth. In the same way as we did in Example 4.1.1 we can assume that for at least one choice of j_0, \ldots, j_d we have $p_{j_0\ldots j_d} = 1$. To simplify computation, we assume that $p_{01\ldots d} = 1$. This means that the submatrix given by the columns $0, 1, \ldots, d$ is the (d+1)(d+1)-identity matrix. Every d-plane in \mathbb{P}^n that has $p_{01\ldots d} = 1$ can be represented by a matrix of the form

$\binom{1}{}$	0		0	$x_{0,d+1}$		x_{0n}	
0	1	0	÷	÷	÷	÷	
:	÷	·	÷	÷	:	÷	
$\left(0 \right)$			1	$x_{d,d+1}$		x_{dn}	

The set of all such matrices corresponds to an affine space of dimension (d+1)(n-d), [KL72, Proposition 2]. Since this holds for any choice of j_0, \ldots, j_d we have that $\mathbb{G}(d, n)$ represented as a subvariety of \mathbb{P}^N is covered by (N+1) copies of the affine space of dimension (d+1)(n-d). This shows that $\mathbb{G}(d, n)$ is a smooth variety of dimension (d+1)(n-d).

4.2 Skew Symmetric Matrices of Dimension 4

In this section we will prove a theorem about 2-dimensional isotropic subspaces of 4×4 skew symmetric matrices. First, we introduce some properties of a skew symmetric matrix and how such a matrix can be related to G(2, 4). Then we state and prove our the theorem in this section. Lastly, we discuss some geometric interpretation of our results.

Let A be an $n \times n$ skew symmetric matrix. Recall that the *pfaffian* of A, Pf(A) is the square root of the determinant of A, that is $(Pf(A))^2 = \det A$. If n is odd, then $\det A = 0$, by Lemma 2.3.1, thus Pf(A) = 0. When n is even, we get that Pf(A) is a polynomial in the entries of A. We observe that if n = 2r, then the pfaffian has degree r. A minor obtained from a submatrix where the indices of the rows and columns are the same, are called a *principal minor*. The even submatrices that form the principal minors of a skew symmetric matrix will again be skew symmetric and the principal minors will therefore also be the square of a pfaffian. By the order of a minor we mean the dimension of the corresponding submatrix.

Now, we give two lemmas about skew symmetric matrices that we will use to prove a correspondence between skew symmetric matrices of rank 2 ad points in G(2, n).

Lemma 4.2.1. [Hey69, Equation (3.42)-(3.45)] Let A be an $n \times n$ skew symmetric matrix. Then

- a minor of even order 2r is a quadratic form in pfaffians of order r, and
- a minor of odd order 2r 1 is a quadratic form in pfaffians of order r and r 1.

Lemma 4.2.2. Let A be an $n \times n$ skew symmetric matrix. If all the pfaffians of order r vanishes, then the matrix has rank at most 2r - 2.

Proof. Let A be $n \times n$ skew symmetric matrix and assume that all the pfaffians of order r vanishes. Then, by Lemma 4.2.1, the $2r \times 2r$ minors and the $(2r-1) \times (2r-1)$ minors vanishes. Since all the $(2r-1) \times (2r-1)$ minors vanishes, A has rank at most 2r-2.

The space of $n \times n$ skew symmetric matrices are in correspondence with the space of the Plücker coordinates of G(2, n). That is, a matrix can be identified with a point in \mathbb{P}^N , where $N = \binom{n}{2} = \frac{n(n-1)}{2}$. Indeed, counting the entries in the lower triangle of an $n \times n$ skew symmetric matrix gives $\sum_{i=1}^{n-1} i = \frac{(n-1)n}{2}$ entries. Further, we have that the subspace of the $n \times n$ skew symmetric matrices consisting of rank 2 matrices corresponds to points on G(2, n). We show this first for 4×4 skew symmetric matrices and then for a general n.

Lemma 4.2.3. The 4×4 skew symmetric matrices of rank 2 are in 1-1 correspondence with points in G(2, 4).

Proof. For the first implication, let L be a line in \mathbb{P}^3 and $P = (p_{01} : p_{02} : p_{03} : p_{12} : p_{13} : p_{23})$ the corresponding point in \mathbb{P}^5 . The Plücker coordinates fulfill the relation $p_{01}p_{23} - p_{02}p_{13} + p_{12}p_{03} = 0$. If we set

$$A = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & p_{01} & p_{02} & p_{03} \\ -p_{01} & 0 & p_{12} & p_{13} \\ -p_{02} & -p_{12} & 0 & p_{23} \\ -p_{03} & -p_{13} & -p_{23} & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

we get that

$$\det A = (p_{01}p_{23} - p_{02}p_{13} + p_{12}p_{03})^2$$

Since

$$p_{01}p_{23} - p_{02}p_{13} + p_{12}p_{03} = 0,$$

we have det A = 0. Since det A = 0, rank $A \le 3$, but since all the principle 3×3 minors are skew symmetric, they are zero by Lemma 2.3.1. Therefore, rank $A \le 2$. Since none of the 2×2 principle minors of A are zero, rank A = 2.

For the other implication, let $p = (p_{01} : p_{02} : p_{03} : p_{12} : p_{13} : p_{23}) \in \mathbb{P}^5$, and let A be the corresponding rank 2 skew symmetric matrix. This means that det A = 0, thus the entries fulfill the relation $p_{01}p_{23} - p_{02}p_{13} + p_{12}p_{03} = 0$. Since the p_{ij} s are projective coordinates, one of them has to be non zero. Assume $p_{01} = 1$. We want to show that the p_{ij} s are Plücker coordinates of a line $L \in \mathbb{P}^3$, and we claim that L is the line spanned by $(1:0:-p_{12}:-p_{13})$ and $(0:1:p_{02}:p_{03})$. Indeed, the minors of

$$A = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & -p_{12} & -p_{13} \\ 0 & 1 & p_{02} & p_{03} \end{pmatrix}$$

gives that the Plücker coordinates of L is $(1 : p_{02} : p_{03} : p_{12} : p_{13} : -p_{12}p_{03} + p_{02}p_{13})$. Since $-p_{12}p_{03} + p_{02}p_{13} = p_{01}p_{23}$ and $p_{01} = 1$, the Plücker coordinates can be written $(p_{01} : p_{02} : p_{03} : p_{12} : p_{13} : p_{23})$, thus the p_{ij} s are Plücker coordinates of L, which was what we wanted to show. Now, we show the correspondence for a general n. We have from Lemma 4.2.2 that if the all the pfaffians of order 2 of an $n \times n$ skew symmetric matrix vanishes, then the matrix has rank at most 2. On the other hand, if A has rank at most 2, then all the pfaffians of order 2 vanishes. Since the square of a pfaffian of order 2 is the determinant of a 4×4 skew symmetric submatrix of A, we will get a relation between the Plücker coordinates for each pfaffian of order 2. In summary, we will get the relations in Proposition 4.1.2. Thus an $n \times n$ skew symmetric matrix of rank 2 will indeed correspond to a point in G(2, n). Now, we introduce the notion of an isotropic subspace and prove a lemma that we will use in the proof of our theorem.

Definition 4.2.4. Let A be an $n \times n$ skew symmetric matrix. An *isotropic* subspace to A is a subspace of \mathbb{C}^n , such that for every $u, v \in U$ we have $uAv^T = 0$. If V is a space of $n \times n$ skew symmetric matrices and U is isotropic to every matrix in V, we say that U is an isotropic subspace to V.

Lemma 4.2.5. Let A be a 4×4 skew symmetric matrix and H_A be the set of all 2-dimensional isotropic subspaces to A. Then H_A defines a hyperplane in \mathbb{P}^5 that intersects G(2, 4).

Proof. First we prove that given an $U \in H_A$, then U corresponds to a point in \mathbb{P}^5 that lies on a hyperplane that intersects G(2, 4). Let $u = (u_0, u_1, u_2, u_3)$ and $v = (v_0, v_1, v_2, v_3)$, where $u, v \in U$. Let

$$A = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & a_{01} & a_{02} & a_{03} \\ -a_{01} & 0 & a_{12} & a_{13} \\ -a_{02} & -a_{12} & 0 & a_{23} \\ -a_{03} & -a_{13} & -a_{23} & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

We get that

 $uAv^{T} = a_{01}p_{01} + a_{02}p_{02} + a_{03}p_{03} + a_{12}p_{12} + a_{13}p_{13} + a_{23}p_{23},$ (4.2)

where p_{ij} are the Plücker coordinates of the line through u and v when considered as points in \mathbb{P}^3 . When $uAv^T = 0$, we get an equation in the Plücker coordinates, i.e. a hyperplane in \mathbb{P}^5 that intersects G(2, 4). We need to show that given $s, t \in U$, we get the same equation. Indeed, since U is 2-dimensional, s = au + bv and t = cu + dv. We get that

$$sAt^{T} = (au + bv)A(cu + dv)^{T},$$
$$= aduAv^{T} + bcvAu^{T},$$
$$= (ad - bc)uAv^{T},$$

where we have used the linearity and that $uAv^T = -vAu^T$. Thus, we get the same equation with different choices of representatives for U.

Now, we prove that given a point in \mathbb{P}^5 that satisfies Equation (4.2), we can find a corresponding $U \in H_A$. Let $p = (p_{01} : p_{02} : p_{03} : p_{12} : p_{13} : p_{23}) \in \mathbb{P}^5$ and assume that p satisfies Equation (4.2). Let A be the skew symmetric matrix with entries given by the a_{ij} s in Equation (4.2). Since the p_{ij} s are projective coordinates, one of them has to be non-zero. Assume $p_{01} = 1$. We want to show that $u = (1, 0, -p_{12}, -p_{13})$ and $v = (0, 1, p_{02}, p_{03})$ generates an U. From the proof of Lemma 4.2.9 we have that the Plücker coordinates of the line through u and v is given by the coefficients of p. We need to show that $uAv^T = 0$. Indeed, we get that

$$uAv^{T} = a_{01} + a_{02}p_{02} + a_{03}p_{03} + a_{12}p_{12} + a_{13}p_{13} + a_{23}(p_{02}p_{13} - p_{03}p_{12})$$

= $a_{01} + a_{02}p_{02} + a_{03}p_{03} + a_{12}p_{12} + a_{13}p_{13} + a_{23}p_{01}p_{23}$
= 0,

where we have used that $p_{01} = 1$, that the Plücker coordinates satisfies the relation $p_{01}p_{23} = p_{02}p_{13} - p_{03}p_{12}$, and the we assumed that Equation (4.2) was satisfied.

We are now ready to state and prove the theorem of this section.

Theorem 4.2.6. Let W be a 3-dimensional vector space of 4×4 skew symmetric matrices. Then there exists a conic of 2-dimensional isotropic subspaces to W.

Proof. We want to prove that there is a common 2-dimensional isotropic subspace for a basis of matrices in W. Let A_{H_1}, A_{H_2} and A_{H_3} be such a basis and let H_1 , H_2 and H_3 be the corresponding hypersurfaces in \mathbb{P}^5 we get from Lemma 4.2.5. The basis matrices A_{H_1}, A_{H_2} and A_{H_3} has a common isotropic subspace if the intersection

$$G(2,4) \cap H_1 \cap H_2 \cap H_3$$

is non-empty, which is the case. Indeed, G(2, 4) is a 4-dimensional quadric, and the intersection with each H_i reduces the dimension by 1. We get that we have a conic of common 2-dimensional isotropic subspaces for V.

When we have an isotropic subspace of a 4×4 skew symmetric matrix, we can choose a row basis such that $a_{23} = 0$. We prove this in the following lemma.

Lemma 4.2.7. Let W be a vector space of 4×4 skew symmetric matrices and let U be an isotropic subspace for W. Then we can choose a row basis for W such that $a_{23} = 0$ for all matrices in W.

Proof. Let the row basis be such that for $u, v \in U$ we have u = (0, 0, 1, 0) and v = (0, 0, 0, 1). Then the Plücker coordinates of L through u and v are zero for $i \neq 2, j \neq 3$, and $p_{23} = 1$. If $uAv^T = 0$, then $a_{23} = 0$, by Equation (4.2).

4.2.1 Geometric Interpretation

We will now use the correspondence between 4×4 skew symmetric matrices of rank 2 and lines in \mathbb{P}^3 to get a geometric interpretation of 2-dimensional isotropic subspaces to a vector space of 4×4 skew symmetric matrices.

Lemma 4.2.8. Let W be a general 3-dimensional vector space of 4×4 skew symmetric matrices. Then there is a basis for W given by rank 2 matrices.

Proof. Since W is a 3-dimensional vector space, W is spanned by three points in \mathbb{P}^5 , by Lemma 4.2.3, which forms a $\mathbb{P}^2 \subset \mathbb{P}^5$. Let W' be the space of 4×4 skew symmetric matrices of rank 2. If $W \subset W'$ the lemma is obviously true. Assume $W \not\subset W'$. As shown in Lemma 4.2.9, the entries of a matrix $A \in W'$ satisfies the Plücker relation

$$p_{01}p_{23} - p_{02}p_{13} + p_{12}p_{03} = 0,$$

so the points in \mathbb{P}^5 that corresponds to a matrix of rank 2 lies on the quadric $G(2,4) \subset \mathbb{P}^5$. The skew symmetric matrices of rank 2 in W lies in the intersection of G(2,4) and \mathbb{P}^2 , which is a conic or two lines when W is general. Since three points on a conic or two lines span a \mathbb{P}^2 , we can choose a basis for W given by three rank 2 matrices.

When W is not general, the intersection between G(2, 4) and \mathbb{P}^2 in the proof of Lemma 4.2.8 might be a double line. Then we will not get a basis of rank 2 matrices.

Now, we can show that for a general W, the problem of finding an isotropic subspace to W is equivalent to finding a line that intersect the three lines i \mathbb{P}^3 that corresponds to three basis matrices for W of rank 2. We state a lemma that we will use to describe this equivalence.

Lemma 4.2.9. Two lines in \mathbb{P}^3 intersect if and only if

$$p_{01}q_{23} - p_{02}q_{13} + p_{03}q_{12} + p_{12}q_{03} - p_{13}q_{02} + p_{23}q_{01} = 0, (4.3)$$

where p_{ij}, q_{ij} are the Plücker coordinates of the two lines.

Proof. Assume $L_1, L_2 \in \mathbb{P}^3$ and $x_1, x'_1 \in L_1$ and $x_2, x'_2 \in L_2$. Considering the points as vectors in \mathbb{C}^4 , they span a plane if and only if the lines intersect. Then the two lines intersect if and only if the determinant of the following matrix is zero:

$$\begin{pmatrix} x_{10} & x_{11} & x_{12} & x_{13} \\ x'_{10} & x'_{11} & x'_{12} & x'_{13} \\ x_{20} & x_{21} & x_{22} & x_{23} \\ x'_{20} & x'_{21} & x'_{22} & x'_{23} \end{pmatrix}$$

where the rows are the coordinates of x_1, x'_1, x_2, x'_2 . The determinant in terms of the Plücker coordinates p_{ij} of L_1 and q_{ij} of L_2 is $p_{01}q_{23} - p_{02}q_{13} + p_{03}q_{12} + p_{12}q_{03} - p_{13}q_{02} + p_{23}q_{01}$.

From the lemma we get that when A is of rank 2, the points in hyperplane of 2-dimensional isotropic subspaces from Lemma 4.2.5 corresponds to lines intersecting the line corresponding to A. Indeed, let

$$A = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & q_{01} & q_{02} & q_{03} \\ -q_{01} & 0 & q_{12} & q_{13} \\ -q_{02} & -q_{12} & 0 & q_{23} \\ -q_{03} & -q_{13} & -q_{23} & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

We have from Lemma 4.2.5 that H_A consists of the points $p \in \mathbb{P}^5$ such that

$$q_{01}p_{01} + q_{02}p_{02} + q_{03}p_{03} + q_{12}p_{12} + q_{13}p_{13} + q_{23}p_{23} = 0$$

$$(4.4)$$

Let $p = (p_{01} : p_{02} : p_{03} : p_{12} : p_{13} : p_{23})$ be a point that satisfies 4.4. Let $r = (r_{01} : r_{02} : r_{03} : r_{12} : r_{13} : r_{23})$, where

$$\begin{aligned} r_{01} &= p_{23}, & r_{12} &= p_{03}, \\ r_{02} &= -p_{13}, & r_{13} &= -p_{02}, \\ r_{03} &= p_{12}, & r_{23} &= p_{01}. \end{aligned}$$

First, we have that r satisfies the Plücker relation. Indeed

$$r_{01}r_{23} - r_{02}r_{13} + r_{03}r_{12} = p_{23}p_{01} - (-p_{13})(-p_{02}) + p_{12}p_{03}$$

= $p_{01}p_{23} - p_{02}p_{13} + p_{03}p_{12}$
= 0.

Then, we have that r corresponds to a line that intersect the line that corresponds to A. Indeed,

$$r_{01}q_{23} - r_{02}q_{13} + r_{03}q_{12} + r_{12}q_{03} - r_{13}q_{02} + r_{23}q_{01} =$$

$$p_{23}q_{23} - (-p_{13})q_{13} + p_{12}q_{12} + p_{03}q_{03} - (-p_{02})q_{02} + p_{01}q_{01} =$$

$$q_{01}p_{01} + q_{02}p_{02} + q_{03}p_{03} + q_{12}p_{12} + q_{13}p_{13} + q_{23}p_{23} = 0.$$

This shows that a rank 2 matrix A has an isotropic subspace if and only there exits a line that intersect the corresponding line. To have a common isotropic subspace for three basis matrices then implies that there must exists a line that intersects all three lines.

Now, we show that there indeed exists a pencil of lines that intersects L_1, L_2 and L_3 . Indeed, given L_1, L_2 and L_3 , take any point p on L_1 and consider the plane spanned by p and L_2 . This plane will intersect L_3 . Let L be the line through p in this plane such that L intersect L_3 . Since we can choose any point on L_1 , there is a pencil of lines L that intersect the three lines.

The conic of 4×4 skew symmetric matrices of rank 2 and the conic of 2-dimensional isotropic subspaces are related. The points on each conic corresponds to the two families of lines on the quadric in \mathbb{P}^3 . We show this below, but first we need a lemma.



Figure 4.1: The points of each conic correspond to lines on the quadric in \mathbb{P}^3 .

Lemma 4.2.10. Let C_1 be a conic in $G(2,4) \subset \mathbb{P}^5$, $p_1, p_2 \in C_1$, and L_1 and L_2 the lines in \mathbb{P}^3 corresponding to p_1 and p_2 . Then $L_1 \cap L_2 = \emptyset$.

Proof. Assume for contradiction that $L_1 \cap L_2 \neq \emptyset$ and let $P \in \mathbb{P}^3$ be the intersection point. The lines through P that lie in the plane spanned by L_1 and L_2 corresponds to points on the line in G(2, 4) through p_1 and p_2 . Since C_1 does not contain the line through p_1 and p_2 , we have a contradiction.

Let $C_1 \in \mathbb{P}^5$ be the conic of skew symmetric matrices of rank 2 from the proof of Lemma 4.2.8. Let Q be the union of the lines in \mathbb{P}^3 that correspond to points on C_1 . Then Q is a surface in \mathbb{P}^3 . We want to show that the degree of Q is two. Indeed, let $L \in \mathbb{P}^3$ be a general line that intersects Q. We want to find the number of intersection points, i. e. the number of lines on Q that intersect L. From Lemma 4.2.9, we have that to lines intersect if and only if their Plücker coordinates satisfy Equation (4.3), i.e. the lines that intersect L correspond to points in a hyperplane in \mathbb{P}^5 . The number of lines on Q that intersect L is equal to the number of intersection points between the hyperplane and the conic in \mathbb{P}^5 , which is two.

Now, let C_2 be the conic that parameterize the lines intersecting every line parameterized by C_1 . By the same arguments as above, the union of the lines parameterized by C_2 is a degree two surface in \mathbb{P}^3 . We want to show that this is Q. Indeed, since no two lines parameterized by C_1 intersect, but are intersecting all the lines parameterized by C_2 , the two family of lines have to lie on the same surface. We get that Q has degree two and is the quadric in \mathbb{P}^3 where one family of lines corresponds to lines parameterized by C_1 and the other family corresponds to lines parameterized by C_2 , see Figure 4.1.

4.3 More on Grassmannians and Skew Symmetric Matrices

We will prove that there exists similar isotropic subspaces for skew symmetric matrices of dimension 6 and 9. In these dimensions, there are difficult to compute directly as we did for skew

symmetric matrices of dimension 4. We therefore need more theory about Grassmannians and skew symmetric matrices. First, in Section 4.3.1, we introduce the *Chow ring* of a Grassmannian and the *Schubert cycles*. Then, in Section 4.3.2, we introduce the *Chern classes* of some *vector bundles* on the Grassmannian. In Section 4.3.3, generalize the relation between isotropic subspaces and a Grassmannian. Lastly, in Section 4.3.4 we do computations on the Chern classes that we will use to prove our theorems in the last section of this chapter.

4.3.1 Chow Ring of a Grassmannian

In this section, we will describe the *Chow ring* of a Grassmannian, following [Ful98] and [Eis16]. We start with the general definition of the Chow ring. Let X be an algebraic variety of dimension n. A *k*-cycle is a finite formal sum

$$\sum_{Y_i} n_i Y_i,$$

where $n_i \in \mathbb{Z}$ and Y_i is a k-dimensional subvariety of X. The group of k-cycles of a variety X is denoted $Z_k(X)$ and the group of cycles on X is $Z(X) = \bigoplus Z_k(X)$. Two cycles Y_1 and Y_2 are rationally equivalent if there exists a cycle on $\mathbb{P}^1 \times X$ whose restrictions to two fibers $t_0 \times X$ and $t_1 \times X$ is Y_0 and Y_1 . The cycles that are rationally equivalent form a subgroup of $Z_k(X)$ denoted $\operatorname{Rat}_k(X)$, and we can form the quotient group $A_k(X) = Z_k(X)/\operatorname{Rat}_k(X)$ of k-cycles modulo rational equivalence. We call $A_*(X) = \bigoplus A_k(X)$ the Chow group of X. We denote the equivalence class of a subvariety $Y \subset X$ as $[Y] \in A_*(X)$.

For a smooth variety X there also exists a product on $A_*(X)$ which in special cases corresponds to taking the intersection of two subvarieties of X. Let $Y_1, Y_2 \subset X$ be subvarieties of a smooth variety X such that every irreducible component Z of the intersection $Y_1 \cap Y_2$ satisfies codim $Z = \operatorname{codim} Y_1 + \operatorname{codim} Y_2$. If Y_1 and Y_2 intersect transversely, then $[Y_1 \cap Y_2] = \sum [Z]$. Generally, for each such component Z there is a positive integer $m_Z(Y_1, Y_2)$ called the *intersection* multiplicity of Y_1 and Y_2 along Z, such that

$$[Y_1 \cap Y_2] = \sum m_Z(Y_1, Y_2)][Z].$$

Theorem 4.3.1. [Ful98, Proposition 8.1.1] Let X be a smooth variety of dimension n and let $Y_1, Y_2 \subset X$ be subvarieties of X. There is a unique product structure on $A_*(X)$, i.e. for $[Y_1] \in A_{n-k_1}(X)$ and $[Y_2] \in A_{n-k_2}(X)$, then $[Y_1][Y_2] \in A_{n-k_1-k_2}(X)$. If every irreducible component Z of the intersection $Y_1 \cap Y_2$ has codimension codim $Z = \operatorname{codim} Y_1 + \operatorname{codim} Y_2$, then

$$[Y_1][Y_2] = [Y_1 \cap Y_2].$$

The product makes $A_*(X)$ into an associative, commutative ring, called the Chow ring of X.

Now, we describe the Chow ring of a Grassmannian. First, we note that the Grassmannian is indeed a smooth variety as seen in Section 4.1. Let V be an (n + 1)-dimensional vector space. We will describe the Chow ring of the Grassmannian X = G(d + 1, V) by describing a special kind of subvarieties whose equivalence classes generate $A_*(X)$ under addition. Let $W \subset V$ be a (d + 1)-dimensional vector space, and let [W] be the corresponding point in X. Fix a *flag* $U_1 \subset \cdots \subset U_{n+1} = V$ of vector spaces, where dim $U_i = i$. Choose d + 1 integers i_j such that $0 \le i_0 \le \cdots \le i_d \le n - d$. We define

$$\omega(i_d, \dots, i_0) = \{ [W] \in X : \dim(W \cap U_{n+1-k-i_k}) \ge d+1-k \text{ for all } k \text{ such that } 0 \le k \le d \}.$$
(4.5)

The subset $\omega(i_d, \ldots, i_0)$ is a subvariety of G(d+1, V) by [KL72, Corollary 5], and we call it a Schubert cycle. The equivalence class $[\omega(i_d, \ldots, i_0)]$ depends solely on the choice of the i_j s and not on the choice of the flag U_i , [KL72, p. 1070]. We therefore denote the equivalence class $[\omega(i_d, \ldots, i_0)] = \Omega(i_d, \ldots, i_0) \in A_*(X)$. With addition as binary operation, $A_*(X)$ is a free abelian group and $\Omega(i_d, \ldots, i_0)$ form a basis, [KL72, p. 1071]. The element $\Omega(i_d, \ldots, i_0)$ is called a *Schubert class*.

For X = G(2,4), we fix a flag $U_1 \subset U_2 \subset U_3 \subset U_4 = V$ and let W be a 2-dimensional subspace of V. Then, the Schubert cycles are

$$\omega(i_1, i_0) = \{ [W] \in X : \dim(W \cap U_{4-i_0}) \ge 2, \dim(W \cap U_{3-i_1}) \ge 1 \},\$$

where $0 \le i_0 \le i_1 \le 2$. We describe the Schubert cycles of G(2, 4) in more detail.

Example 4.3.2. Let X = G(2, 4), W be a 2-dimensional vector space and fix a flag $U_1 \subset U_2 \subset U_3 \subset U_4$. The Schubert cycles in G(2, 4) correspond to the following sets:

 $\omega(0,0) = \{ [W] \in X : \dim(W \cap U_4) \ge 2, \dim(W \cap U_3) \ge 1 \} \\
\omega(1,0) = \{ [W] \in X : \dim(W \cap U_4) \ge 2, \dim(W \cap U_2) \ge 1 \} \\
\omega(1,1) = \{ [W] \in X : \dim(W \cap U_3) \ge 2, \dim(W \cap U_2) \ge 1 \} \\
\omega(2,0) = \{ [W] \in X : \dim(W \cap U_4) \ge 2, \dim(W \cap U_1) \ge 1 \} \\
\omega(2,1) = \{ [W] \in X : \dim(W \cap U_3) \ge 2, \dim(W \cap U_1) \ge 1 \} \\
\omega(2,2) = \{ [W] \in X : \dim(W \cap U_2) \ge 2, \dim(W \cap U_1) \ge 1 \}$

First, we describe the lines in \mathbb{P}^3 that fulfill the conditions in each Schubert cycle and then we describe the corresponding Schubert class. We note that $\mathbb{P}(U_i)$ is isomorphic to \mathbb{P}^{i-1} , so projectively we have the fixed flag $p \subset \mathbb{P}^1 \subset \mathbb{P}^2 \subset \mathbb{P}^3$.

$$\omega(0,0) = \{ [W] \in X : l_W \text{ intersects } \mathbb{P}^2 \text{ and is contained in } \mathbb{P}^3 \}$$
$$= \{ [W] \in X \},$$

since both conditions are satisfied for all lines in \mathbb{P}^3 . This shows that $\Omega(0,0)$ is the equivalence class of X.

$$\omega(1,0) = \{ [W] \in X : l_W \text{ intersects } \mathbb{P}^1 \text{ and is contained in } \mathbb{P}^3 \}$$
$$= \{ [W] \in X : l_W \text{ intersects } \mathbb{P}^1 \},$$

since the second condition is satisfied for all lines in \mathbb{P}^3 . The set of lines intersecting a line l in \mathbb{P}^3 corresponds to a hyperplane in $X \in \mathbb{P}^5$. Indeed, let p_{ij} be the Plücker coordinates of l. By Lemma 4.2.9, we have that a line l' intersects l if and only if

$$p_{01}q_{23} - p_{02}q_{13} + p_{03}q_{12} + p_{12}q_{03} - p_{13}q_{02} + p_{23}q_{01} = 0, (4.6)$$

where q_{ij} are the Plücker coordinates of l'. The set of points in X satisfying 4.6 is a hyperplane. This shows that $\Omega(1,0)$ is the equivalence class of a hyperplane.

$$\omega(1,1) = \{ [W] \in X : l_W \text{ intersects } \mathbb{P}^1 \text{ and is contained in } \mathbb{P}^2 \}$$
$$= \{ [W] \in X : l_W \text{ is contained in } \mathbb{P}^2 \},$$

since two lines in \mathbb{P}^2 always intersect. The set of lines contained in a \mathbb{P}^2 corresponds to a plane in $X \in \mathbb{P}^5$. Indeed, a line in \mathbb{P}^2 is determined by two points in \mathbb{P}^2 up to scalar multiplication, thus the dimension of the parameter space of lines in a \mathbb{P}^2 is 2+2-1-1=2. This plane is called an α -plane. This shows that $\Omega(2,0)$ is the equivalence class of an α -plane.

$$\omega(2,0) = \{ [W] \in X : l_W \text{ intersects } p \text{ and is contained in } \mathbb{P}^3 \}$$
$= \{ [W] \in X : l_W \text{ intersects } p \},\$

since the second condition is satisfied for all lines in \mathbb{P}^3 . The set of lines through a point in \mathbb{P}^3 is a plane in $X \in \mathbb{P}^5$. Indeed, a line through a point p is determined by p and another point in \mathbb{P}^3 up to scalar multiplication, thus the dimension of the parameter space of lines through $p \in \mathbb{P}^3$ is 3-1=2. We call this plane a β -plane. This shows that $\Omega(2,0)$ is the equivalence class of a β -plane. Later, we will show that an α -plane and a β -plane does not intersect.

$$\omega(2,1) = \{ [W] \in X : l_W \text{ intersects } p \text{ and is contained in } \mathbb{P}^2 \}.$$

The set of lines that intersects a point p in a \mathbb{P}^2 is a line in $X \in \mathbb{P}^5$. Indeed, a line through a point in a \mathbb{P}^2 is determined by p and another point in \mathbb{P}^2 up to scalar multiplication, thus the dimension of the parameter space is 2 - 1 = 1. This shows that $\Omega(2, 1)$ is the equivalence class of a line.

$$\omega(2,2) = \{ [W] \in X : l_W \text{ intersects } p \text{ and is contained in } \mathbb{P}^1 \}$$
$$= \{ [W] \in X : l_W = \mathbb{P}^1 \},$$

because \mathbb{P}^1 is the only line containing \mathbb{P}^1 . This shows that $\Omega(2,2)$ is the equivalence class of a point.

The example shows that $\operatorname{codim} \omega(i_1, i_0) = i_1 + i_0$. This equality holds in general for a Grassmannian G(n + 1, d + 1). That is $\operatorname{codim} \omega(i_d, \ldots, i_0) = i_d + \cdots + i_0$, [KL72, p. 1071]. We prove the results for G(2, 4) in another way. The proof can be generalized to a general Grassmannian.

Lemma 4.3.3. Let X = G(2, 4). Then $\operatorname{codim} \omega(i_1, i_0) = i_1 + i_0$.

Proof. We will prove the lemma in two parts. First, we construct subvariaties S_{i_1,i_0} of X where codim $S(i_1,i_0) = i_1 + i_0$. Then, we prove that S_{i_1,i_0} is an open subset of $\omega(i_1,i_0)$. Thereafter, we show that $\overline{S_{i_1,i_0}} = \omega(i_1,i_0)$, which gives that codim $\omega(i_1,i_0) = \operatorname{codim} S_{i_1,i_0} = i_1 + i_0$.

Let S_{i_1,i_0} be the subvariety of X given by the minors of the 2×4 matrix A_{i_1,i_0} constructed in the following way. Let $a_d = i_d + d$ for d = 0, 1. The a_d th column of A_{i_1,i_0} is a pivot column with the pivot element in the (1 - d)th row. The two remaining columns, denoted the c_1 th and the c_2 th columns, have entries in \mathbb{C} , except when $c_j < a_d$ for some d. Then the dth entry of c_j is zero. We denote variable elements by * and get the following matrices.

$$A_{0,0} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & * & * \\ 0 & 1 & * & * \end{pmatrix}, \qquad A_{2,0} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & * & * & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix},$$
$$A_{1,0} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & * & 0 & * \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & * \end{pmatrix}, \qquad A_{2,1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & * & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix},$$
$$A_{1,1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & * \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & * \end{pmatrix}, \qquad A_{2,2} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

The minors of A_{i_1,i_0} is indeed a subvariety of X by construction. Furthermore, we have $S_{i_1,i_0} \simeq \mathbb{A}^{i_1+i_0}$. We show that S_{i_1,i_0} is an open subset of a Schubert cycle $\omega(i_1,i_0)$. Fix the variables in A_{i_1,i_0} and let U_{i_1,i_0} be the corresponding point in X. Let V be a vector space with the basis given by

$$e_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\0\\0\\1 \end{pmatrix}, e_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\0\\1\\0 \end{pmatrix}, e_3 = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\1\\0\\0 \end{pmatrix}, e_4 = \begin{pmatrix} 1\\0\\0\\0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Let $U_i = \text{Span}(e_1, \ldots, e_i)$ and consider the flag $U_1 \subset U_2 \subset U_3 \subset U_4 = V$. We will show that $\dim(U_{i_1,i_0} \cap U_{4-i_0}) \geq 2$ and $\dim(U_{i_1,i_0} \cap U_{3-i_1}) \geq 1$. Indeed, by construction, U_{i_1,i_0} is contained in U_{4-i_0} , since the first row of A_{i_1,i_0} has a pivot element in the i_0 th column. In the same way, U_{i_1,i_0} intersects U_{3-i_1} in a 1-dimensional subspace, since the second row of A_{i_1,i_0} has a pivot element in the $(i_1 + 1)$ th column. This shows that S_{i_1,i_0} satisfies the conditions for the Schubert cycle $\omega(i_1, i_0)$, which gives that $S_{i_1,i_0} \subset \omega(i_1, i_0)$. For each S_{i_1,i_0} , the Plücker coordinate $p_{a_0a_1} = 1$. Indeed, the 2×2 -minor obtained from the a_0 th and a_1 th column is 1. This gives that S_{i_1,i_0} is an affine open subset of $\omega(i_1, i_0)$, thus $\overline{S_{i_1,i_0}} = \omega(i_1, i_0)$.

In the following, we show some of the intersection products between Schubert cycles. In order to compute the intersection we need two flags. Let \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{G} be two flags. We say that \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{G} are generally transversely if each component of the flags intersect in *intersect transversely*. This means that either codim $Z_{\mathcal{F}} \cap \operatorname{codim} Z_{\mathcal{G}} = \operatorname{codim} Z_{\mathcal{F}} + \operatorname{codim} Z_{\mathcal{G}} - n$ or $Z_{\mathcal{F}} \cap Z_{\mathcal{G}} = \emptyset$, where $Z_{\mathcal{F}}$ and $Z_{\mathcal{G}}$ are subsets of the flags \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{G} , respectively.

Proposition 4.3.4.

$$\Omega(1,1) \cap \Omega(1,1) = \Omega(2,2) \tag{4.7}$$

$$\Omega(2,0) \cap \Omega(2,0) = \Omega(2,2)$$
(4.8)

$$\Omega(2,1) \cap \Omega(1,0) = \Omega(2,2) \tag{4.9}$$

Proof. Let \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{G} be two general flags, that is $p_{\mathcal{F}} \subset \mathbb{P}^1_{\mathcal{F}} \subset \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathcal{F}} \subset \mathbb{P}^3$ and $p_{\mathcal{G}} \subset \mathbb{P}^1_{\mathcal{G}} \subset \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathcal{G}} \subset \mathbb{P}^3$.

4.7 The points in $\omega_F(1,1) \cap \omega_{\mathcal{G}}(1,1)$ are the points corresponding to the lines in \mathbb{P}^3 that are contained in $\mathbb{P}^2_{\mathcal{F}}$ and $\mathbb{P}^2_{\mathcal{G}}$. There is only one line satisfying this, that is the line in the intersection.

4.8 The points in $\omega_{\mathcal{F}}(2,0) \cap \omega_{\mathcal{G}}(2,0)$ are the points corresponding to the lines in \mathbb{P}^3 that intersects $p_{\mathcal{F}}$ and $p_{\mathcal{G}}$. There is only one such line, that is the unique line through the points.

4.9 The points in $\omega_{\mathcal{F}}(2,1) \cap \omega_{\mathcal{G}}(1,0)$ are the points corresponding to the lines i \mathbb{P}^3 that intersect $p_{\mathcal{F}} \subset \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathcal{F}}$ and $\mathbb{P}^1_{\mathcal{G}}$. There is only one such line. Indeed, $\mathbb{P}^2_{\mathcal{F}}$ and $\mathbb{P}^1_{\mathcal{G}}$ intersect in a point p, and the line through p and $p_{\mathcal{F}}$ satisfies the conditions.

The three cases are summarized in the following figure.



Proposition 4.3.5.

 $\Omega(2,0) \cap \Omega(1,0) = \Omega(2,1) \tag{4.10}$

- $\Omega(1,1) \cap \Omega(1,0) = \Omega(2,1)$ (4.11)
- $\Omega(1,1) \cap \Omega(2,0) = \emptyset \tag{4.12}$

Proof. Let \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{G} be two general flags, that is $p_{\mathcal{F}} \subset \mathbb{P}^1_{\mathcal{F}} \subset \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathcal{F}} \subset \mathbb{P}^3$ and $p_{\mathcal{G}} \subset \mathbb{P}^1_{\mathcal{G}} \subset \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathcal{G}} \subset \mathbb{P}^3$.

4.10 The points in $\omega_{\mathcal{F}}(2,0) \cap \omega_{\mathcal{G}}(1,0)$ are the points corresponding to the lines that intersect $p_{\mathcal{F}}$ and $\mathbb{P}^2_{\mathcal{G}}$. The lines intersecting $p_{\mathcal{F}}$ correspond to a β -plane $\mathcal{P}_{\mathbb{P}^1_{\mathcal{F}}} \subset X$ and the lines that intersect $\mathbb{P}^2_{\mathcal{G}}$ correspond to a hyperplane $\mathcal{H}_{\mathbb{P}^2_{\mathcal{G}}} \subset X$. Since $X \subset \mathbb{P}^5$, $\mathcal{P}_{\mathbb{P}^1_{\mathcal{F}}}$ and $\mathcal{H}_{\mathbb{P}^2_{\mathcal{G}}}$ intersect in a line \mathcal{L} . Since $\Omega(2,1)$ is the equivalence class of a line, we are done.

4.11 The points in $\omega_{\mathcal{F}}(1,1) \cap \omega_{\mathcal{G}}(1,0)$ are the points corresponding to the lines that are contained in $\mathbb{P}^2_{\mathcal{F}}$ and that intersect $\mathbb{P}^2_{\mathcal{G}}$. The lines contained in $\mathbb{P}^2_{\mathcal{F}}$ correspond to an α -plane $\mathcal{P}_{\mathbb{P}^2_{\mathcal{F}}} \subset X$, and the lines that intersect $\mathbb{P}^2_{\mathcal{G}}$ correspond to a hyperplane $\mathcal{H}_{\mathbb{P}^2_{\mathcal{G}}} \subset X$. Since $X \subset \mathbb{P}^5$, $\mathcal{P}_{\mathbb{P}^2_{\mathcal{F}}}$ and $\mathcal{H}_{\mathbb{P}^2_{\mathcal{G}}}$ intersect in a line \mathcal{L} . Since $\Omega(2,1)$ is the equivalence class of a line, we are done.

4.12 The points in $\omega_{\mathcal{F}}(1,1) \cap \omega_{\mathcal{G}}(2,0)$ are the points corresponding to lines that are contained in $\mathbb{P}^2_{\mathcal{F}}$ and that intersect $p_{\mathcal{G}}$. A general point in \mathbb{P}^3 is not contained in a given \mathbb{P}^2 , so there is no line satisfying the condition.

We will now use the previous propositions to intersect two, three and four hyperplanes, respectively. First, we have that

$$\Omega(1,0) \cap \Omega(1,0) = a\Omega(1,1) + b\Omega(2,0), \tag{4.13}$$

for $a, b \in \mathbb{Z}$. Indeed, $\operatorname{codim}(\omega(1,0)) = 1$, thus $\operatorname{codim}(\omega(1,0) \cap \omega(1,0)) = 2$, by Theorem 4.3.1. This gives that $\Omega(1,0) \cap \Omega(1,0) \in A_2(X)$ and is therefore a sum of the two generators of $A_2(X)$. To find a and b, we intersect Equation (4.13) with $\Omega(2,0)$ and $\Omega(1,1)$ in turn. On one hand we get

$$\begin{aligned} \Omega(2,0) \cap [\Omega(1,0) \cap \Omega(1,0)] &= \ \Omega(2,0) \cap [a\Omega(1,1) + b\Omega(2,0)] \\ &= a\Omega(2,0) \cap \Omega(1,1) + b\Omega(2,0) \cap \Omega(2,0) \\ &= b, \\ \Omega(1,1) \cap [\Omega(1,0) \cap \Omega(1,0)] &= \ \Omega(1,1) \cap [a\Omega(1,1) + b\Omega(1,1)] \\ &= a\Omega(1,1) \cap \Omega(1,1) + b\Omega(1,1) \cap \Omega(2,0) \\ &= a \end{aligned}$$

where we have used the previous results. On the other hand we get

$$\begin{split} \Omega(2,0) \cap [\Omega(1,0) \cap \Omega(1,0)] &= [\Omega(2,0) \cap \Omega(1,0)] \cap \Omega(1,0) \\ &= \Omega(2,1) \cap \Omega(1,0) \\ &= \Omega(2,2) \\ &= \text{one point} \\ \Omega(1,1) \cap [\Omega(1,0) \cap \Omega(1,0)] &= [\Omega(1,1) \cap \Omega(1,0)] \cap \Omega(1,0) \\ &= \Omega(2,1) \cap \Omega(1,0) \\ &= \Omega(2,2) \\ &= \text{one point} \end{split}$$

To summarize, we get that a = b = 1, which was what we were going to show.

We observe that the intersection of two hyperplanes are the sum of the two generators for $A_2(X)$. Intersecting three hyperplanes, we get

$$\begin{split} \Omega(1,0) \cap \Omega(1,0) & \cap \Omega(1,0) = \Omega(1,0) \cap [\Omega(1,1) + \Omega(2,0)] \\ & = \Omega(1,0) \cap \Omega(1,1) + \Omega(1,0) \cap \Omega(2,0) \\ & = \Omega(2,1) + \Omega(2,1) \\ & = 2\Omega(2,1), \end{split}$$

a multiple of the generator for $A_1(X)$. Intersecting four hyperplanes gives

$$\Omega(1,0) \cap \Omega(1,0) \cap \Omega(1,0) \cap \Omega(1,0) = \Omega(1,0) \cap 2\Omega(2,1)$$

= 2\Omega(2,2).

To conclude, the intersection of four hyperplane is two points. Since X is of dimension 4 we get that the degree of X is 2, which we need from the alternative proof of Theorem 4.2.6. The intersection of hyperplanes can be visualized by coloring of boxes of dimension 2×2 . Each box corresponds to a Schubert class $\Omega(i_1, i_0)$, where the number of colored boxes in the first and second column is i_1 and i_0 , respectively. We organize the boxes such that the *i*th row of boxes (counted from zero) corresponds to the Schubert classes in A_{4-i} . We also put a number next to each box such that the sum of the Schubert classes in the *i*th row is the intersection of *i* hyperplanes. We get the following boxes.



For a general G(d+1, n+1), the boxes are of dimension d(n-d). In the proofs of Theorem 4.4.1 and Theorem 4.4.7 we will use a subvariety of G(3, 6) and G(4, 9). Therefore, we calculate the similar scheme of boxes for G(3, 6) and G(4, 9). In this calculation, we will need a general result about intersection of hyperplanes. Let $\Omega_a = \Omega(a_d, \ldots, a_0)$, where $a_d + \cdots + a_0 = a$. We have the following

Proposition 4.3.6. [KL72, p. 1073](Pieri's formula) Let X = G(d+1, n+1). Then for any Schubert class $\Omega_a \in A_*(X)$ we have

$$\Omega_a \cap \Omega_1 = \sum_{\substack{|c|=|a|+1\\a_j \le c_j \le a_{j-1} \forall j}} \Omega_c$$

The proposition says that the intersection between a general Schubert cycle Ω_a and a hyperplane Ω_1 is the sum of all Schubert cycles that can appear by coloring the box of Ω_a in all ways such that the number of colored boxes in the left box is greater than or equal to the number of colored boxes to the right. We get the following boxes for $\mathbb{G}(3,6)$.

4.3. More on Grassmannians and Skew Symmetric Matrices



We observe that the degree of G(3,6) is 42.

Lastly, we compute the boxes for G = G(4, 9).



330	990	1155	660	2310	825	462	1320	1188	1320	462
1320	1485	2112	5775	4158	4455	462	2970	2640	2970	462
	3432	8580	2574		12870	11583	3432	8580	3432	
	60				21 480	048 150				
		60		054 965	25 810	081 750	075 240	024		
60060 231660 171600 180180 24024										
291720 583440 204204										
				875	160 787	644				
					1662804	L				
				1	1662804	L				

We observe that the degree of G(4,9) is 1662804.

4.3.2 Chern Classes of Vector Bundles on Grassmannians

Some of the $\Omega(i_d, \ldots, i_0)$ are special in the sense that they generate $A_*(X)$ under multiplication. We will see that this will be the ones that correspond to the so called Chern classes of some vector bundles on X. Before we investigate this relationship, we need the definition of a general vector bundle on a variety X.

Definition 4.3.7. Let X be a variety and V an n-dimensional vector space over \mathbb{C} . A vector bundle V_X on X of rank n is a variety together with a morphism $f: V_X \to X$ such that for an open affine covering $X = \bigcup_{i \in I} U_i$ then $f^{-1}(U_i) \simeq U_i \times V$. In addition, for

$$(U_i \cap U_j) \times V \xleftarrow{\phi_j} f^{-1}(U_i \cap U_j) \xrightarrow{\phi_i} (U_i \cap U_j) \times V$$
$$\phi_j \circ \phi_i^{-1} : (U_i \cap U_j) \times V \to (U_i \cap U_j) \times V$$
$$(x, v) \mapsto (x, \psi_{ij}(v)),$$

 ψ_{ij} has to be a linear map.

A global section on X is a morphism $s: X \to V_X$ such that $f \circ s = \operatorname{id}_X$. Explicitly, for all $x \in X$, s(x) = (x, v) for a fixed $v \in V$. We say that $s_1(x) = (x, v_1)$ and $s_2(x) = (x, v_2)$ are linearly dependent if $v_1, v_2 \in V$ are linearly dependent. We are now ready to define the Chern classes of a vector bundle on X.

Definition 4.3.8. Let X be a variety of dimension N = (n - d)(d + 1), V_X a vector bundle on X of rank n and $s_i : X \to V_X$ for $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ general global sections on X. We define the *Chern* classes of V_X , denoted $c_i(V_X)$ for $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$, as

$$c_1(V_X) = [\{x \in X : s_1(x), \dots, s_n(x) \text{ are linearly dependent}\}],$$

$$c_2(V_X) = [\{x \in X : s_1(x), \dots, s_{n-1}(x) \text{ are linearly dependent}\}],$$

$$\vdots$$

$$c_i(V_X) = [\{x \in X : s_1(x), \dots, s_{n-i+1}(x) \text{ are linearly dependent}\}],$$

$$\vdots$$

$$c_n(V_X) = [\{x \in X : s_1(x) = 0\}].$$

For i > n, we set $c_i(V_X) = 0$. We also set $c_0(V_X) = 1$.

Let V be a vector space and let G = G(d + 1, V). We will construct three vector bundles on G. Firstly, we define the trivial vector bundle $V_G = V \times G = \{(v, [U]) : v \in V, U \subset V\}$. It is called the trivial vector bundle since the fiber over every point $[U] \in G$ is V. Next, we define the sub-bundle $\mathcal{U} = \{(v, [U]) : v \in U \subset V\} \subset V_G$. Since the fiber over a point $[U] \in G$ is U, the rank of \mathcal{U} is d + 1. The sub-bundle is indeed a vector bundle, [Eis16, Proposition 3.3]. Third, we have the quotient bundle $\mathcal{Q} = V_G/\mathcal{U}$ of rank n - d. Since both V_G and \mathcal{U} are vector bundles, \mathcal{Q} is obviously also a vector bundle. By construction, these vector bundles fit in a short exact sequence:

 $0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{U} \longrightarrow V_G \longrightarrow \mathcal{Q} \longrightarrow 0.$

Dualizing, we also get the vector bundles Q^*, V_G^* and \mathcal{U}^* . Since the dualizing is exact on vector bundles, we have the following short exact sequence:

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{Q}^* \longrightarrow V_G^* \longrightarrow \mathcal{U}^* \longrightarrow 0.$$

We are going to prove that there is a correspondence between the Chern classes of \mathcal{Q} and \mathcal{U}^* and the Schubert cycles of G. In order to do this, we look at the global sections on G.

Let $s : G \to V_G$ be a global section and let $\phi : V_G \to \mathcal{Q}$ be the quotient map. We set $\phi(v) = [v]$. Since s([U]) = (v, [U]) for a fixed $v \in V$, we get that $\phi \circ s : G \to \mathcal{Q}$ is a global section. Indeed, $\phi \circ s([U]) = ([v], [U])$. The argument is summarized in the following diagram.



Now, let $s: G \to V_G^*$ be a global section and let $\psi: V_G^* \to \mathcal{U}^*$ be the quotient map. By abuse of notation we say that s([U]) = ([U], s), where $s: V \to \mathbb{C}$ is a linear map. The composition $\psi \circ s$ is a global section. Indeed, $\psi \circ s([U]) = ([U], s|_U)$, where $s|_U: U \to \mathbb{C}$ is the restriction of s to U. The argument is summarized in the following diagram.



We are now ready to prove the relationship between the Chern classes of \mathcal{U}^* and \mathcal{Q} and the Schubert classes of G. We begin with the Chern classes of \mathcal{U}^* .

Proposition 4.3.9. Let V be an (n+1)-dimensional vector space and let G = G(d+1, V). Then

(1)
$$c_{d+1}(\mathcal{U}^*) = \Omega(1, ..., 1) \in A_*(G),$$

(2) $c_d(\mathcal{U}^*) = \Omega(1, ..., 1, 0) \in A_*(G),$
(3) $c_1(\mathcal{U}^*) = \Omega(1, 0, ..., 0) \in A_*(G).$

Proof. Let $s_i: G \to V_G^*$ and $s_i|_U = \psi \circ s_i: G \to \mathcal{U}^*$ for $i \in \{1, \ldots, d+1\}$ be general global section as described above. By Definition 4.3.8, we have that

$$c_e(\mathcal{U}^*) = \left[[U] \in G : s_1 \big|_U([U]), \dots, s_{d-e+2} \big|_U([U]) \text{ are linearly dependent} \right]$$

The global sections are linearly dependent if the linear maps $s_i|_U : U \to \mathbb{C}$ are linearly dependent. Therefore, we get that

$$c_e(\mathcal{U}^*) = \left[[U] \in G : s_1 \big|_U, \dots, s_{d-e+2} \big|_U \text{ are linearly dependent} \right], \tag{4.14}$$

where $s_i|_U$ are linear maps. Given $s_1: V \to \mathbb{C}$, the kernel of s_1 is a *n*-dimensional subspace of *V*. Generally, n + 1 linear maps $s_i: V \to \mathbb{C}$ induce a flag $U_1 \subset \cdots \subset U_{n-1} \subset U_n \subset V$, where U_i is the *i*-dimensional subspace of *V* that disappears on $s_i, s_{i-1}, \ldots, s_1$. Assume we have n + 1 such linear maps and the corresponding flag.

(1) Let e = d + 1. From Equation (4.14) we get that

$$c_{d+1}(\mathcal{U}^*) = \left[\{ [U] \in G : s_1 \Big|_U = 0 \} \right]$$

In other words, $c_{d+1}(\mathcal{U}^*)$ is the equivalence class of the points $[U] \in G$ such that for all $u \in U$ we have $s_1(u) = 0$, i.e. the set of points $[U] \in G$ such that $U \subset \ker s_1 = U_n$. We have established that

$$c_{d+1}(\mathcal{U}^*) = \left[\left\{\left[U\right] \in G : U \subset U_n\right\}\right].$$

Now, we want want to show that the set of $[U] \in G$ such that $U \in U_n$ is a Schubert cycle $\omega(1,\ldots,1)$. Indeed, we get from Equation (4.5) on page 29 that

 $\omega(1,\ldots,1) = \{ [U] \in G : \dim(U \cap U_{n-k}) \ge d+1-k \text{ for all } k \text{ such that } 0 \le k \le d \}.$

For k = 0 we get the requirement $\dim(U \cap U_n) \ge d + 1$, which is fulfilled when $U \subset U_n$. For $k \ge 1$ the requirement is is trivially fulfilled. Indeed, since $U \subset U_n$ we get that the intersection of a d + 1-dimensional subspace U and a subspace of U_n of dimension n - k has dimension at least (d+1) + (n-k) - n = d + 1 - k. To summarize, $\omega(1, \ldots, 1)$ is the points $[U] \in G$ such that $U \subset U_n$, which was what we were going to show. Consequently, $c_{d+1} = \Omega(1, \ldots, 1)$.

(2) Let e = d. From Equation (4.14) we get that

$$c_d(\mathcal{U}^*) = \left[\left\{ \left[U \right] \in G : s_1 \right|_U = \lambda s_2 \Big|_U, \, \lambda \in \mathbb{C} \right\} \right].$$

Let $(a_{i1}, \ldots, a_{i,d+1}), a_{ij} \in \mathbb{C}$, be the matrix representation of $s_i|_U$ and let

$$A = \begin{pmatrix} a_{11} & \dots & a_{1,d+1} \\ a_{21} & \dots & a_{2,d+1} \end{pmatrix}$$

Assume $U \subset V$ such that $s_1|_U = \lambda s_2|_U$. We then have that dim(ker A) $\geq d$. Since ker $A \subset U$ and ker $A \subset U_{n-1}$, this means that dim $(U \cap U_{n-1}) \geq d$. We have now proved that

$$c_d(\mathcal{U}^*) = \left[\left\{ [U] \in G : \dim U \cap U_{n-1} \right) \ge d \right\} \right].$$

Now, we want to show that the set of points $[U] \in G$ such that $U \in U_{n-1}$ is a Schubert cycle $\omega(1, \ldots, 1, 0)$. Indeed, we get from Equation (4.5) on page 29 that

$$\omega(1,\ldots,1,0) = \{ [U] \in G : \dim(U \cap U_{n+1}) \ge d+1 \text{ and} \\ \dim(U \cap U_{n-k}) \ge d+1-k \text{ for all } k \text{ such that } 1 \le k \le d \}.$$

The condition that $\dim(U \cap U_{n+1}) \ge d+1$ is obviously fulfilled since U is assumed to be a subspace of $V = U_{n+1}$. For k = 1, we get the condition that $\dim(U \cap U_{n-1}) \ge d$. For $k \ge 2$, we get the condition that $\dim(U \cap U_{n-k}) \ge d-1-k$, which is trivially fulfilled when $\dim(U \cap U_{n-1}) \ge d$. Indeed, the dimension of the intersection between U and $U_{n-k} \subset U_{n-1}$ of dimension n-k is at least d + (n-k) - (n-1) = d+1-k. In summary, $\omega(1,\ldots,1,0)$ is the set of points $[U] \in G$ such that $\dim(U \cap U_{n-1}) \ge d$. Consequently, we get that $c_d(\mathcal{U}^*) = \Omega(1,\ldots,1,0)$.

(3) Let e = 1. From Equation (4.14) we get that

 $c_1(\mathcal{U}^*) = \left[\left\{ [U] \in G : s_1 \Big|_{U}, \dots, s_{d+1} \Big|_{U} \text{ are linearly dependent} \right\} \right].$

As above, we let $(a_{i1}, \ldots, a_{i,d+1}), a_{ij} \in \mathbb{C}$ be the matrix representation of $s_i|_U$ and let

$$A = \begin{pmatrix} a_{11} & \dots & a_{1,d+1} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ a_{d+1,1} & \dots & a_{d+1,d+1} \end{pmatrix}$$

Assume $U \subset V$ such that $s_1|_U, \ldots, s_{d+1}|_U$ are linearly dependent. Then dim(ker A) ≥ 1 . Since ker $A \subset U$ and ker $A \subset U_{n-d}$, this means that dim $(U \cap U_{n-d} \geq 1)$. We have proved that

$$c_1(\mathcal{U}^*) = [\{[U] \in G : \dim(U \cap U_{n-d}) \ge 1\}].$$

Now, we want to show that the set of points $[U] \in G$ such that dim $U \cap U_{n-d} \ge 1$ } is a Schubert cycle $\omega(1, 0, \ldots, 0)$. Indeed, from Equation (4.5) on page 29, we get that

$$\omega(1, 0, \dots, 0) = \{ [U] \in G : \dim(U \cap U_{n-d}) \ge 1 \text{ and }$$

 $\dim(U \cap U_{n+1-k}) \ge d+1-k \text{ for all } k \text{ such that } 0 \le k < d\}.$

For k > d, the requirement is fulfilled. Indeed, the dimension of the intersection of a d + 1-dimensional subspace U and a subspace of dimension n+1-k is at least d+1+(n+1-k)-(n+1) = d+1-k. The requirement for k = d is that $\dim(U \cap U_{n-d}) \ge 1$. Therefore, we get that $\omega(1, 0, \ldots, 0)$ is the set of points $[U] \in G$ such that $\dim(U \cap U_{n-d}) \ge 1$, which was what we were going to show. As a consequence, $c_1(\mathcal{U}^*) = \Omega(1, 0, \ldots, 0)$.

Now, we prove the relationship between the Chern classes of Q and the Schubert cycles of G. **Proposition 4.3.10.** Let V be an (n + 1)-dimensional vector space and let G = G(d + 1, V). Then

(1)
$$c_{n-d}(\mathcal{Q}) = \Omega(n-d, 0, ..., 0) \in A_*(G),$$

(2) $c_{n-d-1}(\mathcal{Q}) = \Omega(n-d-1, 0, ..., 0) \in A_*(G),$
(3) $c_1(\mathcal{Q}) = \Omega(1, 0, ..., 0) \in A_*(G).$

Proof. Let $s_i : G \to V_G$ and $\psi \circ s_i : G \to Q$ for $i \in \{1, \ldots, n-d\}$ be general global sections as described above. By Definition 4.3.8, we have that

$$c_e(\mathcal{Q}) = [\{[U] \in G : \psi \circ s_1([U]), \dots, \psi \circ s_{n-d-e+1}([U]) \text{ are linearly dependent}\}]$$

Recall that $\psi \circ s_i([U]) = ([v_i], [U])$ for $v_i \in V$. We have that $\psi \circ s_i([U])$ are linearly dependent if $[v_i]$ are linearly dependent. Therefore, we get that

$$c_e(\mathcal{Q}) = [\{[U] \in G : [v_1], \dots, [v_{n-d-e+1}] \text{ are linearly dependent}\}].$$

$$(4.15)$$

Given $v_1 \in V$. Then v_1 span a 1-dimensional subspace U_1 . Generally, n+1 vectors $v_i \in V$ induce a flag $U_1 \subset \ldots \cup U_{n-1} \subset U_n = V$, where U_i the span of $v_1, \ldots v_i$.

(1) Let e = n - d. From Equation (4.15) we get that

$$c_{n-d}(\mathcal{Q}) = [\{[U] \in G : [v_1] = 0\}]$$

In other words, $c_{n-d}(\mathcal{Q})$ is the equivalence class of the set of points $[U] \in G$ such that $U_1 \in U$. We have established that

$$c_{n-d}(\mathcal{Q}) = \left[\left\{ [U] \in G : U_1 \subset U \right\} \right].$$

We want to show that the set of $[U] \in G$ such that $U_1 \subset U$ is a Schubert cycle $\omega(n-d, 0, \ldots, 0)$. Indeed, from Equation (4.5) on page 29, we get that

$$\omega(n-d, 0, \dots, 0) = \{ [U] \in G : \dim(U \cap U_1) \ge 1 \text{ and} \\ \dim(U \cap U_{n+1-k}) \ge d+1-k \text{ for all } k \text{ s.t. } 0 \le k < d \}.$$

The requirement for k = d is that $\dim(U \cap U_1) \ge 1$, i.e. U contains U_1 . The requirement for k < d is trivially fulfilled. Indeed, since $U \subset U_{n+1}$ by assumption, we get that the intersection of a d + 1-dimensional subspace U and a subspace U_{n+1-k} of dimension (n+1-k) is at least (d+1) + (n+1-k) - (n+1) = d+1-k. To summarize, $\omega(n-d,0,\ldots,0)$ is the set of points $[U] \in G$ such that $U_1 \subset U$, which was what we were going to show. Consequently, $\Omega(n-d,0,\ldots,0) = c_{n-d}(\mathcal{Q})$.

(2) Let e = n - d - 1. From Equation (4.15), we get that

$$c_{n-d-1}(\mathcal{Q}) = \left[\{ [U] \in G : [v_1], [v_2] \text{ are linearly dependent} \} \right].$$

In other words, $c_{n-d-1}(\mathcal{Q})$ is the equivalence class of the set of points $[U] \in G$ such that there exists an $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ such that $[v_1] + \lambda [v_2] = 0$. This is equivalent to require that $v_1 + \lambda v_2 \in U$. This show that $c_{n-d-1}(\mathcal{Q})$ is the equivalence class of the set of U such that $\dim(U \cap U_2) \geq 1$. We have established that

$$c_{n-d-1}(\mathcal{Q}) = [\{[U] \in G : \dim(U \cap U_2) \ge 1\}].$$

We want to show that the set of points [U] such that $\dim(U \cap U_2) \ge 1$ is a Schubert cycle $\omega(n-d-1,0,\ldots,0)$. Indeed, from Equation (4.5) on page 29, we get that

$$\omega(n-d-1,0,\ldots,0) = \{ [U] \in G : \dim(U \cap U_2) \ge 1 \text{ and} \\ \dim(U \cap U_{n+1-k}) \ge d+1-k \text{ for all } k \text{ s.t. } 0 \le k < d \}.$$

The requirement for k > d is as above trivially fulfilled. The requirement for k = d is that $\dim(U \cap U_2) \ge 1$. Consequently, $\Omega(n - d - 1, 0, \dots, 0) = c_{n-d-1}(\mathcal{Q})$.

(3) Let e = 1. From Equation (4.15), we get that We have by definition that

 $c_1(\mathcal{Q}) = [\{[U] \in G : [v_1], \dots, [v_{n-d}] \text{ are linearly dependent}\}]$

In other words, $c_1(\mathcal{Q})$ is the equivalence class of the set of points $[U] \in G$ such that there exists $\lambda_i \in \mathbb{C}$ such that $\lambda_1[v_1] + \lambda_2[v_2] + \cdots + \lambda_{n-d}[v_{n-d}] = 0$. This is equivalent to require that $\lambda_1v_1 + \lambda_2v_2 + \cdots + \lambda_{n-d}v_{n-d} \in U$. This shows that $c_1(\mathcal{Q})$ is the equivalence class of the set of U such that $\dim(U \cap U_{n-d}) \geq 1$. We have established that

$$c_1(\mathcal{Q}) = [\{[U] \in G : \dim(U \cap U_{n-d}) \ge 1\}].$$

We want to show that the set of points such that $\dim(U \cap U_{n-d}) \geq 1$ is a Schubert cycle $\omega(1, 0, \ldots, 0)$. Indeed, we showed in the proof of Proposition 4.3.9 that $\omega(1, 0, \ldots, 0)$ is the set of points $[U] \in G$ such that $\dim(U \cap U_{n-d} \geq 1)$. Consequently, $\Omega(1, 0, \ldots, 0) = c_1(\mathcal{Q})$.

Corollary 4.3.11. $c_{n-d}(\mathcal{Q})^{d+1} = \Omega(n-d, \dots, n-d) = c_{d+1}(\mathcal{U}^*)^{n-d}$.

Proof. For the first equality, we use that

$$c_{n-d}(\mathcal{Q}) = \Omega(n-d, 0\dots, 0),$$

which is the equivalence class of the points $[U] \in G$ such that U contains a given 1-dimensional subspace of V. Then $c_{n-d}(\mathcal{Q})^{d+1}$ is the equivalence class of the points $[U] \in G$ such that Ucontains d+1 general 1-dimensional subspaces. There is only one d+1-dimensional subspace Uthat fulfills this condition, that is the vector space spanned by the 1-dimensional subspaces.

For the second equality, we use that

$$c_{d+1}(\mathcal{U}) = \Omega(1,\ldots,1),$$

which is the equivalence class of the points $[U] \in G$ such that U is contained in a *n*-dimensional subspace. Then $c_{d+1}(\mathcal{U})^{n-d}$ is the equivalence class of the points $[U] \in G$ such that U is contained in n-d *n*-dimensional subspaces. There is only one such d+1-dimensional U, that is the vector space in the intersection of the *n*-dimensional vector spaces.

4.3.3 The set of Isotropic Subspaces as a Subvariety of a Grassmannian

In the proof of Theorem 4.2.6 we used that the set of 2-dimensional isotropic subspaces of a 4×4 skew symmetric matrix corresponds to a hyperplane in G(2, 4). Now, we will show the general correspondence between the set of k-dimensional isotropic subspaces of an $(n + 1) \times (n + 1)$ skew symmetric matrix and G(k, n + 1).

To describe the set of isotropic subspaces as a subvariety of a Grassmannian we need the concept of the second wedge product. Let V be a vector space of dimension n + 1. Then the second wedge product of V is

$$\wedge^2 V = V \otimes V/v \otimes w + w \otimes v,$$

for $v, w \in V$. We have further that $\dim(\wedge^2 V) = \frac{(n+1)n}{2}$. Indeed, we have that $V \otimes V =$ Sym $V \oplus \wedge^2 V$, where Sym V is the symmetric algebra over V, i.e. Sym $V = V \oplus V/v \oplus w - w \oplus v$. We have that $\dim(V \oplus V) = (n+1)^2$ and $\dim(\text{Sym } V) = \frac{(n+1)^2 + (n+1)}{2}$. Then

$$\dim(\wedge^2 V) = \dim(V \otimes V) - \dim(\operatorname{Sym} V)$$
$$= (n+1)^2 - \frac{(n+1)^2 + (n+1)}{2}$$
$$= \frac{(n+1)n}{2}.$$

We have the following correspondence between skew symmetric matrices and $\wedge^2(V)$.

Lemma 4.3.12. Let V be a vector space of dimension n + 1. Then there is a 1 - 1 correspondence between $(n + 1) \times (n + 1)$ skew symmetric matrices and elements in $\wedge^2(V^*)$.

Proof. Let A be an $(n+1) \times (n+1)$ skew symmetric matrix and consider

$$\phi : \wedge^2 V \to \mathbb{C}$$
$$(v, w) \mapsto vAw^T$$

This shows that $\phi \in \wedge^2(V^*)$. Consider now $\psi \in \wedge^2(V^*)$. Then ψ is a bilinear map, which indeed is represented by a unique matrix. Further we have that $\psi(v, w) = -\psi(w, v)$. This gives that $vAw^T = -wAv^T$. On the other hand we also have that

$$vAw^T = (vAw^T)^T$$
$$= wA^T v^T.$$

In summary, we get that $wA^Tv^T = -wAv^T$, which is fulfilled if and only if $A = -A^T$. This shows that A is skew symmetric.

We will prove that the set of isotropic subspaces corresponds to one of the Chern classes of $\wedge^2(\mathcal{U}^*)$. In order to do this, we first look at the global sections $s: G \to \wedge^2(\mathcal{U}^*)$. In the same way as a global section $s_U: G \to \mathcal{U}^*$ is induced by a global section $s: G \to V_G^*$, a global section $s_U: G \to \wedge^2\mathcal{U}^*$ is induced by a global section $s: G \to \wedge^2\mathcal{U}^*$. Indeed, we have that the following sequence is exact.

$$0 \longrightarrow (\mathcal{U}^* \otimes \mathcal{Q}^*) \oplus \wedge^2 \mathcal{Q}^* \longrightarrow \wedge^2 V_G^* \longrightarrow \wedge^2 \mathcal{U}^* \longrightarrow 0$$
(4.16)

Let $s: G \to \wedge^2(V_G^*)$ be a the global section such that s([U]) = ([U], s), where $s: \wedge^2 V_G \to \mathbb{C}$. Let $\phi: \wedge^2 V_G^* \to \wedge^2 \mathcal{U}^*$ be the quotient map we get from Equation (4.16). Then $\phi \circ s$ is a global section. Indeed, $\phi \circ s([U]) = ([U], s|_U)$, where $s|_U: \wedge^2 U \to \mathbb{C}$.

We are now ready to prove the following

Proposition 4.3.13. Let V be an (n + 1)-dimensional vector space, A be an $(n + 1) \times (n + 1)$ skew symmetric matrix, H_A^{d+1} the set of (d + 1)-dimensional isotropic subspaces to A and let G = G(d + 1, V). Then $[\mathcal{H}_A^{d+1}] = c_m(\wedge^2 \mathcal{U}^*)$, where $m = \frac{n(n-1)}{2}$ and \mathcal{H}_A^{d+1} is the subset of G corresponding to H_A^{d+1} .

Proof. Let $s: G \to \wedge^2 V_G^*$ be a section as described above, where $s: \wedge^2 V_G^*$ is represented by A and let $s|_U = \phi \circ s$. Then

$$c_m(\wedge^2 \mathcal{U}^*) = \left[\left\{ [U] \in G : s \big|_U = 0 \right\} \right]$$
$$= \left[\left\{ [U] \in G : A \big|_U = 0 \right\} \right].$$

Since $\{[U] \in G : A|_U = 0\}$ is the set of (d + 1)-dimensional isotropic subspaces to A, we are done.

4.3.4 Computation with Chern Classes

The Chern classes of $\wedge^2(\mathcal{U}^*)$ corresponds to the Chern classes of \mathcal{U}^* . In the this section, we show how we can find the explicit correspondence. We will also describe how to compute with Chern classes.

Let V_X be a vector bundle of rank n. We then define the Chern polynomial as the polynomial

$$c_t(V_X) = \sum_{i=0}^n c_i(V_X) t^i \in A_*(X)[t].$$

When n = 1 we call V_X a line bundle, denoted \mathcal{L} , and we have $c_t(\mathcal{L}) = 1 + c_1(\mathcal{L})t$. When \mathcal{E} is a direct sum of line bundles \mathcal{L}_i we have that

$$c_t(\mathcal{E}) = \prod c_t(\mathcal{L}_i), \qquad (4.17)$$

[Ful98, p. 51]. This relation will give a way of computing with Chern classes. The vector bundles we are considering are however not direct sums of line bundles, but because of *the splitting principle* introduced below we can use the same techniques for computing as we have for a direct sum of line bundles.

Theorem 4.3.14. [Ful98, p. 51](Splitting principle) Any identity among Chern classes of bundles that is true for bundles that are direct sums of line bundles is true in general.

Before we use the splitting principle to compute the relations between a vector bundle \mathcal{E} and $\wedge^2 \mathcal{E}$ we need the following.

Lemma 4.3.15. Let $\mathcal{E} = \bigoplus \mathcal{L}_i$. Then $\wedge^2 \mathcal{E} = \bigoplus_{i < j} \mathcal{L}_i \oplus \mathcal{L}_j$.

Proof. Given $\mathcal{E} = \bigoplus_{i=0}^{n} \mathcal{L}_i$ we have that $\mathcal{E} \otimes \mathcal{E} = \bigoplus_{0 \leq i,j \leq n} \mathcal{L}_i \oplus \mathcal{L}_j$. Let $u = (l_1, \ldots, l_n)$ and $u' = (l'_1, \ldots, l'_n)$. Then

$$u \otimes u' = (l_1 l'_1, \dots, l_i l'_j, \dots, l_n l'_n)$$
$$u' \otimes u = (l'_1 l_1, \dots, l'_i l_j, \dots, l'_n l_n)$$

Then $u \otimes u' + u' \otimes u = 0$ gives that $l_i l'_j + l'_i l_j = 0$ for $0 \le i, j \le n$. Assume i = j. Then $l_i l'_i + l'_i l_i = 0$ for every $0 \le i \le n$, which is fulfilled if and only if $\mathcal{L}_i \oplus \mathcal{L}_i = 0$. Assume $i \ne j$. Then we have that $l_i l'_j + l'_i l_j = 0$. This is fulfilled if and only if $\mathcal{L}_i \oplus \mathcal{L}_j = -\mathcal{L}_j \oplus \mathcal{L}_i$. We therefore have that

$$\wedge^2 \mathcal{E} = \mathcal{E} \otimes \mathcal{E}/v \oplus w + w \oplus v = \bigoplus_{i < j,} \mathcal{L}_i \oplus \mathcal{L}_j.$$

ΛΛ
/ //

Let now \mathcal{E} be a vector bundle of rank n. By the splitting we can assume the \mathcal{E} splits into a direct sum of n line bundles. We write the line bundles as $\mathcal{O}_G(\alpha_i)$, where α_i is called the Chern root. The Chern roots are used to compute relation between Chern classes. When \mathcal{E} is a sum of line bundles, then $\alpha_i = c_1(\mathcal{L}_i)$, but when \mathcal{E} is not a sum of line bundles, then the Chern roots has no geometric origin.

$$\mathcal{E} = \mathcal{O}_G(\alpha_1) \oplus \mathcal{O}_G(\alpha_2) \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathcal{O}_G(\alpha_n).$$

By 4.17 and the splitting principle we have that

$$c_t(\mathcal{E}) = (1 + \alpha_1 t)(1 + \alpha_2 t) \dots (1 + \alpha_n t),$$

which gives

$$c_1 = \alpha_1 + \alpha_2 + \dots + \alpha_n,$$

$$c_2 = \alpha_1 \alpha_2 + \dots + \alpha_i \alpha_j + \dots + \alpha_{n-1} \alpha_n,$$

$$\vdots$$

$$c_n = \alpha_1 \alpha_2 \dots \alpha_n$$

By Lemma 4.3.15 we have that

$$\wedge^2(\mathcal{E}) = \mathcal{O}_G(\alpha_1 + \alpha_2) \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathcal{O}_G(\alpha_i + \alpha_j) \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathcal{O}_G(\alpha_{n-1} + \alpha_n),$$

and

$$d_t(\wedge^2(\mathcal{E})) = (1 + (\alpha_1 + \alpha_2)t) \dots (1 + (\alpha_i + \alpha_j)t) \dots (1 + (\alpha_{n-1} + \alpha_n)t).$$

This gives

$$d_1 = \sum_{i < j} (\alpha_i + \alpha_j)$$
$$d_2 = \sum_{i < j, k < l} (\alpha_i + \alpha_j) (\alpha_k + \alpha_l)$$
$$\vdots$$
$$d_m = \prod_{i < j} (\alpha_i + \alpha_j),$$

where $m = \frac{n(n-1)}{2}$. We have now expressed both c_i and d_i in terms of the Chern roots of \mathcal{E} . From these equations we can express d_i in terms of c_i . We give an example in the following

Lemma 4.3.16. Let \mathcal{E} be a rank 2 vector bundle. Let c_i be the Chern classes for \mathcal{E} and d_i the Chern classes for $\wedge^2 \mathcal{E}$. Then $c_1 = d_1$.

Proof. By the splitting principle we can assume that \mathcal{E} splits into a direct sum of two line bundles, that is,

$$\mathcal{E} = \mathcal{O}_G(\alpha) \oplus \mathcal{O}_G(\beta).$$

We then have that

$$c_t(\mathcal{E}) = (1 + \alpha t)(1 + \beta t),$$

which gives

$$c_1 = \alpha + \beta$$
$$c_2 = \alpha\beta$$

We have further that

$$\wedge^2(\mathcal{E}) = \mathcal{O}_G(\alpha + \beta)$$

and

$$d_t(\wedge^2(\mathcal{E})) = (1 + (\alpha + \beta)t).$$

This shows that $d_1 = \alpha + \beta = c_1$.

We observe that c_1 is the same hyperplane that we found in the proof of Lemma 4.2.5 on page 25.

We now explain how we can find relations among the Chern classes of \mathcal{U}^* . First we need a proposition.

Proposition 4.3.17. [Ful98, Theorem 3.2 e)] If

 $0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{E}_1 \longrightarrow \mathcal{E}_2 \longrightarrow \mathcal{E}_3 \longrightarrow 0$

is a short exact sequence of vector bundles, then $c_t(\mathcal{E}_2) = c_t(\mathcal{E}_1)c_t(\mathcal{E}_3)$.

Corollary 4.3.18. $c_t(\mathcal{U}^*)c_t(\mathcal{Q}^*) = 1.$

Proof. Since

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{Q}^* \longrightarrow V_G^* \longrightarrow \mathcal{U}^* \longrightarrow 0$$

is exact, we have $c_t(\mathcal{U}^*)c_t(\mathcal{Q}^*) = c_t(V_G^*)$. We have to prove that $c_e(V_G^*) = 0$ for all $e \neq 0$. Indeed, let $s_i : G \to V_G^*$ be general global sections, where $s_i([U]) = ([U], s_i)$ for $s_i : V \to \mathbb{C}$. Then

$$c_e(V_G^*) = [[U] \in G : s_1([U]), \dots s_{n-e+2}([U]) \text{ are linearly dependent}]$$
$$= [[U] \in G : s_1, \dots s_{n-e+2} \text{ are linearly dependent}]$$

There are no subsets [U] where n - e + 2 general linear maps on an n + 1-dimensional vector space is linearly dependent. This gives that $c_e(V_G^*) = 0$ for $e \neq 0$.

We show how we can use this correspondence to compute relations between the Chern classes of \mathcal{U}^* .

Example 4.3.19. We use the technique on G(2, 4). We want to find the relations between the Chern classes of \mathcal{U}^* .

$$c_t(\mathcal{Q}^*)c_t(\mathcal{U}^*) = (1 + d_1t + d_2t^2)(1 + c_1t + c_2t^2)$$

= 1 + (d_1 + c_1)t + (d_2 + c_1d_1 + c_2)t^2 + (c_1d_2 + c_2d_1)t^3 + (c_2d_2)t^4
= 1.

This equality is fulfilled if and only if

$$d_1 + c_1 = 0$$
$$d_2 + c_1 d_1 + c_2 = 0$$

46

$$c_1d_2 + c_2d_1 = 0$$
$$c_2d_2 = 0$$

The first equation gives $d_1 = -c_1$. Using this relation in the second equation gives $d_2 = c_1^2 - c_2$. The two last equation then gives

$$c_1^3 - 2c_1c_2 = 0$$
$$c_1^2c_2 - c_2^2 = 0.$$

Multiplying the first of the relation with c_1 gives that

$$c_1^4 = 2c_1^2c_2 = 2c_2^2$$

and using that $c_2^2 = 1$ by Corollary 4.3.11 we get back the relations

$$c_1^4 = \Omega(1,0)^4 = 2,$$

 $c_1^2 c_2 = \Omega(1,0)^2 \cap \Omega(1,1) = 1.$

4.4 Application to Skew Symmetric Matrices of Dimension 4, 6 and 9

We are now ready to prove two theorems about skew symmetric matrices of dimension 6 and 9 and give another proof of Theorem 4.2.6. We will prove the theorems separately, but in all cases we will use the techniques developed in the previous section.

4.4.1 Skew Symmetric Matrices of Dimension 4 - revisited

We use the same strategy that we used in the alternative proof of Theorem 4.2.6 in Section 4.2 on page 26, that is we want to show that there exists a common 2-dimensional isotropic subspace for a basis for a 3-dimensional vector space W of 4×4 skew symmetric matrices.

Alternative proof of Theorem 4.2.6. Let W be a 4-dimensional vector space and let W be a 3dimensional vector space of 4×4 skew symmetric matrices. Let A_1, A_2 and A_3 be a basis for Wand let X = G(2, V). We have that $A_i|_U \in \wedge^2 \mathcal{U}^*$. Since dim $\wedge^2 \mathcal{U}^* = 1$, the isotropic subspaces $U \subset V$ to $A_i|_U$ is $c_1(\wedge^2 \mathcal{U}^*)$. We have from Lemma 4.3.16 that $c_1(\wedge^2 \mathcal{U}^*) = c_1(\mathcal{U}^*)$. We have a common isotropic subspace we for A_1, A_2 and A_3 is $c_1(\mathcal{U}^*)^3$ is non empty. Indeed, we have that

$$c_1(\mathcal{U}^*)^3 = c_1^3$$
$$= 2\Omega(2,1)$$

Since $c_1^3 c_1 = 2$, we have that there exists a conic of common isotropic subspaces for A_1, A_2 and A_3 .

4.4.2 Skew Symmetric Matrices of Dimension 6

The result in dimension 6 is the following

Theorem 4.4.1. Let W be a 3-dimensional vector space of 6×6 skew symmetric matrices. Then there exists two 3-dimensional isotropic subspaces to W.

We will now prove this theorem, but first we need four lemmas.

Lemma 4.4.2. Let W be a 3-dimensional vector space of 6×6 skew symmetric matrix and let U be a 3-dimensional isotropic subspace for W. Then we can choose a row basis for W such that $a_{34} = a_{35} = a_{45} = 0$ for every matrix in W.

Proof. Let the row basis be such that for $u, v, w \in U$ we have that

$$u = (0, 0, 0, 1, 0, 0),$$

$$v = (0, 0, 0, 0, 1, 0),$$

$$w = (0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 1).$$

Pick $A \in W$. Then

$$uAv^{T} = a_{34},$$
$$uAw^{T} = a_{35},$$
$$vAw^{T} = a_{45}.$$

As a consequence, $a_{34} = a_{35} = a_{45} = 0$ if $uAv^T = 0$ for all $u, v \in U$.

By Proposition 4.3.13, the equivalence class of the set of all 3-dimensional isotropic subspaces to a 6×6 skew symmetric matrix is $c_3(\wedge^2 \mathcal{U}^*)$. We now express $c_3(\wedge^2 \mathcal{U}^*)$ in terms of the Chern classes of \mathcal{U}^* by using the following

Lemma 4.4.3. Let \mathcal{E} be a rank 3 vector bundle. Let c_i be the Chern classes for \mathcal{E} and d_i the Chern classes for $\wedge^2 \mathcal{E}$. Then $d_3 = c_1c_2 - c_3$.

Proof. We use the strategy we used in Lemma 4.3.16. Since \mathcal{E} is a rank 3 vector bundle, we get that

$$c_1 = \alpha + \beta + \gamma,$$

$$c_2 = \alpha\beta + \alpha\gamma + \beta\gamma,$$

$$c_3 = \alpha\beta\gamma,$$

where α, β, γ are the Chern roots of \mathcal{E} . We then have that

$$d_{3} = (\alpha + \beta)(\alpha + \gamma)(\beta + \gamma)$$

= $(\alpha + \beta)(\alpha\beta + \alpha\gamma + \beta\gamma + \gamma\gamma)$
= $\alpha(\alpha\beta + \alpha\gamma + \beta\gamma) + \beta(\alpha\beta + \alpha\gamma + \beta\gamma) + \gamma(\alpha\beta + \alpha\gamma + \beta\gamma) - \alpha\beta\gamma$
= $(\alpha + \beta + \gamma)(\alpha\beta + \alpha\gamma + \beta\gamma) - \alpha\beta\gamma$
= $c_{1}c_{2} - c_{3}$

Lemma 4.4.4. Let G = G(3, 6) and let c_1, c_2, c_3 be the Chern classes for \mathcal{U}^* . We then have the following relations.

$$3c_1^2c_2 - 2c_1c_3 - c_1^4 - c_2^2 = 0$$

$$2c_1c_2^2 - c_1^3c_2 - 2c_2c_3 + c_1^2c_3 = 0$$

$$2c_1c_2c_3 - c_1^3c_3 - c_3^2 = 0$$

Proof. We use the strategy described above and get:

$$c_t(\mathcal{Q})c_t(\mathcal{U}^*) = 1 + (c_1 + d_1)t + (d_2 + c_1d_1 + c_2)t^2 + (d_3 + c_1d_2 + c_2d_1 + c_3)t^3 + (c_1d_3 + c_2d_2 + c_3d_1)t^4$$

$$+(c_2d_3+c_3d_2)t^5 +c_3d_3t^6 = 1,$$

where d_i are the Chern classes of Q. The equality holds if and only if the following equalities hold:

$$c_1 + d_1 = 0,$$

$$d_2 + c_1 d_1 + c_2 = 0,$$

$$c_1 d_2 + c_2 d_1 + c_3 = 0,$$

$$c_1 d_3 + c_2 d_2 + c_3 d_1 = 0,$$

$$c_2 d_3 + c_3 d_2 = 0,$$

$$c_3 d_3 = 0.$$

Solving these equation recursively gives the relations in the lemma.

Proposition 4.4.5. Let G = G(3, 6) and let c_1, c_2, c_3 be the Chern classes for \mathcal{U}^* . We then have the following number of intersection points.

$$\begin{array}{c} c_1^9 = 42 \\ c_1^7 c_2 = 21 \\ c_1^5 c_2^2 = 11 \\ c_1^6 c_3 = 5 \\ c_1^3 c_2^3 = 6 \\ c_1^4 c_2 c_3 = 3 \end{array} \qquad \begin{array}{c} c_1 c_2^4 = 3 \\ c_1^2 c_2^2 c_3 = 2 \\ c_1^2 c_2^2 c_3 = 2 \\ c_1^3 c_3^2 = 1 \\ c_1^2 c_2^2 c_3 = 1 \\ c_1 c_2 c_3^2 = 1 \end{array}$$

Proof. Consider the relations given in Lemma 4.4.4. The first relations we multiply with the five monomials of degree three, i.e. $c_1^5, c_1^3c_2, c_1c_2^2, c_1^2c_3, c_2c_3$. The second and third relation we multiply with the monomials of degree four, $c_1^4, c_1^2c_2, c_2^2, c_1c_3$, and three, c_1^3, c_1c_2 and c_3 , respectively. We get the following equations.

$$\begin{aligned} 3c_1^7c_2 - 2c_1^6c_3 - c_1^9 - c_1^5c_2^2 &= 0\\ 3c_1^5c_2^2 - 2c_1^4c_2c_3 - c_1^7c_2 - c_1^3c_2^3 &= 0\\ 3c_1^3c_2^3 - 2c_1^2c_2^2c_3 - c_1^5c_2^2 - c_1c_2^4 &= 0\\ 3c_1^4c_2c_3 - 2c_1^3c_3^2 - c_1^6c_3 - c_1^2c_2^2c_3 &= 0\\ 3c_1^2c_2^2c_3 - 2c_1c_2c_3^2 - c_1^4c_2c_3 - c_2^3c_3 &= 0\\ 2c_1^5c_2^2 - c_1^7c_2 - 2c_1^4c_2c_3 + c_1^6c_3 &= 0\\ 2c_1^3c_2^3 - c_1^5c_2^2 - 2c_1^2c_2^2c_3 + c_1^4c_2c_3 &= 0\\ 2c_1c_2^4 - c_1^3c_2^3 - 2c_2^3c_3 + c_1^2c_2^2c_3 &= 0\\ 2c_1^2c_2^2c_3 - c_1^4c_2c_3 - 2c_1c_2c_3^2 + c_1^3c_3^2 &= 0\\ 2c_1^2c_2^2c_3 - c_1^4c_2c_3 - 2c_1c_2c_3^2 + c_1^3c_3^2 &= 0\\ 2c_1^2c_2^2c_3 - c_1^4c_2c_3 - c_1c_2c_3^2 + c_1^3c_3^2 &= 0\\ 2c_1^2c_2^2c_3 - c_1^4c_2c_3 - c_1c_2c_3^2 &= 0\\ 2c_1c_2c_3^2 - c_1^3c_3^2 - c_3^3 &= 0 \end{aligned}$$

(-1)	3	-1	-2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		(c_1^9)	\
0	-1	3	0	-1	-2	0	0	0	0	0	0		$c_1^7 c_2$	
0	0	-1	0	3	0	-1	-2	0	0	0	0		$c_1^5 c_2^2$	
0	0	0	-1	0	3	0	-1	-2	0	0	0		$c_{1}^{6}c_{3}$	
0	0	0	0	0	-1	0	3	0	-1	-2	0		$c_1^3 c_2^3$	
0	-1	2	1	0	-2	0	0	0	0	0	0		$c_1^4 c_2 c_3$	= 0
0	0	-1	0	2	1	0	-2	0	0	0	0		$c_1 c_2^4$	= 0.
0	0	0	0	-1	0	2	1	0	-2	0	0		$c_1^2 c_2^2 c_3$	
0	0	0	0	0	-1	0	2	1	0	-2	0		$c_1^3 c_3^2$	
0	0	0	-1	0	2	0	0	-1	0	0	0		$c_{2}^{3}c_{3}$	
0	0	0	0	0	-1	0	2	0	0	-1	0		$c_1 c_2 c_3^2$	1
0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-1	0	2	-1	/	$\begin{pmatrix} c_3^3 \end{pmatrix}$	/

Row reduction gives

$$\begin{array}{c} c_1^9 = 42c_3^3 \\ c_1^7 c_2 = 21c_3^3 \\ c_1^5 c_2^2 = 11c_3^3 \\ c_1^6 c_3 = 5c_3^3 \\ c_1^3 c_2^3 = 6c_3^3 \\ c_1^4 c_2 c_3 = 3c_3^3 \end{array} \qquad \begin{array}{c} c_1 c_2^4 = 3c_3^2 \\ c_1^2 c_2^2 c_3 = 2c_3^2 \\ c_1^2 c_2^2 c_3 = 2c_3^2 \\ c_1^3 c_2^3 = c_3^3 \\ c_1^2 c_2^3 = c_3^3 \\ c_1 c_2 c_3^2 = c_3^3 \end{array}$$

Since $c_3^3 = 1$ by Corollary 4.3.11 we have the relations in the lemma.

We are now ready to give a proof of Theorem 4.4.1 on page 47.

Proof of Theorem 4.4.1. We want to prove that there is a common 3-dimensional isotropic subspace for a basis of matrices in W. Let A_1 , A_2 and A_3 be a basis for W. The basis matrices A_1 , A_2 and A_3 has a common isotropic subspace if the intersection

$$c_3(\wedge^2(\mathcal{U}^*))^3$$

is non empty, which is the case. Indeed,

$$(c_1c_2 - c_3)^3 = c_1^3 c_2^3 - 3c_1^2 c_2^2 c_3 + 3c_1 c_2 c_3^2 - c_3^3$$

= $6c_3^3 - 3 \cdot 2c_3^3 + 3c_3^3 - c_3^3$
= $2c_3^3$
= 2.

This means that A_1 , A_2 and A_3 have two common 3-dimensional isotropic subspaces.

Remark 4.4.6. Let I be the ideal generated by the relations in Lemma 4.4.4. Then I is the is the apolar ideal of a homogeneous polynomial f in c_1, c_2 and c_3 of degree 6. We want to show this by finding the polynomial f. Our strategy is to use the relations in Lemma 4.4.4 as a differentiation operator on a polynomial with unknown coefficients. We then get a linear system of relations between the coefficients of the polynomial which we solve using row reduction. Let

$$f = a_0 c_1^9 + a_1 c_1^7 c_2 + a_2 c_1^6 c_3 + a_3 c_1^5 c_2^2 + a_4 c_1^4 c_2 c_3 + a_5 c_1^3 c_2^3 + a_6 c_1^3 c_3^2 + a_7 c_1^2 c_2^2 c_3 + a_8 c_1 c_2^4 + a_9 c_1 c_2 c_3^2 + a_{10} c_2^3 c_3 + a_{11} c_3^3 c_3^3 + a_{11} c_{11}^2 c_{11}^2$$

be a polynomial, where $a_i \in \mathbb{Z}$. We will now differentiate f with respect to each of the relations in Lemma 4.4.4. We consider the relations as polynomials in $\mathbb{Z}[d_1, d_2, d_3]$. We start with the first relation.

Let
$$g_1 = 3d_1^2d_2 - 2d_1d_3 - d_1^4 - d_2^2$$
. Then

$$f(g_1) = 126a_1c_1^5 + 120a_3c_1^3c_2 + 36a_4c_1^2c_3 + 54a_5c_1c_2^2 + 12a_7c_2c_3 - 12a_2c_1^5 - 8a_4c_1^3c_2 - 12a_6c_1^2c_3 - 4a_7c_1c_2^2 - 4a_9c_2c_3 - 3024a_0c_1^5 - 840a_1c_1^3c_2 - 360a_2c_1^2c_3 - 120a_3c_1c_2^2 - 24a_4c_2c_3 - 2a_3c_1^5 - 6a_5c_1^3c_2 - 2a_7c_1^2c_3 - 12a_8c_1c_2^2 - 6a_{10}c_2c_3$$

Gathering the coefficients of each of the monomials $c_1^5, c_1^3c_2, c_1^2c_3, c_1c_2^2$ and c_2c_3 gives the following relations between the coefficients for g_1 to be apolar to f.

$$-3024a_0 + 126a_1 - 12a_2 - 2a_3 = 0, (4.18)$$

$$-840a_1 + 120a_3 - 8a_4 - 6a_5 = 0, (4.19)$$

$$-360a_2 + 36a_4 - 12a_6 - 2a_7 = 0, (4.20)$$

$$-120a_3 + 54a_5 - 4a_7 - 12a_8 = 0, (4.21)$$

$$-24a_4 + 12a_7 - 4a_9 - 6a_{10} = 0. (4.22)$$

Let now
$$g_2 = d_1 d_2^2 - d_1^3 d_2 - 2d_2 d_3 + d_1^2 d_3$$
. Then

$$f(g_2) = 20a_3c_1^4 + 36a_5c_1^2c_2 + 8a_7c_1c_3 + 24a_8c_2^2$$

$$- 210a_1c_1^4 - 120a_3c_1^2c_2 - 24a_4c_1c_3 - 18a_5c_2^2$$

$$- 2a_4c_1^4 - 4a_7c_1^2c_2 - 4a_9c_1c_3 - 6a_{10}c_2^2$$

$$+ 30a_2c_1^4 + 12a_4c_1^2c_2 + 12a_6c_1c_3 + 2a_7c_2^2$$

Gathering the coefficients of each of the monomials $c_1^4, c_1^2c_2, c_1c_3$ and c_2^2 gives the following relations between the coefficients for g_2 to be apolar to f.

$$-210a_1 + +30a_2 + 20a_3 - 2a_4 = 0, (4.23)$$

$$-120a_3 + 12a_4 + 36a_5 - 4a_7 = 0, (4.24)$$

$$-24a_4 + 12a_6 + 8a_7 - 4a_9 = 0, (4.25)$$

$$-18a_5 + 2a_7 + 24a_8 - 6a_{10} = 0. (4.26)$$

Let now $g_3 = 2d_1d_2d_3 - d_1^3d_3 - d_3^2$. Then

$$f(g_3) = 8a_4c_1^3 + 8a_7c_1c_2 + 4a_9c_3$$

- 120a_2c_1^3 - 24a_4c_1c_2 - 12a_6c_3
- 2a_6c_1^3 - 2a_9c_1c_2 - 6a_{11}c_3

Gathering the coefficients of each of the monomials c_1^3, c_1c_2 and c_3 gives the following relations between the coefficients for g_3 to be apolar to f.

$$-120a_2 + 8a_4 - 2a_6 = 0 \tag{4.27}$$

$$-24a_4 + 8a_7 - 2a_9 = 0 \tag{4.28}$$

$$-12a_6 + 4a_9 - 6a_{11} = 0 \tag{4.29}$$

(-3024)	126	-12	-2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 \	$\left(a_0 \right)$	
0	-840	0	120	-8	-6	0	0	0	0	0	0	a_1	
0	0	-360	0	36	0	-12	-2	0	0	0	0	a_2	
0	0	0	-120	0	54	0	-4	-12	0	0	0	a_3	
0	0	0	0	-24	0	0	12	0	-4	-6	0	a_4	
0	-210	30	20	-2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	a_5	_ 0
0	0	0	-120	12	36	0	-4	0	0	0	0	a_6	-0.
0	0	0	0	-24	0	12	8	0	-4	0	0	a_7	
0	0	0	0	0	-18	0	2	24	0	-6	0	a_8	
0	0	-120	0	8	0	-2	0	0	0	0	0	a_9	
0	0	0	0	-24	0	0	8	0	-2	0	0	a_{10}	
0	0	0	0	0	0	-12	0	0	4	0	-6/	$\left(\left\langle a_{11} \right\rangle \right)$	

We make the coefficient matrix of the system of equations from from the relations 4.18-4.29.

Row reducing this matrix and setting $a_{11} = \frac{1}{6}$ gives the solutions

$$a_{0} = \frac{42}{9!}$$

$$a_{1} = \frac{21}{7!}$$

$$a_{2} = \frac{5}{6!}$$

$$a_{3} = \frac{11}{5!2!}$$

$$a_{4} = \frac{3}{4!}$$

$$a_{5} = \frac{6}{3!3!}$$

$$a_{6} = \frac{1}{3!2!}$$

$$a_{7} = \frac{2}{2!2!}$$

$$a_{7} = \frac{2}{2!2!}$$

$$a_{8} = \frac{3}{4!}$$

$$a_{9} = \frac{1}{2!}$$

$$a_{10} = \frac{1}{3!}$$

We recognize the numerator of the coefficients as the number of points we get when intersecting the given Chern classes, and the denominator as the factorial of the degree of each variable c_i . This means that differentiating the polynomial with respect to a variable $c_1^i c_2^j c_3^k$ where i + j + k = 9, gives the number of intersection points of $c_1^i c_2^j c_3^k$.

4.4.3 Skew Symmetric Matrices of Dimension 9

The result in dimension 9 is the following

Theorem 4.4.7. Let W be a 3-dimensional vector space of 9×9 skew symmetric matrices. Then there exists a surface of degree 38 of 4-dimensional isotropic subspaces to W.

We will now prove this theorem, but first we need four lemmas.

Lemma 4.4.8. Let W be a 3-dimensional vector space of 9×9 skew symmetric matrix and let U be an isotropic subspace for W. Then we can choose a row basis for W such that $a_{67} = a_{68} = a_{69} = a_{78} = a_{79} = a_{89} = 0$ for every matrix i W.

Proof. Let the row basis be such that for $u, v, w, t \in U$ we have that

$$\begin{split} & u = (0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 1, 0, 0, 0), \\ & v = (0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 1, 0, 0), \\ & w = (0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 1, 0), \\ & t = (0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 1). \end{split}$$

Pick $A \in W$. Then

 $uAv^{T} = a_{67},$ $uAw^{T} = a_{68},$ $uAt^{T} = a_{69},$ $vAw^{T} = a_{78},$ $vAt^{T} = a_{79},$ $wAt^{T} = a_{89}.$

As a consequence, $a_{67} = a_{68} = a_{69} = a_{78} = a_{79} = a_{89} = 0$ if $uAv^T = 0$ for all $u, v \in U$.

By Proposition 4.3.13, the equivalence class of the set of all 4-dimensional isotropic subspaces to a 9×9 skew symmetric matrix is $c_6(\wedge^2 \mathcal{U}^*)$. We now express $c_6(\wedge^2 \mathcal{U}^*)$ in terms of the Chern classes of \mathcal{U}^* by using the following

Lemma 4.4.9. Let \mathcal{E} be a rank 4 vector bundle. Let c_i be the Chern classes for \mathcal{E} and d_i the Chern classes for $\wedge^2 \mathcal{E}$. Then $d_6 = c_1 c_2 c_3 - c_1^2 c_4 - c_3^2$.

Proof. We use the strategy we used in Lemma 4.3.16. Since \mathcal{U} is a rank 4 vector bundle, we get that

$$c_{1} = \alpha + \beta + \gamma + \delta,$$

$$c_{2} = \alpha\beta + \alpha\gamma + \alpha\delta + \beta\gamma + \beta\delta + \gamma\delta$$

$$c_{3} = \alpha\beta\gamma + \alpha\beta\delta + \beta\gamma\delta,$$

$$c_{4} = \alpha\beta\gamma\delta,$$

where $\alpha, \beta, \gamma, \delta$ are the Chern roots of \mathcal{U} . We have that

$$d_6 = (\alpha + \beta)(\alpha + \gamma)(\alpha + \delta)(\beta + \gamma)(\beta + \delta)(\gamma + \delta).$$

We have used Macaulay2 to check that d_6 and $c_1c_2c_3 - c_1^2c_4 - c_3^2$ are equal.

Next we compute the number of points the 0-dimensional. First we prove a lemma about the relation between the Chern classes of \mathcal{U}^* .

Lemma 4.4.10. Let G = G(4,9) and let c_1, c_2, c_3, c_4 be the Chern classes for \mathcal{U}^* . We then have the following relations.

$$3c_1^2c_4 - 2c_2c_4 + 6c_1c_2c_3 - 4c_1^3c_3 - c_3^2 - 6c_1^2c_2^2 + c_2^3 + 5c_1^4c_2 - c_1^6 = 0$$

$$4c_1c_2c_4 - c_1^3c_4 - 2c_3c_4 + 2c_1c_3^2 - 6c_1^2c_2c_3 + 3c_2^2c_3 + c_1^4c_3 - 3c_1c_2^3 + 4c_1^3c_2^2 - c_1^5c_2 = 0$$

$$4c_1c_3c_4 - c_4^2 - 3c_1^2c_2c_4 + c_2^2c_4 + c_1^4c_4 - 3c_1^2c_3^2 + 2c_2c_3^2 - 3c_1c_2^2c_3 + 4c_1^3c_2c_3 - c_1^5c_3 = 0$$

$$2c_1c_4^2 - 3c_1c_3c_4 + 2c_2c_3c_4 - 3c_1c_2^2c_4 + 4c_1^3c_2c_4 - c_1^5c_4 = 0$$

Proof. We use the strategy described above and get:

$$c_{t}(\mathcal{Q})c_{t}(\mathcal{U}^{*}) = 1 + (c_{1} + d_{1})t + (d_{2} + c_{1}d_{1} + c_{2})t^{2} + (d_{3} + c_{1}d_{2} + c_{2}d_{1} + c_{3})t^{3} + (d_{4} + c_{1}d_{3} + c_{2}d_{2} + c_{3}d_{1} + c_{4})t^{4} + (d_{5} + c_{1}d_{4} + c_{2}d_{3} + c_{3}d_{2} + c_{4}d_{1})t^{5} + (c_{1}d_{5} + c_{2}d_{4} + c_{3}d_{3} + c_{4}d_{2})t^{6} + (c_{2}d_{5} + c_{3}d_{4} + c_{4}d_{3})t^{7} + (c_{3}d_{5} + c_{4}d_{4})t^{8} + c_{4}d_{5}t^{9} = 1$$

where d_i are the Chern classes of Q. The equality holds if and only if the following equalities hold:

$$c_{1} + d_{1} = 0,$$

$$d_{2} + c_{1}d_{1} + c_{2} = 0,$$

$$d_{3} + c_{1}d_{2} + c_{2}d_{1} + c_{3} = 0,$$

$$d_{4} + c_{1}d_{3} + c_{2}d_{2} + c_{3}d_{1} + c_{4} = 0,$$

$$d_{5} + c_{1}d_{4} + c_{2}d_{3} + c_{3}d_{2} + c_{4}d_{1} = 0,$$

$$c_{1}d_{5} + c_{2}d_{4} + c_{3}d_{3} + c_{4}d_{2} = 0,$$

$$c_{2}d_{5} + c_{3}d_{4} + c_{4}d_{3} = 0,$$

$$c_{3}d_{5} + c_{4}d_{4} = 0,$$

$$c_{4}d_{5} = 0.$$

Solving these equation recursively gives the relations in the lemma.

Proposition 4.4.11. Let G = G(4,9) and let c_1, c_2, c_3, c_4 be the Chern classes for \mathcal{U}^* . We then have the following number of intersection points.

$$\begin{array}{c} c_1^8 c_4^3 = 14 \\ c_1^5 c_2 c_3^3 c_4 = 59 \\ c_1^7 c_2 c_3 c_4^2 = 49 \\ c_1^6 c_2^2 c_3^2 c_4 = 164 \\ c_1^5 c_2^3 c_3^3 = 539 \\ c_1^5 c_2^3 c_3^3 = 539 \\ c_1^4 c_2^2 c_3^3 = 175 \end{array}$$

Proof. We follow the same strategy as in the proof of Proposition 4.4.5, that is we multiply the relations in Lemma 4.4.10 with all monomials of degree 14, 13, 12 and 11, respectively. We use the program in Listing 10.1. There are 47 monomials of degree 14, 38 of degree 13, 34 of degree 12 and 27 of degree 11. This gives 146 relations. There are 134 monomials of degree 20, so in summary we get a matrix of dimension 146×134 . After row reducing this matrix we pick out the relations

$c_1^8 c_4^3 = 14 c_4^5$	$c_1^5 c_2 c_3^3 c_4 = 59 c_4^5$
$c_1^7 c_2 c_3 c_4^2 = 49 c_4^5$	$c_1^6 c_3^2 c_4^2 = 19 c_4^5$
$c_1^6 c_2^2 c_3^2 c_4 = 164 c_4^5$	$c_1^3 c_2 c_3^5 = 59 c_4^5$
$c_1^5 c_2^3 c_3^3 = 539 c_4^5$	$c_1^4 c_3^4 c_4 = 24 c_4^5$
$c_1^4 c_2^2 c_3^4 = 175 c_4^5$	$c_1^2 c_3^6 = 19 c_4^5$

Since $c_4^5 = 1$ by Corollary 4.3.11 we get the relations in the propositions.

We are now ready to give a proof of Theorem 4.4.7 on page 52.

Proof of Theorem 4.4.1. We want to prove that there is a common 3-dimensional isotropic subspace for a basis of matrices in W. Let A_1 , A_2 and A_3 be a basis for W. The basis matrices A_1 , A_2 and A_3 has a common isotropic subspace if the intersection

$$c_3(\wedge^2(\mathcal{U}^*))^3$$

is non empty, which is the case. Indeed,

$$(c_1c_2c_3 - c1^2c_4 - c_3^2)^3 = c_1^3c_2^3c_3^3 - 3c_1^4c_2^2c_3^2c_4 + 3c_1^5c_2c_3c_4^2 - c_1^6c_4^3 - 3c_1^2c_2^2c_3^4 + 6c_1^3c_2c_3^3c_4 - 3c_1^4c_3^2c_4^2 + 3c_1c_2c_3^5 - 3c_1^2c_3^4c_4 - c_3^6$$

The degree is

$$\begin{aligned} c_1^2(c_1c_2c_3 - c1^2c_4 - c_3^2)^3 = & c_1^5c_2^3c_3^3 - 3c_1^6c_2^2c_3^2c_4 + 3c_1^7c_2c_3c_4^2 - c_1^8c_4^3 - 3c_1^4c_2^2c_3^4 \\ &+ 6c_1^5c_2c_3^3c_4 - 3c_1^6c_3^2c_4^2 + 3c_1^3c_2c_5^3 - 3c_1^4c_3^4c_4 - c_1^2c_3^6 \\ = & 539 - 3 \cdot 164 + 3 \cdot 49 - 14 - 3 \cdot 175 \\ &+ 6 \cdot 59 - 3 \cdot 19 + 3 \cdot 59 - 3\dot{2}4 - 19 \\ = & 38 \end{aligned}$$

This means that A_1 , A_2 and A_3 have a surface of degree 38 of common 4-dimensional isotropic subspaces.

5 | Finite Schemes in \mathbb{P}^2

In this chapter we explain how we can relate a zero-dimensional ideal I_{Γ} to the apolar ideal F^{\perp} of a ternary sextic form F. To find the cactus rank of F, we are looking for minimal schemes Γ such that $I_{\Gamma} \subset F^{\perp}$. In particular, we are interested in the ideals I_{Γ} that are generated by a subset of the generators of F^{\perp} .

The chapter is organized as follows. First, in Section 5.1, we introduce a structure theorem for zero-dimensional ideals I_{Γ} of schemes $\Gamma \mathbb{P}^2$ and investigate some properties of the set of schemes. Then we use the structure theorem to associate a *degree matrix* to some specially chosen schemes. Lastly, in Section 5.2, we go through each of the Betti strata \mathcal{F}_B (recall Definition 1.1.6 on page 3) and prove which type of I_{Γ} that will appear as a subideal of F^{\perp} for an $[F] \in \mathcal{F}_B$. In Chapter 6, we prove that the subideal we find, actually will by a minimal subideal of F^{\perp} for an F.

5.1 Hilbert–Burch Matrices of some Finite Schemes in \mathbb{P}^2

We have the following structure theorem for finite schemes in \mathbb{P}^2 .

Theorem 5.1.1. [Eis06, Theorem 20.15 and p. 503] Let $\Gamma \subset \mathbb{P}^2$ be a finite scheme. Then $I_{\Gamma} \subset T = \mathbb{C}[y_0, y_1, y_2]$ is generated by the $(\beta - 1) \times (\beta - 1)$ minors of a $(\beta - 1) \times \beta$ matrix, A_{Γ} . The resolution of I_{Γ} is

 $0 \longrightarrow T^{\beta-1} \xrightarrow{A_{\Gamma}} T^{\beta} \longrightarrow I_{\Gamma} \longrightarrow 0.$

If A_{Γ} is a $(\beta - 1) \times \beta$ matrix where the $(\beta - 1) \times (\beta - 1)$ minors have no common factor, then the minors generate the ideal of a finite scheme.

The finite schemes of length d in \mathbb{P}^2 are parameterized by the *Hilbert scheme*

$$\operatorname{Hilb}_{d} \mathbb{P}^{2} = \{ \Gamma \subset \mathbb{P}^{2} : \Gamma \text{ has length } d \},\$$

[Gro61]. Now, we describe a subscheme of $\operatorname{Hilb}_d \mathbb{P}^2$. Let $P = (p_{ij})$ be a $(\beta - 1) \times \beta$ matrix where $p_{ij} \in \mathbb{C}[y_0, y_1, y_2]$ is a homogeneous polynomial. Let the *degree matrix* be the matrix $M_C = (m_{ij})$, where $m_{ij} = \deg p_{ij}$. Since the Hilbert polynomial of I_{Γ} is determined by the degree matrix of A_{Γ} , every scheme Γ of an ideal I_{Γ} that is generated by a matrix P with degree matrix M_C has the same length. Therefore, we define

$$\operatorname{Hilb}_d^C = \{\Gamma \in \operatorname{Hilb}_d \mathbb{P}^2 : A_\Gamma \text{ has degree matrix } M_C\} \subset \operatorname{Hilb}_d \mathbb{P}^2$$

We will prove that Hilb_d^C is irreducible. In order to do that we need some definitions and results. Let $\alpha = (\alpha_0, \ldots, \alpha_n)$, where $|\alpha| = \alpha_0 + \cdots + \alpha_n$ and $x^{\alpha} = x_0^{\alpha_0} \ldots x_n^{\alpha_n}$. We write $F_i = \sum_{|\alpha|=d_i} c_{i,\alpha} x^{\alpha}$ for a homogeneous polynomial of degree d_i . Given a polynomial $P \in \mathbb{C}[u_{i,\alpha}]$ we let $P(F_1, \ldots, F_n)$ denote the number obtained by replacing the variable $u_{i,\alpha}$ by the corresponding coefficient $c_{i,\alpha}$. We say that P is a polynomial in the coefficients of the F_i . **Theorem 5.1.2.** [CL005, (2.3) Theorem] Let $F_0, \ldots, F_n \in \mathbb{C}[x_0, \ldots, x_n]$ be homogeneous polynomials. Then the exists a unique polynomial $\text{Res} \in \mathbb{Z}[u_{i,\alpha}]$ such that $F_0 = \cdots = F_n = 0$ has a nontrivial solution over \mathbb{C} if and only if $\text{Res}(F_0, \ldots, F_n) = 0$.

Lemma 5.1.3. Fix a degree matrix M_C and let V_C be the vector space of $(\beta - 1) \times \beta$ matrices $P = (p_{ij})$, where $p_{ij} \in T = \mathbb{C}[y_0, y_1, y_2]$ are homogeneous, with degree matrix M_C . Let V_C^0 be the subset of V_C consisting of the matrices where the $(\beta - 1) \times (\beta - 1)$ minors has no common factor. Then V_C^0 is irreducible.

Proof. Since the degree of the polynomials in the entries of $P \in V_C$ are fixed, the total number N of coefficients of the polynomials are also fixed. Then there is a 1-1-correspondence between points in \mathbb{A}^N and matrices in V_C . We will prove that V_C^0 is open subset, and thus irreducible, by proving that the complement is closed.

Fix P and let I_P be the ideal of the $(\beta - 1) \times (\beta - 1)$ minors of P. If there is a common factor between the $(\beta - 1) \times (\beta - 1)$ minors, there is also a common factor between the generators of every 2-dimensional subspace of I_P . Let L be a general linear form and let F_1 and F_2 be generators for a 2-dimensional subspace of I_P . Then $F_1 = F_2 = L = 0$ has a non-trivial solution if and only if F_1 and F_2 has a common factor. By Theorem 5.1.2, this is fulfilled if and only if $\operatorname{Res}(F_1, F_2, L) = 0$. Since $\operatorname{Res}(F_1, F_2, L)$ is a polynomial in the coefficients of F_i and L, and F_i are determined by the coefficients of p_{ij} , we get one polynomial R in the coefficients of p_{ij} for each 2-dimensional subspace and for each linear form. There is a common factor between the generators of I_P if and only if the ideal spanned by the polynomials R vanish. The subset of V_C where the coefficients satisfies this condition is closed. This shows that the complement, V_C^0 , is open. Since an open subset of \mathbb{A}^1 is irreducible, and $V_C^0 \subset V_C \simeq \mathbb{A}^1$, V_C^0 is irreducible.

Proposition 5.1.4. The subscheme $\operatorname{Hilb}_d^C \subset \operatorname{Hilb}_d \mathbb{P}^2$ is irreducible.

Proof. Consider the surjective map ϕ given by

$$\phi: V_C^0 \to \operatorname{Hilb}_d^C$$
$$P \mapsto \Gamma_P,$$

where Γ_P is the scheme corresponding to I_P generated by the $(\beta - 1) \times (\beta - 1)$ minors of P. The map is well-defined since, by assumption, the $(\beta - 1) \times (\beta - 1)$ minors have no common factor, and by Theorem 5.1.1, I_P is the ideal of a finite scheme. The map is indeed surjective, since every finite scheme has a corresponding Hilbert Burch matrix, Theorem 5.1.1. Since Hilb^C_d is the image under a map and V^0_C is irreducible, then Hilb^C_d is irreducible.

5.1.1 Finite Schemes in \mathbb{P}^2 of Length 4 and 5

In this section we describe and classify all matrices that is a degree matrix of a Hilbert–Burch matrix of I_{Γ} where Γ is of length four or five.

We recall a special case of Bezout's theorem.

Theorem 5.1.5. [BE77, Corollary 7.8] Let $F_1, F_2 \subset T = \mathbb{C}[y_0, y_1, y_2]$ and let $C_1 = V(F_1)$ and $C_2 = V(F_2)$ be two curves in \mathbb{P}^2 degree d and d', where F_1 and F_2 have no common factor. Assume that C_1 and C_2 intersect transversely. Then the Hilbert polynomial of $T/\langle F_1, F_2 \rangle$ is dd'.

When two curves fulfill the condition in Bezout's theorem we say that they intersect in a complete intersection (CI).

Now, we state and prove some lemmas about ideal of finite schemes that we will use to prove the main result about the degree matrices.

Let I and J be two ideals. Then the set $(I : J) = \{r \in T : rs \in I \text{ for all } s \in J\}$ is called the *colon ideal* of I and J. The scheme defined by the colon ideal is called the *residual scheme*.

Lemma 5.1.6. Let $I_{\Gamma_j} \subset I_{\Gamma_i}$ be ideals of schemes of length *i* and *j*, respectively. Then $(I_{\Gamma_j} : I_{\Gamma_i}) = I_{\Gamma_{j-i}}$. If $\operatorname{Supp}(I_{\Gamma_{j-i}} \cap I_{\Gamma_i}) = \emptyset$, then $I_{\Gamma_{j-i}}$ is the ideal of a subscheme of Γ_j not containing Γ_i .

Proof. Let $p \in I_{\Gamma_{j-i}}$ and $q \in I_{\Gamma_i}$. Then $pq \in I_{\Gamma_j}$. For the other implication, let $r \in T$ be such that $r \in (I_{\Gamma_j} : I_{\Gamma_i})$ and $s \in I_{\Gamma_i}$, while $s \notin I_{\Gamma_{j-i}}$. Then $rs \in I_{\Gamma_j}$, thus $r \in I_{\Gamma_{j-i}}$.

Lemma 5.1.7. Let I_{Γ_4} be an ideal of a scheme of length four generated by two quadratic forms with a common linear factor, L, and one cubic form that does not has L as a factor. Then there exists linear forms L_1 and L_2 and quadratic forms Q_1 and Q_2 such that $I_{\Gamma_4} = \langle LL_1, LL_2, Q_2L_1 + L_2Q_1 \rangle$.

Proof. Pick a quadratic form $LL_1 \in I_{\Gamma_4}$ and a cubic form $K \in I_{\Gamma_4}$ such that LL_1 and K has no common factor. Consider $I_{\Gamma_6} = \langle LL_1, K \rangle$, which is the ideal of a scheme of length six containing Γ_4 . Then there exists a scheme $\Gamma_2 \subset \Gamma_6$ of length two not containing Γ_4 generated by L_1 and a quadratic form Q_1 , i.e. $\langle L_1, Q_1 \rangle = I_{\Gamma_2}$. Since $I_{\Gamma_6} \subset I_{\Gamma_2}$, we can find a linear form L_2 and a quadratic form Q_2 such that $K = Q_2L_1 + L_2Q_1$. Consider the matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} L_1 & 0 & -L_2 \\ Q_1 & L & Q_2 \end{pmatrix}.$$

The minors of the matrix generate I_{Γ_4} . Indeed, two of the minors are $LL_1 \in I_{\Gamma_4}$ and $K \in I_{\Gamma_4}$ and the last minor is LL_2 . We want to show that $LL_2 \in (I_{\Gamma_6} : I_{\Gamma_2}) = I_{\Gamma_4}$. We show this by direct computations on the generators L_1 and Q_1 . Indeed, we have that $(LL_2)L_1 = (LL_1)L_2 \in I_{\Gamma_6}$. For the product $(LL_2)Q_1$, consider the determinant of the following matrix:

$$\begin{pmatrix} Q_1 & L & Q_2 \ L_1 & 0 & -L_2 \ Q_1 & L & Q_2 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Since two rows are equal, the determinant equals zero. We get that

$$Q_1LL_2 - LK + Q_2LL_1 = 0$$
$$Q_1LL_2 = LK - Q_2LL_1,$$

which gives that $(LL_2)Q_1 \in I_{\Gamma_6}$ and $LL_2 \in (I_{\Gamma_6} : I_{\Gamma_2})$. Since $\langle LL_1, LL_2, Q_2L_1 + L_2Q_1 \rangle$ is the ideal of a scheme of length four, we have that $\langle LL_1, LL_2, Q_2L_1 + L_2Q_1 \rangle = I_{\Gamma_4}$.

Lemma 5.1.8. Let I_{Γ_5} be an ideal of a scheme of length five generated by one quadratic form and two cubic forms that have no common factor. Then there exists linear forms L_1, L_2, L_3 and L_4 and quadratic forms Q_1 and Q_2 such that $I_{\Gamma_5} = \langle L_1L_3 + L_2L_4, Q_1L_1 + Q_2L_2, L_3Q_2 - L_4Q_1 \rangle$.

Proof. Pick a quadratic form $Q \in I_{\Gamma_5}$ and a cubic form $K \in I_{\Gamma_5}$ such that Q and K has no common factor. Consider $I_{\Gamma_6} = \langle Q, K \rangle$, which is the ideal of a scheme of length six containing Γ_5 . Then there exists a scheme $\Gamma_1 \subset \Gamma_6$ of length one not containing Γ_5 generated by two linear forms L_1 and L_2 , i.e. $\langle L_1, L_2 \rangle = I_{\Gamma_1}$. Since $I_{\Gamma_6} \subset I_{\Gamma_1}$, we can find linear forms L_3 and L_4 , and quadratic forms Q_1 and Q_2 such that

$$Q = L_3L_1 + L_4L_2,$$

$$K = Q_1L_1 + Q_2L_2.$$

Consider the matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} L_1 & -L_4 & -Q_2 \\ L_2 & L_3 & Q_1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

The minors of the matrix generate I_{Γ_5} . Indeed, two of the minors are $Q \in I_{\Gamma_5}$ and $K \in I_{\Gamma_5}$ and the last minor is $L_3Q_2 - L_4Q_1$. We want to show that $L_3Q_2 - L_4Q_1 \in (I_{\Gamma_6} : I_{\Gamma_1}) = I_{\Gamma_5}$. Indeed,

$$Q_2Q - L_4K = Q_2(L_3L_1 + L_4L_2) - L_4(Q_1L_1 + Q_2L_2),$$

= $Q_2L_3L_1 - L_4Q_1L_1,$
= $(Q_2L_3 - L_4Q_1)L_1,$

so $(Q_2L_3 - L_4Q_1)L_1 \in I_{\Gamma_6}$. To show that $(Q_2L_3 - L_4Q_1)L_2 \in I_{\Gamma_6}$, consider the determinant of the following matrix:

$$\begin{pmatrix} L_2 & L_3 & Q_1 \\ L_1 & -L_4 & -Q_2 \\ L_2 & L_3 & Q_1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Since two rows are equal, the determinant equals zero. We get that

$$L_2(Q_2L_3 - Q_1L_4) - L_3K + Q_1Q = 0$$
$$L_2(Q_2L_3 - Q_1L_4) = L_3K - Q_1Q,$$

which gives that $(Q_2L_3 - Q_1L_4)L_2 \in I_{\Gamma_6}$ and $(Q_2L_3 - Q_1L_4) \in (I_{\Gamma_6} : I_{\Gamma_1})$. Since $\langle L_1L_3 + L_2L_4, Q_1L_1 + Q_2L_2, L_3Q_2 - L_4Q_1 \rangle$ is the ideal of a scheme of length five, we have that $\langle L_1L_3 + L_2L_4, Q_1L_1 + Q_2L_2, L_3Q_2 - L_4Q_1 \rangle = I_{\Gamma_5}$.

Lemma 5.1.9. Let I_{Γ_5} be an ideal of a scheme of length five generated by two quadratic forms with a common linear factor L and one quartic form which does not has L as a factor. Then there exists linear forms L_1 and L_2 and cubic forms K_1 and K_2 such that $I_{\Gamma_5} = \langle LL_1, LL_2, K_1L_2 + K_2L_1 \rangle$.

Proof. Pick a quadratic form $LL_1 \in I_{\Gamma_5}$ and a cubic form $P \in I_{\Gamma_5}$ such that LL_1 and P has no common factor. Consider $I_{\Gamma_8} = \langle LL_1, P \rangle$, which is the ideal of a scheme of length eight containing Γ_5 . Then there exists a scheme $\Gamma_3 \subset \Gamma_8$ of length three not containing Γ_5 generated by L_1 and a cubic form K_1 , i.e. $\langle L_1, K_1 \rangle = I_{\Gamma_3}$. Since $I_{\Gamma_8} \subset I_{\Gamma_3}$, we can find a linear form L_2 and a cubic form K_2 such that $P = K_2L_1 + L_2K_1$. Consider the matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} L_1 & 0 & -L_2 \\ K_1 & L & K_2 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Now, we show that the minors of the matrix generate I_{Γ_5} . Two of the minors are $LL_1 \in I_{\Gamma_5}$ and $K \in I_{\Gamma_5}$ and the last minor is LL_2 . We want to show that $LL_2 \in (I_{\Gamma_8} : I_{\Gamma_3}) = I_{\Gamma_5}$. We show this by direct computations on the generators L_1 and K_1 . Indeed, we have that $(LL_2)L_1 = (LL_1)L_2 \in I_{\Gamma_8}$. For the product $(LL_2)K_1$, consider the determinant of the following matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} K_1 & L & K_2 \\ L_1 & 0 & -L_2 \\ K_1 & L & K_2 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Since two rows are equal, the determinant equals zero. We get that

$$K_1LL_2 - LP + K_2LL_1 = 0$$
$$K_1LL_2 = LP - K_2LL_1.$$

which gives that $(LL_2)K_1 \in I_{\Gamma_8}$ and $LL_2 \in (I_{\Gamma_8} : I_{\Gamma_3})$. Since $\langle LL_1, LL_2, K_2L_1 + L_2K_1 \rangle$ is the ideal of a scheme of length five, we have that $\langle LL_1, LL_2, K_2L_1 + L_2K_1 \rangle = I_{\Gamma_5}$.

Now, we are ready to state the two results where we classify every degree matrix of a Hilbert–Burch matrix of an ideal of a finite scheme of length four and five.

Proposition 5.1.10. A Hilbert–Burch matrix of an ideal of a scheme of length four in \mathbb{P}^2 has one of the following degree matrices

$$i) \begin{pmatrix} 2 & 2 \end{pmatrix} \qquad \qquad ii) \begin{pmatrix} 2 & 2 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \qquad \qquad iii) \begin{pmatrix} 4 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

Proof. A scheme Γ of length four gives four linear conditions on the coordinates of the quadratic forms, thus the dimension of the vector space of quadratic forms in the ideal of the scheme is at least 6 - 4 = 2. Assume first that there are two quadratic forms with no common factor. Then, by Theorem 5.1.1, the two quadratic forms generate a complete intersection, the ideal of a scheme of length four that contain Γ , thus they generate the ideal of Γ . The degree matrix of a Hilbert Burch matrix in this case is $(2 \ 2)$. Assume now that the two quadratic forms have a common factor, i.e. they have a common linear factor. The number of cubic forms in the ideal is then at least $10 - 4 - 2 \cdot 3 + 1 = 1$. Assume first that there is no common factor between the two quadratic forms and the cubic form. Then, by Lemma 5.1.7, the degree matrix of a Hilbert–Burch matrix for this ideal is

$$\begin{pmatrix} 2 & 2 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Now, we assume that there is a common factor between the two quadratic forms and the cubic form. The number of quartic forms in the ideal is then at least $15 - 4 - 2 \cdot 6 - 1 \cdot 3 + 1 \cdot 6 - 1 = 1$. Thus, the ideal of the scheme is generated by a quartic form and a linear form. We get the degree matrix $\begin{pmatrix} 4 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$.

Corollary 5.1.11. The ideal of a scheme of length four in \mathbb{P}^2 has one of the following Betti tables.

1			1			1	1	-
T	-	-	T	-	-	_	_	_
-	2	-	-	2	1			
_	_	1	_	1	1	-	-	-
		Ŧ		-	T	-	1	1

Proposition 5.1.12. A Hilbert-Burch matrix of an ideal of a scheme of length five in \mathbb{P}^2 has one of the following degree matrices.

$$i) (5 \ 1) \qquad ii) \begin{pmatrix} 2 & 1 & 1 \\ 2 & 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \qquad iii) \begin{pmatrix} 3 & 3 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

Proof. A scheme of length five gives five linear conditions on the coordinates of the quadratic forms and the cubic forms, thus the dimension of the vector space of quadratic forms is at least 6-5=1 and the dimension of the vector space of cubic forms is at least $10-5-1\cdot 3=2$. Assume first that there is no common factor between the quadratic form and the two cubic forms. Then, by Lemma 5.1.8 the degree matrix of a Hilbert–Burch matrix of this ideal is

$$\begin{pmatrix} 2 & 1 & 1 \\ 2 & 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Assume now that there is a common factor between the quadratic form and the two cubic forms. The common factor is a linear form, and if the corresponding line is contained in the scheme, then this linear form is in the ideal and the ideal is generated by a linear form and a quintic form. The degree matrix is then $\begin{pmatrix} 5 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$. If the line is not contained in the scheme, the ideal of the scheme is generated by two quadratic forms both having the linear form as a factor

and a quartic form not having the linear form as a factor. Then, by Lemma 5.1.9 the degree matrix of a Hilbert–Burch matrix of this ideal is

$$\begin{pmatrix} 3 & 3 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Corollary 5.1.13. The ideal of a scheme of length five in \mathbb{P}^2 has one of the following Betti tables.

1	_	_				1	1	-
1	9	1	1	-	-	-	-	-
-	2	T	-	1	-	-	-	-
-	-	-	_	2	2	_	_	-
-	1	1		_	_	_	1	1

5.1.2 Other Finite Schemes in \mathbb{P}^2

In this section we describe the degree matrices of the Hilbert–Burch matrices that will appear as submatrix of a Buchsbaum–Eisenbud matrix. Our results are summarized in Figure 5.1 on the following page. When we say that a scheme Γ consists of d general points, we mean that Γ a point in an open subset of Hilb_d \mathbb{P}^2 .

Lemma 5.1.14. Let each of the $(\beta - 1) \times \beta$ matrices in Figure 5.1 be a degree matrix M_C . Assume P is a matrix with M_C as degree matrix and such that the $(\beta - 1) \times (\beta - 1)$ minors have no common factor. Then the $(\beta - 1) \times (\beta - 1)$ minors of P generate the ideal of scheme Γ of the length given in the table and a general element in Hilb_d^C is smooth. If Γ is a set of distinct points, the configuration of points is given i the table. For each set of points we describe the dimension of the family.

Proof. For the dimension, we will use the same strategy in all cases, expect in case (10). The dimension of the family of points in \mathbb{P}^2 is 2, so the dimension of the family of n points in \mathbb{P}^2 is 2n. Since a line $a_0x_0 + a_1x_1 + a_2x_2$ is determined by a point $(a_0:a_1:a_2) \in \mathbb{P}^2$, the dimension of the family of lines in \mathbb{P}^2 is 2. The dimension of a family of n points, m contained in a line is therefore 2(n-m) + 2 + m. Since a conic $a_0x_0^2 + a_1x_0x_1 + a_2x_0x_2 + a_3x_1^2 + a_4x_1x_2 + a_5x_2^2$ is determined by a point $(a_0:a_1:a_2:a_3:a_4:a_5) \in \mathbb{P}^5$, the dimension of the family of conics in \mathbb{P}^2 is 5. The dimension of a family of n points, m contained in a conic is then 2(n-m) + 5 + m. In case (10), we use that the dimension of the family of cubics in \mathbb{P}^2 are ten, thus two cubics is determined by eight points. Therefore, the dimension of the family of a complete intersection of two cubic is $2\dot{8} = 16$.

If I_{Γ} is the ideal of Γ , the length of Γ can be found by computing the Hilbert polynomial of T/I_{Γ} . In this proof, we will find the length directly by computation on the Hilbert–Burch matrix.

Since being smooth is an open condition, we prove that a general element in Hilb_d^C i smooth for every C by finding one examples of a matrix P that is the Hilbert–Burch matrix of an ideal of a smooth scheme.

Let $L_i, Q_i, K_i, R_i \in \mathbb{C}[x_0, x_1, x_2]$ be general linear, quadratic, cubic and quartic forms, respectively. We will also use the same letters without subscript in some cases. By abuse of notation, we use the same notation for the zero set of the forms.

For almost every case, we have included a picture of curves that intersect in the given configuration of points.

We work through each case:

$\left(\begin{array}{rrr}1&1&1\\1&1&1\end{array}\right)$	$(\begin{array}{ccc} 2 & 2 \end{array})$
1) Three general points, dim 6	2) Four points in a CI, dim 8
$\left(\begin{array}{rrr}2&2&1\\1&1&0\end{array}\right)$	$\left(\begin{array}{rrrr} 3 & 3 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 0 \end{array}\right)$
3) Four points, three on a line, dim 7	4) Five points, four on a line, dim 8
$\begin{pmatrix} 2 & 1 & 1 \\ 2 & 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$ 5) Five general points, dim 10	(23) 6) Six points on a conic, dim 11
$\begin{pmatrix} 3 & 2 & 1 \\ 2 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$	$\begin{pmatrix} 3 & 1 & 1 \\ 3 & 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$
7) Six points, four on a line, dim 10	8) Seven points on a conic, dim 12
$\left(\begin{array}{rrrrr} 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 &$	$\begin{pmatrix} 3 & 3 \end{pmatrix}$
9) Six general points, $\dim 12$	10) Nine points in CI, dim 16
$\left(\begin{array}{rrrr}2&2&2\\1&1&1\end{array}\right)$	$\left(\begin{array}{rrrrr} 2 & 2 & 2 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 \end{array}\right)$
11) Seven general points, dim 14	12) Seven points, four on a line, $\dim 12$
$\left(\begin{array}{rrrr}2&2&1\\2&2&1\end{array}\right)$	$\left(\begin{array}{rrrrr} 2 & 2 & 1 & 1 \\ 2 & 2 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 \end{array}\right)$
13a) Eight general points, dim 16 13b) Eight points, four on a line, dim 14	14) Eight points, seven on a conic, dim 14
$\left(\begin{array}{rrrrr} 2 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 2 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 2 & 1 & 1 & 1 \end{array}\right)$	$\left(\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$
15a) Nine general points, dim 18 15b) Nine general points, four on a line, dim 16 15c) Nine general points, seven on a conic, dim 16	16) Ten points, dim 20

Figure 5.1: Degree matrices of Hilbert–Burch matrices of ideal of finite schemes

(1) Let $L_i \in \mathbb{C}[x_0, x_1, x_2]$ be general linear forms and consider the matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} L_1 & L_2 & L_3 \\ L_4 & L_5 & L_6 \end{pmatrix}$$

Then this is the Hilbert–Burch matrix of an ideal of a scheme consisting of three general points. Indeed, from the three 2×2 minors we get the quadratic forms

$$Q_{1} = L_{1}L_{6} - L_{3}L_{4}$$
$$Q_{2} = L_{2}L_{6} - L_{3}L_{5}$$
$$Q_{3} = L_{1}L_{5} - L_{2}L_{4}$$

Let $p \in \mathbb{P}^2$ be a point on Q_1 . This means that when L_1, L_6, L_3 and L_4 are evaluated in p, then $L_1L_6 - L_3L_4 = 0$. In other words,

$$\det \begin{pmatrix} L_1 & L_3 \\ L_4 & L_6 \end{pmatrix}_p = 0, \tag{5.1}$$

where the subscript p means that L_i are evaluated in p. In the same we get that if $p' \in \mathbb{P}^2$ is a point on Q_2 , then

$$\det \begin{pmatrix} L_2 & L_3 \\ L_5 & L_6 \end{pmatrix}_{p'} = 0.$$
(5.2)

We have from Bezout's theorem that Q_1 and Q_2 intersect in four points. We see from 5.1 and 5.2 that one intersection point is where $L_3 = L_6 = 0$. We want to show that the three other points are intersection points of Q_1, Q_2 and Q_3 . Indeed, we first observe that the point where $L_3 = L_6 = 0$ is not on Q_3 . Second, let $p'' \in Q_1 \cap Q_2$, where $p'' \notin L_3 \cap L_6$. Since the rows of a 2×2 matrix are proportional the determinant of a is zero, we get the relations

$$\begin{split} L_{4_{p''}} &= \lambda L_{1_{p''}}, & L_{5_{p''}} &= \lambda' L_{2_{p''}}, \\ L_{6_{p''}} &= \lambda L_{3_{p''}}, & L_{6_{p''}} &= \lambda' L_{3_{p''}}, \end{split}$$

where $\lambda, \lambda' \in \mathbb{C}$. Since we have assumed $L_{3_{n''}}, L_{6_{n''}} \neq 0$ we get $\lambda = \lambda'$. This gives the relations

$$\begin{split} L_{4_{p''}} &= \lambda L_{1_{p''}}, \\ L_{6_{p''}} &= \lambda L_{3_{p''}}, \\ L_{5_{n''}} &= \lambda L_{2_{n''}}. \end{split}$$

This gives that

$$\det \begin{pmatrix} L_1 & L_2 \\ L_4 & L_5 \end{pmatrix}_{p''} = \det \begin{pmatrix} L_1 & L_2 \\ \lambda L_1 & \lambda L_2 \end{pmatrix}_{p''} = 0.$$

This show that $p'' \in C_3$ and in particular that $p'' \in Q_1 \cap Q_2 \cap Q_3$.

A special case of this type is when the following matrix.

$$\begin{pmatrix} L_1 & 0 & -L_2 \\ -L_1 & L_3 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

Then we get $Q_1 = L_1L_2$, $Q_2 = L_2L_3$ and $Q_3 = L_1L_3$. This is three degenerate quadratic forms where each pair of share a common linear factor.

The computation of a smooth scheme can be found in Listing 10.2.



(2) Two general quadrics intersect in four points in a complete intersection by Bezout's theorem. The computation of a smooth scheme can be found in Listing 10.3.



(3) As described in Lemma 5.1.7, the ideal is of the form $\langle LL_1, LL_2, Q_2L_1 + L_2Q_1 \rangle$. The two quadratic forms has a common linear form L. Further the quadrics intersect in the intersection point p of L_1 and L_2 . The cubic intersect the two quadrics in three points on L and in p. We therefore get four points, three on the line L.

The computation of a smooth scheme can be found in Listing 10.4.



(4) As described in Lemma 5.1.9, the ideal is of the form $\langle LL_1, LL_2, K_1L_2 + K_2L_1 \rangle$. The two quadric forms has a common line L. Further the quadrics intersect in the intersection point p of L_1 and L_2 . The quartic intersect the two quadrics in four points on L and in p. We therefore get five points, four on the line L.

The computation of a smooth scheme can be found in Listing 10.5.



(5) As described in Lemma 5.1.8, the ideal is of the form $\langle L_1L_3 + L_2L_4, Q_1L_1 + Q_2L_2, L_3Q_2 - L_4Q_1 \rangle$. Since there are no common components between any pair of the quadric and the cubics, they intersect in five general points. We observe that if $L_2 = 0$ we get $Q = L_1L_3, K_1 = Q_1L_1$ and $K_2 = L_3Q_2 - L_4Q_1$. Then Q and K_1 has a common line L_1 and intersect in two points outside the line. Since K_2 does not contain L_1, K_2 intersect Q and K_1 in L_1 in three points and in two points in the intersection points of L_3 and Q_1 .

$$\begin{pmatrix} L_1 & -L_4 & -Q_2 \\ L_2 & L_3 & Q_1 \end{pmatrix}$$

intersect in five points. Since the are no common components the, the scheme consist of five general points.

The computation of a smooth scheme can be found in Listing 10.6.



(6) A general quadric and a general cubic intersects in six points in a complete intersection by Bezout's theorem.

The computation of a smooth scheme can be found in Listing 10.7.



(7) Consider the matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} K_1 & Q_1 & L_1 \\ Q_2 & L_2 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

We follow the strategy from (1). From the 2×2 minors we get

$$R = K_1 L_2 - Q_1 Q_2$$
$$K = Q_2 L_1$$
$$Q = L_1 L_2$$

Then Bezout's theorem gives that R and K intersect in 12 points. In other words, there are 12 points $p \in \mathbb{P}^2$ such that

$$\det \begin{pmatrix} K_1 & Q_1 \\ Q_2 & L_2 \end{pmatrix}_p = 0 \qquad \text{and} \qquad \det \begin{pmatrix} K_1 & L_1 \\ Q_2 & 0 \end{pmatrix}_p = 0. \tag{5.3}$$

We see that six of the points are when $K_1 = Q_2 = 0$ and that these points is not on Q. We want to show that the remaining six points is on Q. Indeed, let $p' \in R \cap K$ such that $K_1, Q_2 \neq 0$. Since the rows in a 2 matrix are proportional when the determinant is zero, we get in particular that $L_{1_{n'}} = 0$. This shows that $p' \in Q = L_1L_2$.

We now show that four of the points are on the line L_1 and that the two remaining points are the intersection points of Q_2 and L_2 . Indeed, since L_1 is not a component of R all six points cannot lie on L_1 . Further, since R and L_1 has no common component they intersect in four points by Bezout's theorem. Since both K and Q has L_1 as a component, these four points are in the intersection of R, K and Q. For the last two points, we have that Q_2 and L_2 intersect in a complete intersection. To get a total of six points in $R \cap K \cap Q$, R has to intersect the two points in $Q_2 \cap L_2$.

The computation of a smooth scheme can be found in Listing 10.8.



(8) Consider the matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} K_1 & L_1 & L_2 \\ K_2 & L_3 & L_4 \end{pmatrix}$$

From the 2×2 minors we get

$$R_1 = K_1 L_3 - K_2 L_1,$$

$$R_2 = K_1 L_4 - K_2 L_2,$$

$$Q = L_1 L_4 - L_2 L_3.$$

Bezout's theorem gives that R_1 and R_2 intersect in 16 points. In other words, there are 16 points $p \in \mathbb{P}^2$ such that

$$\det \begin{pmatrix} K_1 & L_1 \\ K_2 & L_3 \end{pmatrix}_p = 0 \qquad \text{and} \qquad \det \begin{pmatrix} K_1 & L_2 \\ K_2 & L_4 \end{pmatrix}_p = 0. \tag{5.4}$$

We see that 9 of these points are when $K_1 = K_2 = 0$ and that these points are not on Q. We want to show that the remaining 7 points also lie on Q. Indeed, let $p' \in R_1 \cap R_2$ such that $K_1, K_2 \neq 0$. Since the rows in a 2 matrix are proportional when the determinant is zero, we get the relations

$$\begin{split} K_{2_{p'}} &= \lambda K_{1_{p'}} \\ L_{3_{p'}} &= \lambda L_{1_{p'}}, \\ L_{4_{p'}} &= \lambda L_{2_{p'}}, \end{split}$$

where $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ and we have used that $K_{1'_{p}}, K_{2'_{p}} \neq 0$. This gives that

$$\det \begin{pmatrix} L_1 & L_2 \\ L_3 & L_4 \end{pmatrix}_{p'} = \det \begin{pmatrix} L_1 & L_2 \\ \lambda L_1 & \lambda L_2 \end{pmatrix}_{p'} = 0.$$

This shows that $p' \in Q$ and in particular that $p' \in R_1 \cap R_2 \cap Q$. Since the Q is general, we get seven points on the conic Q.

The computation of a smooth scheme can be found in Listing 10.9.


(9) Consider the matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} L_1 & L_2 & L_3 & L_4 \\ L_5 & L_6 & L_7 & L_8 \\ L_9 & L_{10} & L_{11} & L_{12} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Let K_1 and K_2 be the cubics obtained from the 3×3 minors of

$$\begin{pmatrix} L_1 & L_3 & L_4 \\ L_5 & L_7 & L_8 \\ L_9 & L_{11} & L_{12} \end{pmatrix} \qquad \text{and} \qquad \begin{pmatrix} L_2 & L_3 & L_4 \\ L_6 & L_7 & L_8 \\ L_{10} & L_{11} & L_{12} \end{pmatrix}, \tag{5.5}$$

respectively. From Bezout's theorem we have that K_1 and K_2 intersect in 9 points. From 5.5 we see that three of the points are the points $p \in \mathbb{P}^2$ such that each 2×2 minor of

$$\begin{pmatrix} L_3 & L_7 & L_{11} \\ L_4 & L_8 & L_{12} \end{pmatrix}_p$$
(5.6)

vanish. Indeed, if every 2×2 minor of 5.6 vanish, then the 3×3 minor of each matrix in 5.5 vanish when evaluated in p. We have from (1) that there exists three points that vanish on every 2×2 minor of 5.6.

Let now K_3 and K_4 be the cubics obtained from the 3×3 minor of

$$\begin{pmatrix} L_1 & L_2 & L_3 \\ L_5 & L_6 & L_7 \\ L_9 & L_{10} & L_{11} \end{pmatrix} \qquad \text{and} \qquad \begin{pmatrix} L_1 & L_2 & L_4 \\ L_5 & L_6 & L_8 \\ L_9 & L_{10} & L_{12} \end{pmatrix}, \tag{5.7}$$

respectively. We see that the points three points p do not lie on K_3 and K_4 , since the fact that the 2 × 2 minors of 5.6 vanish does not imply that the 3 × 3 minors of the matrices in 5.7 vanish when evaluated in p. We want to show that the remaining six points in the intersection of K_1 and K_2 also lie on K_3 and K_4 . Indeed, let $p' \in K_1 \cap K_2$ such that $p' \neq p$. Then there exists $\lambda, \lambda', \lambda'', \lambda''' \in \mathbb{C}$ such that

$$\begin{split} L_{1_{p'}} &= \lambda L_{5_{p'}} + \lambda' L_{9_{p'}}, \\ L_{3_{p'}} &= \lambda L_{7_{p'}} + \lambda' L_{11_{p'}}, \\ L_{4_{p'}} &= \lambda L_{8_{p'}} + \lambda' L_{12_{p'}}, \end{split} \qquad \qquad \qquad L_{2_{p'}} &= \lambda'' L_{6_{p'}} + \lambda''' L_{10_{p'}}, \\ L_{3_{p'}} &= \lambda'' L_{7_{p'}} + \lambda''' L_{11_{p'}}, \\ L_{4_{p'}} &= \lambda'' L_{8_{p'}} + \lambda''' L_{12_{p'}}. \end{split}$$

Since we assumed $p' \neq p$ we must have $\lambda = \lambda''$ and $\lambda' = \lambda'''$. This gives

$$\begin{split} L_{1_{p'}} &= \lambda L_{5_{p'}} + \lambda' L_{9_{p'}}, \\ L_{3_{p'}} &= \lambda L_{7_{p'}} + \lambda' L_{11_{p'}}, \\ L_{4_{p'}} &= \lambda L_{8_{p'}} + \lambda' L_{12_{p'}}, \\ L_{2_{p'}} &= \lambda L_{6_{p'}} + \lambda' L_{10_{p'}}. \end{split}$$

This gives that

$$\det \begin{pmatrix} L_1 & L_2 & L_3 \\ L_5 & L_6 & L_7 \\ L_9 & L_{10} & L_{11} \end{pmatrix}_{p'} = \det \begin{pmatrix} \lambda L_5 + \lambda' L_9 & \lambda L_6 + \lambda' L_{10} & \lambda L_7 + \lambda' L_{11} \\ L_5 & L_6 & L_7 \\ L_9 & L_{10} & L_{11} \end{pmatrix}_{p'} = 0$$

and

$$\det \begin{pmatrix} L_1 & L_2 & L_4 \\ L_5 & L_6 & L_8 \\ L_9 & L_{10} & L_{12} \end{pmatrix}_{p'} = \det \begin{pmatrix} \lambda L_5 + \lambda' L_9 & \lambda L_6 + \lambda' L_{10} & \lambda L_8 + \lambda' L_{12} \\ L_5 & L_6 & L_8 \\ L_9 & L_{10} & L_{12} \end{pmatrix}_{p'} = 0.$$

This shows that p' lie on K_3 and K_4 . In particular, we have that $p' \in K_1 \cap K_2 \cap K_3 \cap K_4$. Since there are no common components between the cubics, the six points in the intersection are in general position.

The computation of a smooth scheme can be found in Listing 10.10.



(10) We have from Bezout's theorem that two cubics with no common component intersect in 9 points.

The computation of a smooth scheme can be found in Listing 10.11.



(11) Consider the matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} Q_1 & Q_2 & Q_3 \\ L_1 & L_2 & L_3 \end{pmatrix}$$

From the 2×2 minors we get

$$\begin{split} K_1 &= Q_1 L_2 - Q_2 L_1, \\ K_2 &= Q_1 L_3 - Q_3 L_1, \\ K_3 &= Q_2 L_3 - Q_3 L_2. \end{split}$$

Bezout's theorem gives that K_1 and K_2 intersect in 9 points. In other words, there are 9 points $p \in \mathbb{P}^2$ such that

$$\det \begin{pmatrix} Q_1 & Q_2 \\ L_1 & L_2 \end{pmatrix}_p = 0 \qquad \text{and} \qquad \det \begin{pmatrix} Q_1 & Q_3 \\ L_1 & L_3 \end{pmatrix}_p = 0. \tag{5.8}$$

Two of the points are the intersection between Q_1 and L_1 , and these two points do not lie on K_3 . We want to show that the remaining 7 points also lie on K_3 . By same arguments as in (1), there exists a $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ such that

$$\begin{split} L_{1_{p'}} &= \lambda Q_{1_{p'}}, \\ L_{2_{p'}} &= \lambda Q_{2_{p'}}, \\ L_{3_{p'}} &= \lambda Q_{3_{p'}}, \end{split}$$

where $p' \neq p$ and $p \in K_1 \cap K_2$. This gives that

$$\det \begin{pmatrix} Q_2 & Q_3 \\ L_2 & L_3 \end{pmatrix}_{p'} = \det \begin{pmatrix} Q_2 & Q_3 \\ \lambda Q_2 & \lambda Q_3 \end{pmatrix}_{p'} = 0.$$

This show that $p' \in K_1 \cap K_2 \cap K_3$. Since there are no common components between the cubics, the seven points in the intersection are in general position.

The computation of a smooth scheme can be found in Listing 10.12.



(12) Consider the matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} Q_1 & Q_2 & Q_3 & L_1 \\ L_2 & L_3 & L_4 & 0 \\ L_5 & L_6 & L_7 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

Let R and K_1 be the two cubics obtained from the 3×3 minors of

$$\begin{pmatrix} Q_1 & Q_2 & Q_3 \\ L_2 & L_3 & L_4 \\ L_5 & L_6 & L_7 \end{pmatrix} \qquad \text{and} \qquad \begin{pmatrix} Q_1 & Q_2 & L_1 \\ L_2 & L_3 & 0 \\ L_5 & L_6 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \tag{5.9}$$

respectively. From Bezout's theorem we have that R and K_1 intersects in 12 points. By the same arguments as in (9), five of the points are points $p \in \mathbb{P}^2$ such that each 2×2 minor of

$$\begin{pmatrix} Q_1 & L_2 & L_5 \\ Q_2 & L_3 & L_6 \end{pmatrix}_{\mathcal{L}}$$

vanish. Let now K_2 and K_3 be the cubics obtained from the 3×3 minors of

$$\begin{pmatrix} Q_1 & Q_3 & L_1 \\ L_2 & L_4 & 0 \\ L_5 & L_7 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \qquad \text{and} \qquad \begin{pmatrix} Q_2 & Q_3 & L_1 \\ L_3 & L_4 & 0 \\ L_6 & L_7 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (5.10)$$

respectively. By the same arguments as in (9) we get that the five points p do not lie on K_2 and K_3 and that the remaining seven points lie on K_2 and K_3 .

We now show that of the seven points, four is on the line L_1 and the rest are three general points. Indeed, we get from the matrices in 5.9 and 5.10 that L_1 is a common line of K_1, K_2 and K_3 , and that the other component of each cubic is one of the 2×2 minors of

$$\begin{pmatrix} L_2 & L_3 & L_4 \\ L_5 & L_6 & L_7 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (5.11)

We have from (1) that the three quadrics obtained from the 2×2 minors of 5.11 intersect in three general points. In summary, the quartic R intersect K_1, K_2, K_3 on the line L_1 in four points and in the three intersection points of their quadric components.

The computation of a smooth scheme can be found in Listing 10.13.



(13) Consider the matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} Q_1 & Q_2 & L_1 \\ Q_3 & Q_4 & L_2 \end{pmatrix}$$

From the 2×2 minors we get

$$R = Q_1 Q_4 - Q_2 Q_3$$

$$K_1 = Q_1 L_2 - Q_3 L_1$$

$$K_2 = Q_2 L_2 - Q_4 L_1$$

Bezout's theorem gives that R and K_1 intersect in 12 points, where four points are the intersection between Q_1 and Q_3 . Let $p \in \mathbb{P}^2$ be the eight remaining points in the intersection between R and K_1 . By the same arguments as above, there exists a $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ such that

$$Q_{3p} = \lambda Q_{1p},$$

$$Q_{4p} = \lambda Q_{2p},$$

$$L_{2p} = \lambda L_{1p}.$$

This gives that

$$\det \begin{pmatrix} Q_2 & L_1 \\ Q_4 & L_2 \end{pmatrix}_p = \det \begin{pmatrix} Q_2 & L_1 \\ \lambda Q_2 & \lambda L_1 \end{pmatrix}_p = 0.$$

This shows that $p \in R \cap K_1 \cap K_2$. Since there are no common component between R, K_1 and K_2 , the eight points are in general position.

If $L_1 = 1$, then K_1 and K_2 will have L_2 as a common component. Then Q_1 and Q_2 intersect in four point in a complete intersection and R intersect K_1 and K_2 in these four points and in four point on the line L_2 .



The computation of a smooth scheme can be found in Listing 10.14 and Listing 10.15.

(14) Consider the matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} Q_1 & Q_2 & L_1 & L_2 \\ Q_3 & Q_4 & L_3 & L_4 \\ L_5 & L_6 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

Let R_1 and R_2 be the quartics obtained from the 3×3 minors of

$$\begin{pmatrix} Q_1 & Q_2 & L_1 \\ Q_3 & Q_4 & L_3 \\ L_5 & L_6 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \qquad \text{and} \qquad \begin{pmatrix} Q_1 & Q_2 & L_2 \\ Q_3 & Q_4 & L_4 \\ L_5 & L_6 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \tag{5.12}$$

respectively. From Bezout's therem we have that R_1 and R_2 intersect in 16 points. By the same arguments as in (9), eight of the points are points $p \in \mathbb{P}^2$ such that each 2×2 minor of

$$\begin{pmatrix} Q_1 & Q_3 & L_5 \\ Q_2 & Q_4 & L_6 \end{pmatrix}_p$$

vanish. Let now K_1 and K_2 be the cubics obtained from the 3×3 minors of

$$\begin{pmatrix} Q_1 & L_1 & L_2 \\ Q_3 & L_3 & L_4 \\ L_5 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \qquad \text{and} \qquad \begin{pmatrix} Q_2 & L_1 & L_2 \\ Q_4 & L_3 & L_4 \\ L_6 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (5.13)$$

respectively. By the same arguments as in (9) we get that the eight points p do not lie on K_1 and K_2 and that the remaining eight points lie on K_1 and K_2 .

We now show that of the eight points, seven lie on a conic. We see from 5.13 that K_1 and K_2 has the quadric $L_1L_4 - L_2L_3$ as a common component. The other component is the line L_5 and L_6 , respectively. Since the quartics R_1 and R_2 are irreducible, that is, they do not contain $L_1L_4 - L_2L_3$, they have seven point on $L_1L_4 - L_2L_3$ and intersect L_5 and L_6 in one point.

The computation of a smooth scheme can be found in Listing 10.16.



(15) Consider the matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} Q_1 & L_1 & L_2 & L_3 \\ Q_2 & L_4 & L_5 & L_6 \\ Q_3 & L_7 & L_8 & L_9 \end{pmatrix}$$

Let R_1 and R_2 the quartics obtained from the 3×3 minors of

$$\begin{pmatrix} Q_1 & L_1 & L_2 \\ Q_2 & L_4 & L_5 \\ Q_3 & L_7 & L_8 \end{pmatrix} \qquad \text{and} \qquad \begin{pmatrix} Q_1 & L_1 & L_3 \\ Q_2 & L_4 & L_6 \\ Q_3 & L_7 & L_9 \end{pmatrix},$$

respectively. From Bezout's theorem we have that R_1 and R_2 intersect in 16 points. By the same arguments as in (9), seven of the points are points $p \in \mathbb{P}^2$ such that each 2×2 minor of

$$\begin{pmatrix} Q_1 & Q_2 & Q_3 \\ L_1 & L_4 & L_7 \end{pmatrix}_p$$

vanish. Let now R_3 and K_1 be the quartic and the cubic obtained from the 3×3 minors of

$$\begin{pmatrix} Q_1 & L_2 & L_3 \\ Q_2 & L_5 & L_6 \\ Q_3 & L_8 & L_9 \end{pmatrix} \qquad \text{and} \qquad \begin{pmatrix} L_1 & L_2 & L_3 \\ L_4 & L_5 & L_6 \\ L_7 & L_8 & L_9 \end{pmatrix},$$

respectively. By the same arguments as in (9) we get that the seven points p do not lie on R_3 or K_1 , and that the remaining nine points lie on R_3 and K_1 . Since R_1, R_2, R_3 and K_1 has no common component, the nine points are in general position.

If $L_6 = L_9 = 0$ we get

$$\begin{split} R_1 &= Q_1(L_4L_8 - L_5L_7) - Q_2(L_1L_8 - L_2L_7) + Q_3(L_1L_5 - L_2L_4), \\ R_2 &= L_3(Q_2L_7 - Q_3L_4), \\ R_3 &= L_3(Q_2L_8 - Q_3L_5), \\ R_4 &= L_3(L_4L_8 - L_5L_7), \end{split}$$

that is, R_2, R_3 and K_1 share the line L_3 . This gives nine points, four on the line L_3 . If $L_8 = L_9 = 0$ we get

$$\begin{aligned} R_1 &= Q_1 L_5 L_7 - L_2 L_7 - Q_3 (L_1 L_5 - L_2 L_4), \\ R_2 &= -Q_1 L_6 L_7 + Q_2 L_6 L_7 + Q_3 (L_1 L_6 - L_3 L_4), \\ R_3 &= Q_3 (L_2 L_6 - L_3 L_5), \\ K_1 &= L_7 (L_2 L_6 - L_3 L_5), \end{aligned}$$

that is, R_3 and K_1 share the quadric $(L_2L_6-L_3L_5)$. This gives nine points, seven on $(L_2L_6-L_3L_5)$ and the two last in the intersection of Q_3 and L_7 .

The computation of a smooth scheme can be found in Listing 10.17, Listing 10.18 and Listing 10.19.

(16) Consider the matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} L_1 & L_2 & L_3 & L_4 & L_5 \\ L_6 & L_7 & L_8 & L_9 & L_{10} \\ L_{11} & L_{12} & L_{13} & L_{14} & L_{15} \\ L_{16} & L_{17} & L_{18} & L_{19} & L_{20} \end{pmatrix}$$
(5.14)

Let R_1 and R_2 be the quartics obtained form the 4×4 minors of

$$\begin{pmatrix} L_1 & L_2 & L_3 & L_4 \\ L_6 & L_7 & L_8 & L_9 \\ L_{11} & L_{12} & L_{13} & L_{14} \\ L_{16} & L_{17} & L_{18} & L_{19} \end{pmatrix} \quad \text{and} \quad \begin{pmatrix} L_1 & L_2 & L_3 & L_5 \\ L_6 & L_7 & L_8 & L_{10} \\ L_{11} & L_{12} & L_{13} & L_{15} \\ L_{16} & L_{17} & L_{18} & L_{20} \end{pmatrix},$$

respectively. From Bezout's theorem we have that R_1 and R_2 intersect in 16 points. By the same arguments as in (9), six of the points are points $p \in \mathbb{P}^2$ such that each 2×2 minor of

$$\begin{pmatrix} L_1 & L_6 & L_{11} & L_{16} \\ L_2 & L_7 & L_{12} & L_{17} \\ L_3 & L_8 & L_{13} & L_{18} \end{pmatrix}_{\mu}$$

vanish. By the same arguments as in (9) we get that the six points do not lie on the three quartics obtained from the remaining 3×3 minors of 5.14 R_3 , R_4 or R_5 and that the remaining ten points do lie on all five quartics. Since the quartics have no common component, the ten points are in general position.

The computation of a smooth scheme can be found in Listing 10.20.

5.2 Zero-Dimensional Subideals of F^{\perp}

In this section we describe which ideals of finite schemes Γ that appear as subideal of F^{\perp} . First, we prove that if I_{Γ} is generated by some of the generators of F^{\perp} , then a Hilbert–Burch matrix of I_{Γ} is a submatrix of a Buchsbaum–Eisenbud matrix of F^{\perp} . We are specially interested in the subideals I_{Γ} that are generated by some of the generators of F^{\perp} , because the minimal subideals of F^{\perp} will be ones that are generated by some of the generators of F^{\perp} . Furthermore, we prove which submatrices of a Buchsbaum–Eisenbud matrix of F^{\perp} that are Hilbert–Burch matrices that actually generates a subideal of F^{\perp} . Lastly, we go through each of the Betti strata \mathcal{F}_B , and prove that for each $[F] \in \mathcal{F}_B$ there exists a subideal I_{Γ} with a Hilbert–Burch matrix such that the degree matrix is the same for every $[F] \in \mathcal{F}_B$. In Chapter 6, we prove that the ideals we find actually are minimal subideal F^{\perp} for some F.

Let $P' = (p_{ij})$ be an $n \times n$ matrix where $p_{ij} \in \mathbb{C}[y_0, y_1, y_2]$ is a homogeneous polynomial. Let the degree matrix $M_B = (m_{ij})$, where $m_{ij} = \deg p_{ij}$.

Lemma 5.2.1. Let $F^{\perp} \subset T$ and let Γ be a finite scheme. Let the $(\beta - 1) \times \beta$ matrix P be a Hilbert-Burch matrix of I_{Γ} and let the $n \times n$ matrix P' be a Buchsbaum-Eisenbud matrix of F^{\perp} . If I_{Γ} is generated by some of the generators of F^{\perp} , then P is a submatrix of P'.

Proof. If $I_{\Gamma} \subset F^{\perp}$, there exists maps ϕ and ψ such that the following diagram commutes.

If the generators of I_{Γ} is a linear combination of the generators of F^{\perp} , $\phi: T^{\beta} \to T^{\alpha}$ takes the generators of I_{Γ} to this linear combination in T^n . The map $\psi: T^{\beta-1} \to T^n$ does the same for the syzygies, thus ϕ and ψ are inclusion maps. Since the columns of P' and P are generators for the syzygies of F^{\perp} and I_{Γ} , by Theorem 2.3.3 and Theorem 5.1.1, respectively, P has to be a submatrix of P'.

Lemma 5.2.2. Let $F^{\perp} \subset T$ and Assume F^{\perp} is minimally generated by n = 2k + 1 elements. Let the $n \times n$ matrix P' be a Buchsbaum-Eisenbud matrix of F^{\perp} . If there exists a basis such that

$$P' = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & c_{01} & \dots & c_{0k} & c_{0,k+1} & \dots & c_{0,n-1} \\ -c_{01} & 0 & \vdots & \vdots & & \vdots \\ \vdots & & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & & \vdots \\ -c_{0k} & \dots & 0 & c_{k,k+1} & \dots & c_{k,n-1} \\ -c_{0,k+1} & \dots & \dots & -c_{k,k+1} & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & & & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ -c_{0,n-1} & \dots & \dots & -c_{k,n-1} & 0 & \dots & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

then the ideal generated by the $k \times k$ minors of the $k \times (k+1)$ -submatrix

$$P = \begin{pmatrix} -c_{0,k+1} & \dots & -c_{k,k+1} \\ \vdots & & \vdots \\ -c_{0,n-1} & \dots & -c_{k,n-1} \end{pmatrix}.$$

is a subideal of F^{\perp} .

Proof. Indeed, we observe that P' consists of four blocks, that is $P, -(P)^T$, the $k \times k$ zero block and the last $(k + 1) \times (k + 1)$ skew symmetric block. To compute the first (n - 1)th order pfaffian we delete the first row and first column of P' and compute the determinant of the remaining matrix. After deleting the first row and the first column the remaining submatrix of P' consists of four block, each of dimension $k \times k$. We use the rule for computing the determinant of a block matrix consisting of square blocks, that is det $M = \det A \det D - \det B \det C$, where $M = \begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & D \end{pmatrix}$. We get the following computation.

$$\det \begin{pmatrix} 0 & c_{12} & \dots & c_{1k} & c_{1,k+1} & \dots & c_{1,n-1} \\ -c_{12} & 0 & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ -c_{1k} & \dots & \dots & 0 & c_{k,k+1} & \dots & c_{k,n-1} \\ -c_{1,k+1} & \dots & \dots & -c_{k,n-1} & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ -c_{1,n-1} & \dots & \dots & -c_{k,n-1} & 0 & \dots & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= \det \begin{pmatrix} 0 & c_{12} & \dots & c_{1k} \\ -c_{12} & 0 & \vdots \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ -c_{1k} & \dots & \dots & 0 \end{pmatrix} \det \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & \dots & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
$$- \det \begin{pmatrix} -c_{1,k+1} & \dots & \dots & -c_{k,k+1} \\ \vdots & & \vdots \\ -c_{1,n-1} & \dots & \dots & -c_{k,n-1} \end{pmatrix} \det \begin{pmatrix} c_{1,k+1} & \dots & c_{1,n-1} \\ \vdots & & \vdots \\ c_{k,k+1} & \dots & c_{k,n-1} \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= \det \begin{pmatrix} -c_{1,k+1} & \dots & \dots & -c_{k,k+1} \\ \vdots & & \vdots \\ -c_{1,n-1} & \dots & \dots & -c_{k,n-1} \end{pmatrix}^{2},$$

where we have used that det $A = \det A^T$ for a general matrix A. Since the pfaffian is the square root of the determinant, we get that the first (n-1)th order pfaffian is the determinant of the submatrix of P obtained by deleting the first row. This is indeed the first $k \times k$ minor of P'. The case for the k-1 next (n-1)th order pfaffians are the same.

Given an \mathcal{F}_B , the Buchsbaum–Eisenbud matrix of F^{\perp} for an $[F] \in \mathcal{F}_B$ is given by the Betti table $B_{b_{12}b_{13}b_{14}}$. Thus, the degree matrix is the same for every Buchsbaum–Eisenbud matrix of F^{\perp} for an $[F] \in \mathcal{F}_B$. Therefore, we find for each type F_B which degree matrix of Hilbert–Burch matrices that is a submatrix of the degree matrix of a Buchsbaum–Eisenbud of F^{\perp} for an $[F] \in \mathcal{F}_B$. By Lemma 5.2.2, we then have that there exists a subideal of F^{\perp} generated by some of the generators of F^{\perp} .

Proposition 5.2.3. Let $M_{[300]}$ be the degree matrix of a Buchsbaum-Eisenbud matrix of F^{\perp} for an $[F] \in \mathcal{F}_{[300]}$. Then there is a subideal of F^{\perp} with a Hilbert-Burch matrix with degree matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

Proof. We have

$$M_{[300]} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 5 & 5 & 1 & 1 \\ 5 & 0 & 5 & 1 & 1 \\ 5 & 5 & 0 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

Proposition 5.2.4. Let $M_{[200]}$ be the degree matrix of a Buchsbaum-Eisenbud matrix of F^{\perp} for an $[F] \in \mathcal{F}_{[200]}$. Then there is a subideal of F^{\perp} with a Hilbert-Burch matrix with degree matrix

 $\begin{pmatrix} 2 & 2 \end{pmatrix}$

Proof. We have

$$M_{[200]} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 5 & 2\\ 5 & 0 & 2\\ 2 & 2 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

Then two of the generators of F^{\perp} are the 1×1 minors of the submatrix.

Proposition 5.2.5. Let $M_{[210]}$ be the degree matrix of a Buchsbaum-Eisenbud matrix of F^{\perp} for an $[F] \in \mathcal{F}_{[210]}$. Then there is a subideal of F^{\perp} with a Hilbert-Burch matrix with degree matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} 2 & 2 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

Proof. We have

$$M_{[210]} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 5 & 4 & 2 & 1 \\ 5 & 0 & 4 & 2 & 1 \\ 4 & 4 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 2 & 2 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

Proposition 5.2.6. Let $M_{[202]}$ be the degree matrix of a Buchsbaum-Eisenbud matrix of F^{\perp} for an $[F] \in \mathcal{F}_{[202]}$. Then there is a subideal of F^{\perp} with a Hilbert-Burch matrix with degree matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} 3 & 3 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

Proof. We have

$$M_{[202]} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 5 & 3 & 3 & 1 \\ 5 & 0 & 3 & 3 & 1 \\ 3 & 3 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 3 & 3 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

-

Proposition 5.2.7. Let $M_{[120]}$ be the degree matrix of a Buchsbaum-Eisenbud matrix of F^{\perp} for an $[F] \in \mathcal{F}_{[120]}$. Then there is a subideal of F^{\perp} with a Hilbert-Burch matrix with degree matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} 2 & 1 & 1 \\ 2 & 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

Proof. We have

$$M_{[120]} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 4 & 4 & 2 & 2 \\ 4 & 0 & 3 & 1 & 1 \\ 4 & 3 & 0 & 1 & 1 \\ 2 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 2 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

Proposition 5.2.8. Let $M_{[111]}$ be the degree matrix of a Buchsbaum-Eisenbud matrix of F^{\perp} for an $[F] \in \mathcal{F}_{[111]}$. Then there is a subideal of F^{\perp} with a Hilbert-Burch matrix with degree matrix

 $\begin{pmatrix} 3 & 2 \end{pmatrix}$

Proof. We have

$$M_{[111]} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 4 & 3\\ 4 & 0 & 2\\ 3 & 2 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

Proposition 5.2.9. Let $M_{[112]}$ be the degree matrix of a Buchsbaum-Eisenbud matrix of F^{\perp} for an $[F] \in \mathcal{F}_{[112]}$. Then there is a subideal of F^{\perp} with a Hilbert-Burch matrix with degree matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} 3 & 2 & 1 \\ 2 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

Proof. We have

$$M_{[112]} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 4 & 3 & 3 & 2 \\ 4 & 0 & 2 & 2 & 1 \\ 3 & 2 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 3 & 2 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 2 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

Proposition 5.2.10. Let $M_{[104]}$ be the degree matrix of a Buchsbaum-Eisenbud matrix of F^{\perp} for an $[F] \in \mathcal{F}_{[104]}$. Then there is a subideal of F^{\perp} with a Hilbert-Burch matrix with degree matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} 3 & 1 & 1 \\ 2 & 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

Proof. We have

$$M_{[104]} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 3 & 3 & 3 & 3 \\ 3 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 3 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 1 \\ 3 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 1 \\ 2 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

By Lemma 4.2.7 and Theorem 4.2.6, there exists a row basis such that the 4×4 submatrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
 is of the form
$$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

We use this row basis such that $M_{[104]}$ is of the form

3	3	3	3	
0	1	1	1	
1	0	1	1	
1	1	0	0	
1	1	0	0/	
	$ \begin{array}{c} 3 \\ 0 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \end{array} $	$\begin{array}{ccc} 3 & 3 \\ 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$

Proposition 5.2.11. Let $M_{[040]}$ be the degree matrix of a Buchsbaum-Eisenbud matrix of F^{\perp} for an $[F] \in \mathcal{F}_{[040]}$. Then there is a subideal of F^{\perp} with a Hilbert-Burch matrix with degree matrix

Proof. We have

$$M_{[040]} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 3 & 3 & 3 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 3 & 0 & 3 & 3 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 3 & 3 & 0 & 3 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 3 & 3 & 3 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

Proposition 5.2.12. Let $M_{[300]}$ be the degree matrix of a Buchsbaum-Eisenbud matrix of F^{\perp} for an $[F] \in \mathcal{F}_{[300]}$. Then there is a subideal of F^{\perp} with a Hilbert-Burch matrix with degree matrix

 $\begin{pmatrix} 3 & 3 \end{pmatrix}$

Proof. We have

$$M_{[030]} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 3 & 3 \\ 3 & 0 & 3 \\ 3 & 3 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Proposition 5.2.13. Let $M_{[031]}$ be the degree matrix of a Buchsbaum-Eisenbud matrix of F^{\perp} for an $[F] \in \mathcal{F}_{[031]}$. Then there is a subideal of F^{\perp} with a Hilbert-Burch matrix with degree matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} 2 & 2 & 2 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

Proof. We have

$$M_{[031]} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 3 & 3 & 2 & 1 \\ 3 & 0 & 3 & 2 & 1 \\ 3 & 3 & 0 & 2 & 1 \\ 2 & 2 & 2 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Proposition 5.2.14. Let $M_{[032]}$ be the degree matrix of a Buchsbaum–Eisenbud matrix of F^{\perp} for an $[F] \in \mathcal{F}_{[032]}$. Then there is a subideal of F^{\perp} with a Hilbert–Burch matrix with degree matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} 2 & 2 & 2 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

Proof. We have

$$M_{[032]} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 3 & 3 & 2 & 2 & 1 & 1 \\ 3 & 0 & 3 & 2 & 2 & 1 & 1 \\ 3 & 3 & 0 & 2 & 2 & 1 & 1 \\ 2 & 2 & 2 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 2 & 2 & 2 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

Proposition 5.2.15. Let $M_{[023]}$ be the degree matrix of a Buchsbaum–Eisenbud matrix of F^{\perp} for an $[F] \in \mathcal{F}_{[023]}$. Then F is either of type [023a] and there is a subideal of F^{\perp} with a Hilbert–Burch matrix with degree matrix

 $\begin{pmatrix} 3 & 3 \end{pmatrix}$

or F is of type [023b] and there is a subideal of F^{\perp} with a Hilbert-Burch matrix with degree matrix

 $\begin{pmatrix} 2 & 2 & 1 \\ 2 & 2 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$

or F is of type [023c] and there is a subideal of F^{\perp} with a Hilbert-Burch matrix with degree matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} 2 & 2 & 1 \\ 2 & 2 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

Proof. We have

$$M_{[023]} = M_{[023a]} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 3 & 2 & 2 & 2 \\ 3 & 0 & 2 & 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 & 0 & 1 & 1 \\ 2 & 2 & 1 & 0 & 1 \\ 2 & 2 & 1 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

Let K_1 and K_2 be the two cubics in F^{\perp} . Assume K_1 and K_2 has none common component. Then K_1 and K_2 intersect in a complete intersection where a corresponding Hilbert–Burch matrix has degree matrix

 $\begin{pmatrix} 3 & 3 \end{pmatrix}$

Assume that the linear forms in the matrix are dependent. Then we say that F is of type [023b] and there exists a row basis such that

$$M_{[023b]} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 3 & 2 & 2 & 2 \\ 3 & 0 & 2 & 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 & 0 & 1 & 1 \\ 2 & 2 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 2 & 2 & 1 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

Assume that the linear forms are proportional. Then we say that F is of type [023b] and there exists a row basis such that

$$M_{[023c]} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 3 & 2 & 2 & 2 \\ 3 & 0 & 2 & 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 2 & 2 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 2 & 2 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

Proposition 5.2.16. Let $M_{[024]}$ be the degree matrix of a Buchsbaum-Eisenbud matrix of F^{\perp} for an $[F] \in \mathcal{F}_{[024]}$. Then there is a subideal of F^{\perp} with a Hilbert-Burch matrix with degree matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} 2 & 2 & 1 & 1 \\ 2 & 2 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

Proof. We have

$$M_{[024]} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 3 & 2 & 2 & 2 & 2 & 1 \\ 3 & 0 & 2 & 2 & 2 & 2 & 1 \\ 2 & 2 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 \\ 2 & 2 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 0 \\ 2 & 2 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 2 & 2 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

By Theorem 4.2.6 and Lemma 4.2.7, there exists a row basis such that the submatrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
 is of the form
$$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

We use this row basis such that $M_{[024]}$ is of the form

$$\mathcal{M}_{[024]} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 3 & 2 & 2 & 2 & 2 & 1 \\ 3 & 0 & 2 & 2 & 2 & 2 & 1 \\ 2 & 2 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 \\ 2 & 2 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 0 \\ 2 & 2 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 2 & 2 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

79

Proposition 5.2.17. Let $M_{[016]}$ be the degree matrix of a Buchsbaum-Eisenbud matrix of $F^{[perp]}$ for an $[F] \in \mathcal{F}_{[016]}$. Then F is either of type [016a] and there is a subideal of F^{\perp} with a Hilbert-Burch matrix with degree matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} 2 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 2 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 2 & 1 & 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

or F is of type [016b] and there is a subideal of F^{\perp} with a Hilbert–Burch matrix with degree matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} 2 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 2 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 2 & 1 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

or F is of type [016c] and there is a subideal of F^{\perp} with a Hilbert–Burch matrix with degree matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} 2 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 2 & 1 & 1 & 0 \\ 2 & 1 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

Proof. We have

$$M_{[016]} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 2 & 2 & 2 & 2 & 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 2 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 2 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 2 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 1 \\ 2 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 1 \\ 2 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

By Theorem 4.4.1 there exists a row basis such that the submatrix

$(0 \ 1 \ 1 \ 1 \ 1$		0	1	1	1	1	1
$1 \ 0 \ 1 \ 1 \ 1$		1	0	1	1	1	1
$1 \ 1 \ 0 \ 1 \ 1$		1	1	0	1	1	1
$1 \ 1 \ 1 \ 0 \ 1$	is of the form	1	1	1	0	0	0
1 1 1 1 0		1	1	1	0	0	0
1 1 1 1 1	1	$\backslash 1$	1	1	0	0	0/

We use this row basis such that $M_{[016]}$ is of the form

$$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 2 & 2 & 2 & 2 & 2 & 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 2 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 2 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 2 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 2 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 2 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

We say that F is of type [016a] if the linear forms in general are not zero. If there exists are row basis such that two of the linear form are zero, we say that F is of type [016b] or [016c]. We distinguish the two types in the following way:

$$M_{[016b]} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 2 & 2 & 2 & 2 & 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 2 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 2 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 2 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 2 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 2 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

$$M_{[016c]} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 2 & 2 & 2 & 2 & 2 & 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 2 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 2 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 2 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 2 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 2 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

Proposition 5.2.18. Let $M_{[009]}$ be the degree matrix of a Buchsbaum-Eisenbud matrix of F^{\perp} for an $[F] \in \mathcal{F}_{[009]}$. Then there is a subideal of F^{\perp} with a Hilbert-Burch matrix with degree matrix

Proof. We have

By Theorem 4.4.7 the exists a row basis such that $M_{[009]}$ can be written in the form

/0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
1	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
1	1	0	1	1	1	1	1	1
1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	1
1	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1
1	1	1	1	1	0	0	0	0
1	1	1	1	1	0	0	0	0
1	1	1	1	1	0	0	0	0
$\backslash 1$	1	1	1	1	0	0	0	0/

Observe that the results above show that for every \mathcal{F}_B except for the types [030] and [023a], we have found a unique degree matrix of a Hilbert–Burch matrix as a submatrix of the degree matrix of a Buchsbaum–Eisenbud matrix. In the next chapter, we will prove that the Hilbert–Burch matrix we have found indeed generated a minimal subideal of the apolar ideal of an F with the corresponding Buchsbaum–Eisenbud matrix. For this reason we make the following definition

Definition 5.2.19.

 $\mathcal{G}_B = \{ \Gamma \subset S_1 : I_\Gamma \subset F^\perp \text{ is minimal for some } F \in \mathcal{F}_B \}.$

For the cases [030] and [023a] case we write $\mathcal{G}_{[030]/[023a]}$.

6 | Rank and Power Sum Representations

In this chapter we state and prove one of the main results in this thesis. For a general [F] in each \mathcal{F}_B , we find the rank and the VSP. The chapter is organized as follows. First, we state our results. Then, we prove that every Betti strata \mathcal{F}_B is irreducible. Thereafter, we introduce some theory about binary forms, before we finally prove our result.

Proposition 6.0.1. Let F be a non-degenerate ternary sextic forms. Then F belongs to one of the 20 irreducible sets in Figure 6.1 with the given dimension. For a general form F in each set, the table give the r(F), VSP(F, r(F)) and the minimal configuration of points in Γ apolar to F.

Betti table $B_{[b_{12}b_{13}b_{14}]}$	r(F)	$\mathrm{VSP}(F,r)$	Г	$\dim(\mathcal{F}_B)$
[300]	3	one point	three points	8
[210]	4	one point	four points, three on a line	10
[200]	4	one point	four points	11
[202]	5	\mathbb{P}^1	five points, four on a line	11
[120]	5	one point	five points	14
[112]	6	\mathbb{P}^1	six points, four on a line	14
[111]	6	one point	six points on a conic	16
[104]	7	\mathbb{P}^1	seven points on a conic	17
[040]	6	one point	six points	17
[032]	7	\mathbb{P}^1	seven points, four on a line	17
[031]	7	one point	seven points	20
[023c]	8	\mathbb{P}^1	eight points, four on a line	20
[024]	8	\mathbb{P}^1	eight points, seven on a conic	20
[023b]	8	one point	eight points	23
[030]	9	\mathbb{P}^2	nine points in a CI	21
[016b]	9	\mathbb{P}^1	nine points, four on a line	23
[016c]	9	\mathbb{P}^1	nine points, seven on a conic	23
[023a]	9	one point	nine points in a CI	24
[016a]	9	two points	nine points	26
[009]	10	K3 surface	ten points	27

Figure 6.1: Rank and VSP for the Betti strata

To prove that each Betti strata in Figure 6.1 is irreducible, we prove the following lemma.

Lemma 6.0.2. Fix a degree matrix $M_B = (m_{ij})$ and let V_B be the vector space of skew symmetric $n \times n$ matrices $P' = (p_{ij})$ with homogeneous polynomials as entries, where the polynomial in the entry p_{ij} has degree m_{ij} . Let V_B^0 be the subset of V_B consisting of the matrices where the ideal I'_P generated by the (n-1)th order pfaffians of P' is of codimension 3. Then V_B^0 is irreducible.

Proof. Since the degree of the polynomials in the entries of $P' \in V_B$ are fixed, the total number N of coefficients of the polynomials are also fixed. Then there is a 1 - 1-correspondence between

points in \mathbb{A}^N and matrices in V_B . We prove that V_B^0 is open by proving that the complement is closed. Indeed, fix P' and consider I'_P . If $\operatorname{codim} I'_P < 3$, then every 3-dimensional subspace I_3 of I'_P has codimension less than 3. For every $I_3 \subset I_P$ we can find F_1, F_2, F_3 such that $I_3 = \langle F_1, F_2, F_3 \rangle$. By Theorem 5.1.2, $F_0 = F_1 = F_2 = 0$ if and only if $\operatorname{Res}(F_0, F_1, F_2) = 0$. Since $\operatorname{Res}(F_0, F_1, F_2)$ is a polynomial in the coefficients of F_i , and F_i are determined by the coefficients of p_{ij} , we get one polynomial R in the coefficients of the p_{ij} for each 3-dimensional subspace of I'_P . Then every 3-dimensional subspace has codimension less than three if and only if the ideal spanned by the polynomials R vanish. The subset of V_B where the coefficients satisfies this condition is closed. This shows that V_B^0 is open. Every open subset of \mathbb{A}^N is irreducible, thus V_B^0 is irreducible.

Proposition 6.0.3. The 20 Betti strata \mathcal{F}_B in the table in Figure 6.1 are irreducible.

Proof. Consider the map

$$\phi: V_B^0 \to \mathcal{F}_B$$
$$P' \mapsto [F'_P]$$

where F'_P is the polynomial with the apolar ideal F'_P^{\perp} generated by the (n-1)th order pfaffians of P'. Then map is well-defined since, by assumption, the (n-1)th order pfaffians of P' generates an ideal I'_P of codimension 3, and by Theorem 2.3.3 I'_P is Artinian Gorenstein. By Definition-Proposition 2.2.1, $I'_P = F'_P^{\perp}$ for an F, and by [Eis95] F'_P is unique up to scalar. To prove that ϕ is surjective, observe that to every F there is a corresponding apolar ideal which is Artinian Gorenstein by Definition-Proposition 2.2.1, and by Theorem 2.3.3 every Artinian Gorenstein ideal of codimension 3 arises as (n-1)th order pfaffians of a skew symmetric matrix. Since \mathcal{F}_B is the image under a map and V^0_B is irreducible, then \mathcal{F}_B is irreducible.

Now, we introduce some theory about binary forms of even degree that we will use to prove Proposition 6.0.1.

Theorem 6.0.4 (Sylvester). Let d = 2k. For a general $F \in \mathbb{C}[x_0, x_1]_d$, then r(F) = k + 1 and $VSP(F, k + 1) = \mathbb{P}^1$.

Definition 6.0.5. We say that a scheme Γ is *apolar to* F if $I_{\Gamma} \subset F^{\perp}$.

Lemma 6.0.6. Let $F \in \mathbb{C}[x_0, x_1, x_2]_6$. Assume Γ is apolar to an F and that Γ is contained in a curve C.

- 1. If C is a line L, then $\langle v_6(C) \rangle = \mathbb{P}^6$ and F can be considered as a general binary sextic form.
- 2. If C is a conic Q, then $\langle v_6(C) \rangle = \mathbb{P}^{12}$ and F can be considered as a general binary form of degree 12.

Proof. (1) By Lemma 2.1.5, $[F] \in \langle v_6(\Gamma) \rangle \subset \langle v_6(L) \rangle \subset \langle v_6(\mathbb{P}^2) \rangle$. Let $H_G = \{[F] \in \mathbb{P}(S_6) : G(F) = 0\}$. Then $\langle v_6(L) \rangle = \bigcap_{H_G \supset v_6(L)} H_G$. Further, we have that $v_6(L) \subset H_G$ if and only if $G \in I_{L,6}$. The dimension of the space of ternary quintic forms is 21, thus $I_{L,6}$ is 21-dimensional. Since $H_G \subset \mathbb{P}^{27}$, we have that $\langle v_6(L) \rangle = \bigcap_{H_G \supset v_6(L)} H_G = \mathbb{P}^6$. A point in \mathbb{P}^6 can be considered as a binary sextic, that is

$$(a_0:a_1:a_2:a_3:a_4:a_5) \longleftrightarrow a_0 x_0^6 + a_1 x_0^5 x_1 + a_2 x_0^4 x_1^2 + a_3 x_0^3 x_1^3 + a_4 x_0^2 x_1^4 + a_5 x_0 x_1^5 + a_6 x_1^6 x_1^6 + a_5 x_0 x_1^6 + a_$$

Since $[F] \in \langle v_6(C) \rangle$, F can be considered as a general binary sextic form.

(2) By Lemma 2.1.5, $[F] \in \langle v_6(\Gamma) \rangle \subset \langle v_6(Q) \rangle \subset \langle v_6(\mathbb{P}^2) \rangle$. Let $H_G = \{[F] \in \mathbb{P}(S_6) : G(F) = 0\}$. Then $\langle v_6(Q) \rangle = \bigcap_{H_G \supset v_6(Q)} H_G$. Further, we have that $v_6(Q) \subset H_G$ if and only if $G \in I_{Q,6}$. The dimension of the space of ternary quartic forms is 15, thus $I_{Q,6}$ is 15-dimensional. Since $H_G \subset \mathbb{P}^{27}$, we have that $\langle v_6(Q) \rangle = \bigcap_{H_G \supset v_6(Q)} H_G = \mathbb{P}^{12}$. In the same way as above a point in

 \mathbb{P}^{12} can be considered as a general binary polynomial of degree 12. Since $[F] \in \langle v_6(Q) \rangle$, F can be considered as a binary polynomial of degree 12.

Lemma 6.0.7. Let $F \in \mathbb{C}[x_0, x_1, x_2]_6$. Assume $I_{\Gamma} \subset F^{\perp}$ is the ideal of a scheme Γ which is contained in a curve C.

- 1. If C is a line L containing a scheme of length 4 and F is not apolar to a scheme of length less than 4, then r(F) = 4 and $VSP(F, 4) = \mathbb{P}^1$.
- 2. If C is a conic Q containing a scheme of length 7 and F is not applar to a scheme of length less than 7, then r(F) = 7 and $VSP(F,7) = \mathbb{P}^1$.

Proof. (1) By Lemma 6.0.6, F can be considered as a binary form of degree 6. By Theorem 6.0.4, and since F is not apolar to a scheme of length less than 4, r(F) = 4 and $VSP(F, 4) = \mathbb{P}^1$.

(2) By Lemma 6.0.6, F can be considered as a binary form of degree 12. By Theorem 6.0.4, and since F is not apolar to a scheme of length less than 7, r(F) = 7 and $VSP(F,7) = \mathbb{P}^1$.

Now, give lemma about of the rank of a ternary sextic form F. Thereafter, we prove Proposition 6.0.1.

Lemma 6.0.8. Let b_{12} and b_{13} be equal the number of, respectively, quadratic and cubic generators of F^{\perp} for a ternary sextic form F. Let r(F) be the rank of F. Then $r(F) \ge 6 - b_{12}$ and, if $b_{12} = 0$, then $r(F) \ge 10 - b_{13}$.

Proof. Assume for contradiction that $r(F) < 6 - b_{12}$. Then there exists a $I_{\Gamma} \subset F^{\perp}$ such that Γ has length r(F). Then the dimension of the space of quadratic forms in I_{Γ} is at least 6 - r(F). Since $6 - r(F) > b_{12}$ we have a contradiction. The proof for the second inequality is similar.

Proof of Proposition 6.0.1. We go through each type:

[300] By Proposition 5.2.3 there exists a subideal I_{Γ} of F^{\perp} which is the ideal of a scheme of length three. For a general F, the scheme consists of three points, so $r(F) \leq 3$. Since the space of quadratic forms in F^{\perp} is 3-dimensional, $r(F) \geq 3$ by Lemma 6.0.8, thus r(F) = 3. The ideal I_{Γ} is generated by a 3-dimensional space of quadratic forms, that is the whole space of quadratic forms in F^{\perp} , hence the VSP(F, 3) is one point. The dimension of the family of 3-tuples in \mathbb{P}^2 is 6, by Lemma 5.1.14. Three points in \mathbb{P}^{27} span a \mathbb{P}^2 , so the dimension of $\mathcal{F}_{[300]}$ is 6+2=8.

[210] By Proposition 5.2.5 there exists a subideal I_{Γ} of F^{\perp} which is the ideal of a scheme of length four, with a subscheme of length three contained in a line. For a general F, the scheme consists of four points, thus $r(F) \leq 4$. Since the space of quadratic forms in F^{\perp} is 2-dimensional, $r(F) \geq 4$ by Lemma 6.0.8, thus r(F) = 4. The ideal I_{Γ} is generated by a 2-dimensional space of quadratic forms and a 1-dimensional space of cubic forms, that is the whole space of quadratic forms and cubic forms in F^{\perp} , hence the VSP(F, 4) is one point. The dimension of the family of 4-tuples, three on a line in \mathbb{P}^2 is 7, by Lemma 5.1.14. Each 4-tuple spans a \mathbb{P}^3 in \mathbb{P}^{27} , so the dimension of $\mathcal{F}_{[210]}$ is 7 + 3 = 10.

[200] By Proposition 5.2.4 there exists a subideal I_{Γ} of F^{\perp} which is the ideal of a scheme of length four. For a general F, the scheme consists of four points, so $r(F) \leq 4$. Since the space of quadratic forms in F^{\perp} is 2-dimensional, $r(F) \geq 4$ by Lemma 6.0.8, thus r(F) = 4. The ideal I_{Γ} is generated by a 2-dimensional space of quadratic forms, that is the whole space of quadratic forms in F^{\perp} , hence the VSP(F, 4) is one point. The dimension of the family of 4-tuples in \mathbb{P}^2 is 8, by Lemma 5.1.14. Four points in \mathbb{P}^{27} span a \mathbb{P}^3 , thus the dimension of $\mathcal{F}_{[200]}$ is 8 + 3 = 11.

[202] By Proposition 5.2.6 there exists a subideal I_{Γ} of F^{\perp} which is the ideal of a scheme of length five, with a subscheme of length four contained in a line. For a general F, the scheme

consists of five points, so $r(F) \leq 5$. By comparing the Betti tables for a the ideal of a scheme of length four given in Corollary 5.1.11 with the Betti table for [202] we see that there are no subideals of F^{\perp} of a scheme of length four. Thus, r(F) = 5.

We claim that $VSP(F,5) = \mathbb{P}^1$. Indeed, let L be the line containing the subscheme of Γ of length four and Γ_1 the remaining point. We have that $\langle v_6(L), v_6(\Gamma_1) \rangle = \mathbb{P}^7$ and further that $\langle v_6(L) \rangle = \mathbb{P}^6$ and $v_6(\Gamma_1) = [F_1]$. Consider $\langle [F_1], [F] \rangle = \mathbb{P}^1$. Since $[F], [F_1] \in \langle v_6(L), v_6(\Gamma_1) \rangle$ and $\langle v_6(L) \rangle \subset \langle v_6(L), v_6(\Gamma_1) \rangle$, dim $(\langle [F_1], [F] \rangle \cap \langle v_6(L) \rangle) = 0$. Let

$$[F_2] = \langle v_6(L) \rangle \cap \langle [F_1], [F] \rangle.$$

Of this reason, $[F_2] \in \langle [F], [F_1] \rangle$ and $[F] \in \langle [F_1], [F_2] \rangle$. This shows that there exists a unique decomposition $F = F_1 + F_2$, where F_2 is apolar to L and F_1 is apolar to a point. By Lemma 6.0.7, $r(F_2) = 4$ and $VSP(F_2, 4) = \mathbb{P}^1$. Since $VSP(F_1, 1)$ is one point, we get that $VSP(F, 5) = \mathbb{P}^1$.

The dimension of the family of 5-tuples, four on a line in \mathbb{P}^2 is 8, by Lemma 5.1.14. Each 5-tuple in \mathbb{P}^{27} span a \mathbb{P}^4 . Since $VSP(F,5) = \mathbb{P}^1$, the dimension of $\mathcal{F}_{[202]}$ is 8 + 4 - 1 = 11.

[120] By Proposition 5.2.7 there exists a subideal I_{Γ} of F^{\perp} which is the ideal of a scheme of length five. For a general F, the scheme consists of five points, so $r(F) \leq 5$. Since the space of quadratic forms in F^{\perp} is 1-dimensional, $r(F) \geq 5$ by Lemma 6.0.8, thus r(F) = 5. The ideal I_{Γ} is generated by a 1-dimensional space of quadratic forms and a one 2-dimensional space of cubic forms, that is the whole space of quadratic forms and cubic forms in F^{\perp} , hence the VSP(F, 5) is one point. The dimension of the family of 5-tuples \mathbb{P}^2 is 10, by Lemma 5.1.14. Five points in \mathbb{P}^{27} span a \mathbb{P}^4 , so the dimension of $\mathcal{F}_{[120]}$ is 10 + 4 = 14.

[111] By Proposition 5.2.8 there exists a subideal I_{Γ} of F^{\perp} which is the ideal of a scheme of length six contained in a conic. For a general F, the scheme consists of six points, so $r(F) \leq 6$. By comparing the Betti tables for a the ideal of a scheme of length five given in Corollary 5.1.13 with the Betti table for [111] we see that there are no subideals of F^{\perp} of a scheme of length five. Thus, r(F) = 6. The ideal I_{Γ} is generated by a 1-dimensional space of quadratic forms and a one 1-dimensional space of cubic forms, that is the whole space of quadratic forms and cubic forms in F^{\perp} , hence the VSP(F, 6) is one point. The dimension of the family of 6-tuples \mathbb{P}^2 on a conic is 11, by Lemma 5.1.14. Each 6-tuple in \mathbb{P}^{27} span a \mathbb{P}^5 , so the dimension of $\mathcal{F}_{[111]}$ is 11 + 5 = 16.

[112] By Proposition 5.2.9 there exists a subideal I_{Γ} of F^{\perp} which is the ideal of a scheme of length six, with a subscheme of length four contained in a line. For a general F, the scheme consists of six points, so $r(F) \leq 6$. By comparing the Betti tables for a the ideal of a scheme of length five given in Corollary 5.1.13 with the Betti table for [112] we see that there are no subideals of F^{\perp} of a scheme of length five. Thus, r(F) = 6.

We claim that $VSP(F, 6) = \mathbb{P}^1$. Indeed, let Γ_4 be the subscheme of Γ for length four contained in a line and Γ_2 the scheme of the remaining two points. We have that $\langle v_6(\Gamma) \rangle = \mathbb{P}^5$ and further that $\langle v_6(\Gamma_4) \rangle = \mathbb{P}^3$ and $v_6(\Gamma_2) = \mathbb{P}^1$. Consider $\langle v_6(\Gamma_2), [F] \rangle = \mathbb{P}^2$. Since $[F], v_6(\Gamma_2) \in \langle v_6(\Gamma) \rangle$ and $\langle v_6(\Gamma_4) \rangle \subset \langle v_6(\Gamma) \rangle$, $\dim(\langle v_6(\Gamma_2), [F] \rangle \cap \langle v_6(\Gamma_4) \rangle) = 0$. Let

$$[F_2] = \langle v_6(\Gamma_4) \rangle \cap \langle v_6(\Gamma_2), [F] \rangle.$$

By the same arguments, there exists an

$$[F_1] = \langle v_6(\Gamma_4), [F] \rangle \cap \langle v_6(\Gamma_2) \rangle.$$

Of this reason, $[F_1], [F_2], [F] \in \langle v_6(\Gamma_4), v_6(\Gamma_2) \rangle = \mathbb{P}^1$ so $[F_1], [F_2], [F]$ are colinear. As a consequence, $[F] \in \langle [F_1], [F_2] \rangle$. This shows that there exists a decomposition $F = F_1 + F_2$, where F_2 is apolar to a line and F_1 is apolar to two points. By Lemma 6.0.7 VSP $(F_2, 4) = \mathbb{P}^1$. Since VSP $(F_1, 2)$ is one point, we get that VSP $(F, 5) = \mathbb{P}^1$. The dimension of the family of 6-tuples,

four on a line in \mathbb{P}^2 is 10, by Lemma 5.1.14. Each 6-tuple in \mathbb{P}^{27} span a \mathbb{P}^5 . Since $VSP(F, 6) = \mathbb{P}^1$, the dimension of $\mathcal{F}_{[112]}$ is 10 + 5 - 1 = 14.

[104] By Proposition 5.2.10 there exists a subideal I_{Γ} of F^{\perp} which is the ideal of a scheme of length seven contained in a conic. For a general F, the scheme consists of seven points, so $r(F) \leq 7$. By comparing the Betti tables for a the ideal of a scheme of length five given in Corollary 5.1.13 with the Betti table for [112] we see that there are no subideals of F^{\perp} of a scheme of length five. There are no subscheme of length six either. Indeed, assume for contradiction the I_{Γ} is an ideal of a scheme of length six. If the quadric in \mathcal{F}^{\perp} is in I_{Γ} then we are in the cases $\mathcal{G}_{(6)}$ and $\mathcal{G}_{(8)}$, but then I_{Γ} contained one cubic, which is a contradiction since there are no cubic forms in F^{\perp} . If the quadric is not in I_{Γ} , then there are at least two cubic forms in I_{Γ} , which also is a contradiction. Thus, r(F) = 7. By the same arguments as in [112], $VSP(F,7) = \mathbb{P}^1$. The dimension of the family of 7-tuples on a conic in \mathbb{P}^2 is 12, by Lemma 5.1.14. Each 7-tuple in \mathbb{P}^{27} span a \mathbb{P}^6 . Since $VSP(F,7) = \mathbb{P}^1$, the dimension of $\mathcal{F}_{[104]}$ is 12 + 6 - 1 = 17.

[040] By Proposition 5.2.11 there exists a subideal I_{Γ} of F^{\perp} which is the ideal of a scheme of length six. For a general F, the scheme consists of six points, so $r(F) \leq 6$. Since the space of cubic forms in F^{\perp} is 4-dimensional, $r(F) \geq 6$ by Lemma 6.0.8, thus r(F) = 6. The ideal I_{Γ} is generated by a 4-dimensional space of cubic forms, that is the whole space of cubic forms in F^{\perp} , hence the VSP(F, 6) is one point. The dimension of the family of 6-tuples \mathbb{P}^2 is 12, by Lemma 5.1.14. Six points in \mathbb{P}^{27} span a \mathbb{P}^5 , so the dimension of $\mathcal{F}_{[040]}$ is 12 + 5 = 17.

[032] By Proposition 5.2.14 there exists a subideal I_{Γ} of F^{\perp} which is the ideal of a scheme of length seven, with a subscheme of length four contained in a line. For a general F, the scheme consists of seven points, so $r(F) \leq 7$. Since the space of cubic forms in F^{\perp} is 3dimensional, $r(F) \geq 7$ by Lemma 6.0.8, thus r(F) = 7. By the same arguments as is [112], we have that $VSP(F,7) = \mathbb{P}^1$. The dimension of the family of 7-tuples, four on a line in \mathbb{P}^2 is 12, by Lemma 5.1.14. Each 7-tuple in \mathbb{P}^{27} span a \mathbb{P}^6 . Since $VSP(F,7) = \mathbb{P}^1$, the dimension of $\mathcal{F}_{[032]}$ is 12 + 6 - 1 = 17.

[031] By Proposition 5.2.11 there exists a subideal I_{Γ} of F^{\perp} which is the ideal of a scheme of length seven. For a general F, the scheme consists of seven points, so $r(F) \leq 7$. Since the space of cubic forms in F^{\perp} is 3-dimensional, $r(F) \geq 7$ by Lemma 6.0.8, thus r(F) = 7. The ideal I_{Γ} is generated a 3-dimensional space of cubic forms, that is the whole space of cubic forms in F^{\perp} , hence the VSP(F,7) is one point. The dimension of the family of 7-tuples \mathbb{P}^2 is 14, by Lemma 5.1.14. Seven points in \mathbb{P}^{27} span a \mathbb{P}^6 , so the dimension of $\mathcal{F}_{[031]}$ is 14 + 6 = 20.

[023c] By Proposition 5.2.15 there exists a subideal I_{Γ} of F^{\perp} which is the ideal of a scheme of length eight, with a subscheme of length four contained in a line. For a general F, the scheme consists of eight points, so $r(F) \leq 8$. Since the space of cubic forms in F^{\perp} is 2-dimensional, $r(F) \geq 8$ by Lemma 6.0.8, thus r(F) = 8. By the same arguments as is [112], we have that $VSP(F,8) = \mathbb{P}^1$. The dimension of the family of 8-tuples, four on a line in \mathbb{P}^2 is 14, by Lemma 5.1.14. Each 8-tuple in \mathbb{P}^{27} span a \mathbb{P}^7 . Since $VSP(F,8) = \mathbb{P}^1$, the dimension of $\mathcal{F}_{[023c]}$ is 14 + 7 - 1 = 20.

[024] By Proposition 5.2.16 there exists a subideal I_{Γ} of F^{\perp} which is the ideal of a scheme of length eight, with a subscheme of length seven contained in a conic. For a general F, the scheme consists of eight points, so $r(F) \leq 8$. Since the space of cubic forms in F^{\perp} is 2-dimensional, $r(F) \geq 8$ by Lemma 6.0.8, thus r(F) = 8. By the same arguments as is [112], we have that $VSP(F,8) = \mathbb{P}^1$. The dimension of the family of 8-tuples, seven on a conic in \mathbb{P}^2 is 14, by Lemma 5.1.14. Each 8-tuple in \mathbb{P}^{27} span a \mathbb{P}^7 . Since $VSP(F,8) = \mathbb{P}^1$, the dimension of $\mathcal{F}_{[024]}$ is 14 + 7 - 1 = 20.

[023b] By Proposition 5.2.15 there exists a subideal I_{Γ} of F^{\perp} which is the ideal of a scheme of length eight. For a general F, the scheme consists of eight points, so $r(F) \leq 8$. Since the space of cubic forms in F^{\perp} is 2-dimensional, $r(F) \geq 8$ by Lemma 6.0.8, thus r(F) = 8. We see from the degree matrix in Proposition 5.2.15 that there are only one row basis such that a Hilbert–Burch matrix of I_{Γ} is a submatrix of $M_{[023b]}$, hence the VSP(F, 8) is one point. The dimension of the family of 8-tuples \mathbb{P}^2 is 16, by Lemma 5.1.14. Eight points in \mathbb{P}^{27} span a \mathbb{P}^7 , so the dimension of $\mathcal{F}_{[023b]}$ is 16 + 7 = 23.

[030] By Proposition 5.2.12 there exists a subideal I_{Γ} of F^{\perp} which is the ideal of a scheme of length nine. For a general F, the scheme consists of nine points, so $r(F) \leq 9$. We claim that r(F) = 0. Indeed, F^{\perp} is generated by a 3-dimension space of cubics forms, with no linear or quadratic syzygies. Since \mathcal{F}^{\perp} is of codimension 3, the only subideals of finite scheme are therefore generated by a 2-dimensional space of cubic forms that intersect in a CI. Thus, r(F) = 9. Since the dimension of 2-dimensional subspaces of a 3-dimensional space is 2, $VSP(F, 9) = \mathbb{P}^2$.

An $[F] \in \mathcal{F}_B$ is determined by the 3-dimensional space of cubic forms in F^{\perp} . Therefore, the dimension of \mathcal{F}_B is equal to the dimension of 3-dimensional subspaces of the 10-dimensional space of cubic forms, or dim G(3, 10). We have that dim $G(3, 10) = 3\dot{7} = 21$, thus the dimension of $\mathcal{F}_{[030]}$ is 21.

[016b] By Proposition 5.2.17 there exists a subideal I_{Γ} of F^{\perp} which is the ideal of a scheme of length nine, with a subscheme of length four contained in a line. For a general F, the scheme consists of nine points, so $r(F) \leq 9$. Since the space of cubic forms in F^{\perp} is 1-dimensional, $r(F) \geq 9$ by Lemma 6.0.8, thus r(F) = 9. By the same arguments as in [112], we have that $VSP(F,9) = \mathbb{P}^1$. The dimension of the family of 9-tuples, four on a line in \mathbb{P}^2 is 16, by Lemma 5.1.14. Each 9-tuple in \mathbb{P}^{27} span a \mathbb{P}^8 . Since $VSP(F,9) = \mathbb{P}^1$, the dimension of $\mathcal{F}_{[024]}$ is 16 + 8 - 1 = 23.

[016c] By Proposition 5.2.17 there exists a subideal I_{Γ} of F^{\perp} which is the ideal of a scheme of length nine, with a subscheme of length seven contained in a conic. For a general F, the scheme consists of nine points, so $r(F) \leq 9$. Since the space of cubic forms in F^{\perp} is 1-dimensional, $r(F) \geq 9$ by Lemma 6.0.8, thus r(F) = 9. By the same arguments as in [112], we have that $VSP(F,9) = \mathbb{P}^1$. The dimension of the family of 9-tuples, seven on a conic in \mathbb{P}^2 is 16, by Lemma 5.1.14. Each 9-tuple in \mathbb{P}^{27} span a \mathbb{P}^8 . Since $VSP(F,9) = \mathbb{P}^1$, the dimension of $\mathcal{F}_{[024]}$ is 16 + 8 - 1 = 23.

[023a] By Proposition 5.2.15 there exists a subideal I_{Γ} of F^{\perp} which is the ideal of a scheme of length nine. For a general F, the scheme consists of nine points, so $r(F) \leq 9$. If the rank is less than 9, then we are in one of the cases [023b] and [023c]. Since we have assumed that we are in case [023a], r(F) = 9. The ideal I_{Γ} is generated a 2-dimensional space of cubic forms, that is the whole space of cubic forms in F^{\perp} , hence the VSP(F, 9) is one point. The dimension of the family of 9-tuples \mathbb{P}^2 in a complete intersection is 16, by Lemma 5.1.14. Nine points in \mathbb{P}^{27} span a \mathbb{P}^8 , so the dimension of $\mathcal{F}_{[023a]}$ is 16 + 8 = 24.

[016a] By Proposition 5.2.17 there exists a subideal I_{Γ} of F^{\perp} which is the ideal of a scheme of length nine. For a general F, the scheme consists of nine points, so $r(F) \leq 9$. Since the space of cubic forms in F^{\perp} is 1-dimensional, $r(F) \geq 9$ by Lemma 6.0.8, thus r(F) = 9. From Theorem 4.4.1 we have that there exists two row bases such that we get the zero block, hence VSP(F,9) is two points. The dimension of the family of 9-tuples \mathbb{P}^2 is 18, by Lemma 5.1.14. Nine points in \mathbb{P}^{27} span a \mathbb{P}^8 , so the dimension of $\mathcal{F}_{[016]}$ is 18 + 8 = 26.

[009] By Proposition 5.2.17 there exists a subideal I_{Γ} of F^{\perp} which is the ideal of a scheme of length nine. For a general F, the scheme consists of nine points, so $r(F) \leq 9$. Since the space of cubic forms in F^{\perp} is 1-dimensional, $r(F) \geq 9$ by Lemma 6.0.8, thus r(F) = 9. From

Theorem 4.4.7 we have that there exists a surface of row bases such that we get the zero block, hence VSP(F, 10) is a surface. By [Muk09], the surface is a K3 surface. The dimension of the family of 10-tuples \mathbb{P}^2 is 20, by Lemma 5.1.14. Ten points in \mathbb{P}^{27} span a \mathbb{P}^9 . Since VSP(F, 10) is a surface, the dimension of $\mathcal{F}_{[009]}$ is 20 + 9 - 2 = 27.

7 Stratification

In this chapter we give a stratification $\mathbb{P}^{27} = \mathbb{P}(S_6)$ in terms of the Betti strata

$$\mathcal{F}_B = \{ F \in \mathbb{P}(S_6) : S/F^{\perp} \text{ has Betti table B} \}.$$

In other words, $\mathbb{P}^{27} = \bigsqcup \mathcal{F}_B$ and that $\overline{\mathcal{F}_B} = \bigsqcup_{\mathcal{F}' \subset \overline{\mathcal{F}}} \mathcal{F}_{B'}$. Our approach is first, in Section 7.1, to investigate two relations between the

$$\mathcal{G}_B = \{ \Gamma \subset S_1 : I_{\Gamma} \subset F^{\perp} \text{ is minimal for some } F \in \mathcal{F}_B \}.$$

The first is a closure relation between the \mathcal{G}_B consisting of schemes of equal length, and the second is a containment relation between the \mathcal{G}_B consisting of schemes of different length. Then, in Section 7.2, we use the two relations between the \mathcal{G}_B to prove relations between most of the \mathcal{F}_B . For the remaining relations between the \mathcal{F}_B and prove the remaining relations with a direct argument. We also prove some non-containments. Thereafter, we include some geometric description of the relation between some of the Betti strata. Lastly, in Section 7.3, we include the Betti strata such that there is a linear form in F^{\perp} and explain how these strata fit into our stratification.

7.1 Relations Between the \mathcal{G}_B s

7.1.1 Closure Relations Between some of the G_B s

In this section we will consider a closure relation between schemes of equal length. We will do this by proving when $\mathcal{G}_B \subset \overline{\mathcal{G}'_B}$, by proving the existence of a deformation of subschemes from \mathcal{G}'_B to \mathcal{G}_B . $X = \bigcup(\Gamma_t, t)$ is a deformation of $X_0 = (\Gamma_0, 0)$. Let $X \subset \mathbb{P}^2 \times \mathbb{A}^1$ and $f: X \to \mathbb{A}^1$. We call f a *deformation* if $f^{-1}(t)$ has the same Hilbert

Let $X \subset \mathbb{P}^2 \times \mathbb{A}^1$ and $f: X \to \mathbb{A}^1$. We call f a *deformation* if $f^{-1}(t)$ has the same Hilbert polynomial for every $t \in \mathbb{A}^1$. We are now ready to state the main result of this section.

Proposition 7.1.1. We have the following closure relations:

- 1. $\mathcal{G}_{[210]}$ (four points, three on a line) $\subset \overline{\mathcal{G}_{[200]}}$ (four general points),
- 2. $\mathcal{G}_{[111]}$ (six points on a conic) $\subset \overline{\mathcal{G}_{[040]}}$ (six general points),
- 3. $\mathcal{G}_{[023a/030]}$ (nine points in CI) $\subset \overline{\mathcal{G}_{[016a]}}$ (nine general points),
- 4. $\mathcal{G}_{[202]}$ (five points, four in a line) $\subset \overline{\mathcal{G}_{[120]}}$ (five general points),
- 5. $\mathcal{G}_{[112]}$ (six points, four on a line) $\subset \overline{\mathcal{G}_{[040]}}$ (six general points),
- 6. $\mathcal{G}_{[112]}$ (six points, four on a line) $\subset \overline{\mathcal{G}_{[111]}}$ (six points on a conic),
- 7. $\mathcal{G}_{[032]}$ (seven points, four on a line) $\subset \overline{\mathcal{G}_{[031]}}$ (seven general points),
- 8. $\mathcal{G}_{[104]}$ (seven points on a conic) $\subset \overline{\mathcal{G}_{[031]}}$ (seven general points),
- 9. $\mathcal{G}_{[024]}$ (eight points, seven on a conic) $\subset \overline{\mathcal{G}_{[023b]}}$ (eight general points),

- 10. $\mathcal{G}_{[023c]}$ (eight points, four on a line) $\subset \overline{\mathcal{G}_{[023b]}}$ (eight general points),
- 11. $\mathcal{G}_{[016c]}$ (nine points, seven on a conic) $\subset \overline{\mathcal{G}_{[016a]}}$ (nine general points),
- 12. $\mathcal{G}_{[026b]}$ (nine points, four on a line) $\subset \overline{\mathcal{G}_{[016a]}}$ (nine general points).

Proof. Since each \mathcal{G}_B is irreducible, we can show the relation for a general element. We will give an explicit construction for (1) and (4). The remaining relations can be shown in a similar way. (1) Let $\Gamma \in \mathcal{G}_{[210]}$. Without loss of generality, assume that $\Gamma = \{p_0, p_1, p_{2,3}\}$, where

$$p_0 = (1:1:0), \qquad p_2 = (0:1:0), \\ p_1 = (1:0:0), \qquad p_3 = (0:0:1).$$

That is, Γ consists of four point, three contained in the line $x_2 = 0$. Let further $\Gamma_0 = (p_1, p_2, p_3)$. Let $X_0 = (\{p_1, p_2, p_3, p_0\}, 0)$ and $X_t = (\{p_1, p_2, p_3, p_t\}, t)$, where $p_t = (1:1:t)$. Then $f: X \to \mathbb{A}^1$ is a deformation of X_0 and Γ is the limit of $\Gamma_t = \Gamma \oplus p_t$. Since every Γ_t is in $\mathcal{G}_{[200]}$, we are done.

For the next two inclusion, we do as above. That is, let I_0 be the ideal of a scheme in $\Gamma_0 \in \mathcal{G}$ and let Γ be a subscheme of Γ_0 of length d-1, where the points in Γ are general. Let p_0 be the remaining point in Γ_0 . Let I_t be a family of ideals of schemes $\Gamma_t \in \mathcal{G}'$, where $\Gamma_t = \Gamma \oplus p_t$ such that p_t has p_0 as its limit.

(4) Let $\Gamma = (p_0, p_{0'}, p_1, p_2, p_3)$, where

$$p_0 = (1:1:0), p_{0'} = (1:2:0), p_1 = (1:0:0), p_2 = (0:1:0), p_3 = (0:0:1)$$

That is, Γ consists of five points, four contained in the line $x_2 = 0$, thus $\Gamma \in \mathcal{G}_{[202]}$. Let further $\Gamma_0 = (p_1, p_2, p_3)$. Let $X_0 = (\{p_1, p_2, p_3, p_0, p_{0'}\}, 0)$ and $X_t = (\{p_1, p_2, p_3, p_t, p_{t'}\}, t)$, where $p_t = (1:1:t)$ and $p_{t'} = (1:2:t)$. Then $f : \mathbb{P}^2 \times \mathbb{A}^1 \to \mathbb{A}^1$ is a deformation of X_t to X_0 and Γ is the limit of $\Gamma_t = \Gamma \oplus p_t \oplus p_{t'}$. Since every Γ_t is in $\mathcal{G}_{[120]}$, we are done.

For the remaining inclusion, we do as in above. That is, let I_0 be the ideal of a scheme in $\Gamma_0 \in \mathcal{G}$ and let Γ be a subscheme of Γ_0 of length d-2, where the points in Γ are general. Let p_0 and $p_{0'}$ be the remaining points in Γ_0 . Let I_t be a family of ideals of schemes $\Gamma_t \in \mathcal{G}'$, where $\Gamma_t = \Gamma \oplus p_t \oplus p_{t'}$ such that p_t has p_0 as its limit and $p_{t'}$ has $p_{0'}$ as its limit.

7.1.2 Containment Relations Between some of the \mathcal{G}_B s

In this section we will prove a containment relation between \mathcal{G}_B consisting of schemes of different length.

Definition 7.1.2. We say that $\mathcal{G}_{B_1} \sqsubset \mathcal{G}_{B_2}$ if for a general $\Gamma_2 \in \mathcal{G}_{B_2}$, there exists a $\Gamma_1 \subset \Gamma_2$ such that $\Gamma_1 \in \mathcal{G}_{B_1}$.

We observe that if $\mathcal{G}_{B_1} \sqsubset \mathcal{G}_{B_2}$ then for each $\Gamma_1 \in \mathcal{G}_{B_1}$, we can find a $\Gamma_2 \in \mathcal{G}_{B_2}$ such that $\Gamma_1 \subset \Gamma_2$ by adding an appropriate point p to Γ_1 . We show the strategy in an example.

We are now ready to state the first proposition in this section.

Proposition 7.1.3. We have the following relations of the kind \Box :

- 1. $\mathcal{G}_{[200]}$ (four points) $\sqsubset \mathcal{G}_{[120]}$ (five points) $\sqsubset \mathcal{G}_{[040]}$ (six points) $\sqsubset \mathcal{G}_{[031]}$ (seven points) $\sqsubset \mathcal{G}_{[023b]}$ (eight points) $\sqsubset \mathcal{G}_{[016a]}$ (nine points) $\sqsubset \mathcal{G}_{[009]}$ (ten points)
- 2. $\mathcal{G}_{[104]}$ (seven points on a conic) $\sqsubset \mathcal{G}_{[024]}$ (eight points, seven on a conic) $\sqsubset \mathcal{G}_{[016c]}$ (nine points, seven on a conic)

- 3. $\mathcal{G}_{[300]}$ (three points) $\sqsubset \mathcal{G}_{[210]}$ (four points, three on a line) $\sqsubset \mathcal{G}_{[202]}$ (five points, four on a line) $\sqsubset \mathcal{G}_{[112]}$ (six points, four on a line) $\sqsubset \mathcal{G}_{[032]}$ (seven points, four on a line) $\sqsubset \mathcal{G}_{[023c]}$ (eight points, four on a line) $\sqsubset \mathcal{G}_{[016b]}$ (nine points, four on a line)
- 4. $\mathcal{G}_{[120]}$ (five general points) $\sqsubset \mathcal{G}_{[111]}$ (six points on a conic) $\sqsubset \mathcal{G}_{[104]}$ (seven points on a conic)
- 5. $\mathcal{G}_{[023b]}$ (eight points) $\sqsubset \mathcal{G}_{[016a/030]}$ (nine points in CI)

Proof. Since each \mathcal{G}_B is irreducible, we can show the relation for a general element.

For a given $\Gamma \in \mathcal{G}_B$ we can choose a point $p \in \mathbb{P}^2$ such that $\Gamma \oplus p \in \mathcal{G}_{B'}$. For the first and second case, we add a general point. For the third case we add a point on a line contained in the scheme, the forth a point on a conic contained in the scheme and the fifth a point on two cubics contained in the scheme.

The relation from Proposition 7.1.1 and Proposition 7.1.3 are depicted in Figure 7.1. A dashed arrow represents a containment relation \Box and a regular arrow represents a closure relation.



Figure 7.1: Relations between the \mathcal{G}_B s. A dashed arrow represents a containment relation \sqsubset and a regular arrow represents a closure relation

7.2 Relations between the $\mathcal{F}_B s$

In this section we will prove the closure relations between the \mathcal{F}_B . First, we prove how we can use the relations between the \mathcal{G}_B to get relations between most of the \mathcal{F}_B . Since $\mathcal{G}_{[023a/030]}$ consist of schemes such that I_{Γ} is minimal for either $\mathcal{F}_{[023a]}$ or $\mathcal{F}_{[030]}$, we need additional arguments to prove the relation between $\mathcal{F}_{[023a]}$ and $\mathcal{F}_{[030]}$. Thereafter, we prove the remaining relations using the concept of catalecticants and secant varieties. Lastly, we prove some non-containments. Recall that we say that Γ is minimal for F if the length of Γ is equal to the Cactus rank of F.

Now, we are ready to explain how we use the relations between the \mathcal{G}_B s to the \mathcal{F}_B s.

Lemma 7.2.1. Let \mathcal{F}_B be one of the irreducible Betti strata. Let $F \in \mathcal{F}_B$ be general assume Γ minimal for F. Then $\langle v_6(\Gamma) \rangle \subset \overline{\mathcal{F}_B}$.

Proof. Let $\mathcal{F}_{\Gamma} = \{F \in \mathbb{P}(S_6) : \Gamma \text{ is minimal for } F\}$. We obviously have $\mathcal{F}_{\Gamma} \subset \langle v_6(\Gamma) \rangle$, and we claim that $\overline{\mathcal{F}_{\Gamma}} = \langle v_6(\Gamma) \rangle$. Indeed, let n + 1 be the cardinality of points in Γ . Since Γ is minimal for an F, then $\langle v_6(\Gamma) \rangle = \mathbb{P}^n$. Further, we have that \mathcal{F}_{Γ} is open in $\langle v_6(\Gamma) \rangle$, hence $\overline{\mathcal{F}_{\Gamma}} = \langle v_6(\Gamma) \rangle$. To complete the proof, observe that $\mathcal{F}_{\Gamma} \subset \mathcal{F}_B$. Thus $\langle v_6(\Gamma) \rangle = \overline{\mathcal{F}_{\Gamma}} \subset \overline{\mathcal{F}_B}$.

Proposition 7.2.2. Assume $F_i \in \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{B}_i}$ is apolar to a scheme $\Gamma_i \in \mathcal{G}_{\mathcal{B}_i}$ and that Γ_i is minimal for F_i for $i \in \{1, 2\}$. If $\mathcal{G}_{\mathcal{B}_1} \sqsubset \mathcal{G}_{\mathcal{B}_2}$, then $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{B}_1} \subset \overline{\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{B}_2}}$.

Proof. Since the Betti strata \mathcal{F}_B are irreducible we only need to prove the result for a general F. Let $F_1 \in \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{B}_1}$ be general. By assumption, there exists an $\Gamma_2 \in \mathcal{G}_{B_2}$ such that $\Gamma_1 \subset \Gamma_2$. Since $F_1 \in \langle v_6(\Gamma_1) \rangle \subset \langle v_6(\Gamma_2) \rangle \subset \overline{\mathcal{F}_{B_2}}$ by Lemma 7.2.1, we are done.

Proposition 7.2.3. Assume $F_i \in \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{B}_i}$ is apolar to a scheme $\Gamma_i \in \mathcal{G}_{B_i}$ and that Γ_i is minimal for F_i for $i \in \{1, 2\}$. If $\mathcal{G}_{B_1} \subset \overline{\mathcal{G}_{B_2}}$, then $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{B}_1} \subset \overline{\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{B}_2}}$.

Proof. Since the Betti strata \mathcal{F}_B are irreducible we only need to prove the result for a general F. Let $F_1 \in \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{B}_1}$ be general. By assumption there exists $(\Gamma_2^t)_{t \in \mathbb{A}^1 - 0}$ such that $\Gamma_2^0 = \Gamma_1 \in \mathcal{G}_{B_1}$ is the limit and $\Gamma_2^t \in \mathcal{G}_{B_2}$. Then there exists F_t such that Γ_2^t i apolar to F_t and $F_t \in \langle v_6(\Gamma_2^t) \rangle \subset \overline{\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{B}_2}}$ by Lemma 7.2.1. Since $F_1 \in \langle v_6(\Gamma_1) \rangle$, F_1 is the limit of $(F_t)_{t \in \mathbb{A}^1 - 0}$ and $F_1 \in \overline{\mathcal{F}_{B_2}}$.

By using Proposition 7.1.1 together with Proposition 7.2.3 and Proposition 7.1.3 together with Proposition 7.2.2, we get the following

Proposition 7.2.4. There are 20 irreducible Betti strata of non-degenerate ternary quartic forms and they satisfy the following closure relations:

- 1. $\mathcal{F}_{[210]}$ (four points, three on a line) $\subset \overline{\mathcal{F}_{[200]}}$ (four general points),
- 2. $\mathcal{F}_{[111]}$ (six points on a conic) $\subset \overline{\mathcal{F}_{[040]}}$ (six general points),
- 3. $\mathcal{F}_{[023a/030]}$ (nine points in CI) $\subset \overline{\mathcal{F}_{[016a]}}$ (nine general points),
- 4. $\mathcal{F}_{[202]}$ (five points, four in a line) $\subset \overline{\mathcal{F}_{[120]}}$ (five general points),
- 5. $\mathcal{F}_{[112]}$ (six points, four on a line) $\subset \overline{\mathcal{F}_{[040]}}$ (six general points),
- 6. $\mathcal{G}_{[112]}$ (six points, four on a line) $\subset \overline{\mathcal{G}_{[111]}}$ (six points on a conic),
- 7. $\mathcal{F}_{[032]}$ (seven points, four on a line) $\subset \overline{\mathcal{F}_{[031]}}$ (seven general points),
- 8. $\mathcal{F}_{[104]}$ (seven points on a conic) $\subset \overline{\mathcal{F}_{[031]}}$ (seven general points),
- 9. $\mathcal{F}_{[024]}$ (eight points, seven on a conic) $\subset \overline{\mathcal{F}_{[023b]}}$ (eight general points),
- 10. $\mathcal{F}_{[023c]}$ (eight points, four on a line) $\subset \overline{\mathcal{F}_{[023b]}}$ (eight general points),
- 11. $\mathcal{F}_{[016c]}$ (nine points, seven on a conic) $\subset \overline{\mathcal{F}_{[016a]}}$ (nine general points),
- 12. $\mathcal{F}_{[026b]}$ (nine points, four on a line) $\subset \overline{\mathcal{F}_{[016a]}}$ (nine general points).

- 13. $\mathcal{F}_{[200]}$ (four points) $\subset \overline{\mathcal{F}_{[120]}}$ (five points) $\subset \overline{\mathcal{F}_{[040]}}$ (six points) $\subset \overline{\mathcal{F}_{[031]}}$ (seven points) $\subset \overline{\mathcal{F}_{[023b]}}$ (eight points) $\subset \overline{\mathcal{F}_{[016a]}}$ (nine points) $\subset \overline{\mathcal{F}_{[009]}}$ (ten points)
- 14. $\mathcal{F}_{[104]}$ (seven points on a conic) $\subset \overline{\mathcal{F}_{[024]}}$ (eight points, seven on a conic) $\subset \overline{\mathcal{F}_{[016c]}}$ (nine points, seven on a conic)
- 15. $\mathcal{F}_{[300]}$ (three points) $\subset \overline{\mathcal{F}_{[210]}}$ (four points, three on a line) $\subset \overline{\mathcal{F}_{[202]}}$ (five points, four on a line) $\subset \overline{\mathcal{F}_{[112]}}$ (six points, four on a line) $\subset \overline{\mathcal{F}_{[032]}}$ (seven points, four on a line) $\subset \overline{\mathcal{F}_{[023c]}}$ (eight points, four on a line) $\subset \overline{\mathcal{F}_{[016b]}}$ (nine points, four on a line)
- 16. $\mathcal{F}_{[120]}$ (five general points) $\subset \overline{\mathcal{F}_{[111]}}$ (six points on a conic) $\subset \overline{\mathcal{F}_{[104]}}$ (seven points on a conic)
- 17. $\mathcal{F}_{[023b]}$ (eight points) $\subset \overline{\mathcal{F}_{[016a/030]}}$ (nine points in CI)

Proposition 7.2.5. $\mathcal{F}_{[031]} \subset \overline{\mathcal{F}_{[030]}} \subset \overline{\mathcal{F}_{[023a]}}$

Proof. We let $B_1 = [030]$ and $B_2 = [023a]$. Let $\Gamma \in \mathcal{G}_{[030]/[023a]}$ be general. Then there exists $F_1 \in \mathcal{F}_{B_1}$ and $F_2 \in \mathcal{F}_{B_2}$ such that Γ is minimal for F_1 and F_2 . Let $\mathcal{F}_{\Gamma_i} = \{F \in \langle v_6(\Gamma) \rangle : F \in F_{B_i}\}$ for $i \in \{1, 2\}$. We claim that $\overline{\mathcal{F}_{\Gamma_2}} = \langle v_6(\Gamma) \rangle$. Indeed, since F^{\perp} for $F \in \mathcal{F}_{B_1}$ is generated by three cubic forms, we have that each 3-dimensional subspace of the vector space of cubic forms containing I_{Γ} gives a point $F \in \mathcal{F}_{\Gamma_1}$. Since the space of 3-dimensional subspaces of the vector space of the vector $\overline{\mathcal{F}_{\Gamma_2}} = \langle v_6(\Gamma) \rangle$. To complete the proof, observe that $\mathcal{F}_{\Gamma_1} \subset \langle v_6(\Gamma) \rangle$ and $\mathcal{F}_{\Gamma_2} \subset \mathcal{F}_{B_2}$. Thus, $F_1 \in \mathcal{F}_{\Gamma_1} \subset \overline{\mathcal{F}_{\Gamma_2}} \subset \overline{\mathcal{F}_{B_2}}$.

Lemma 7.2.6. Let h_{ij} be the dimension of the space of forms of degree j in F_i^{\perp} for $F_i \in \mathcal{F}_i$. If $\mathcal{F}_1 \subset \overline{\mathcal{F}_2}$, then $h_{1j} \geq h_{2j}$.

Proof. Let $F \in \mathcal{F}_1$ be the limit of $(F_t)_{t \in \mathbb{A}-0}$ where $F_t \in \mathcal{F}_2$. Since F_t^{\perp} contains a h_{2j} -dimensional space of forms of degree j, then also F_0^{\perp} contains a h_{2j} -dimensional space of forms of degree j. This shows that $h_{1j} \geq h_{2j}$ for every j.

Proposition 7.2.7. We have the following non-containments

- 1. $\mathcal{F}_{[024]} \nsubseteq \overline{\mathcal{F}_{[030]}}$
- 2. $\mathcal{F}_{[023c]} \nsubseteq \overline{\mathcal{F}_{[030]}}$
- 3. $\mathcal{F}_{[016c]} \nsubseteq \overline{\mathcal{F}_{[023a]}}$
- 4. $\mathcal{F}_{[016b]} \nsubseteq \overline{\mathcal{F}_{[023a]}}$
- 5. $\mathcal{F}_{[030]} \not\subseteq \overline{\mathcal{F}_{[016c]}}$
- 6. $\mathcal{F}_{[030]} \not\subseteq \overline{\mathcal{F}_{[016b]}}$

Proof. The first four cases follows directly from Lemma 7.2.6. For case (5), observe that a general $F \in \mathcal{F}_{[016c]}$ is apolar to a scheme of length nine with a subscheme of length seven contained in a conic. This must also be the case for an $F \in \overline{\mathcal{F}_{[016c]}}$. Since an $F \in \mathcal{F}_{[030]}$ is apolar to a scheme which is a complete intersection of two cubics, and there are no subscheme of seven points contained in a conic in the complete intersection of two cubics, $\mathcal{F}_{[030]} \notin \overline{\mathcal{F}_{[016c]}}$. For case (6), observe that, by similar arguments, an $F \in \overline{\mathcal{F}_{[016b]}}$ is apolar to a scheme of length nine containing a subscheme of length four contained in a line. There are no subscheme of length four contained in a line in a complete intersection of two cubics, hence $\mathcal{F}_{[030]} \notin \mathcal{F}_{[016b]}$.

The relation from Proposition 7.2.4, Proposition 7.2.5 and Proposition 7.2.7 are depicted in Figure 7.2. An arrow represents a closure relation.



Figure 7.2: Stratification of $\mathbb{P}(S_6) = \mathbb{P}^{27}$. An arrow represents a closure relation

7.2.1 Geometric Interpretation

The sth secant variety to the Veronese variety is

$$\operatorname{Sec}_{s}(v_{d}(\mathbb{P}(S_{1}))) = \overline{\{[F] \in \mathbb{P}(S_{d}) : F = L_{1}^{d} + \dots + L_{s}^{d} \text{ for some } L_{1}, \dots, L_{s} \in S_{1}\}}$$

Definition 7.2.8. Let $F \in S_d = \mathbb{C}[x_0, \ldots, x_n]$ and $G \in T_{d-u}$ and consider the map

$$\begin{aligned} T_{d-u} &\to S_u \\ G &\mapsto F(G) \end{aligned}$$

The matrix associated to the map is called the *catalecticant* and is written Cat(u, d-u, n+1)(F).

We will use the case n = 1, d = 2k and u = k, so let $F = \sum_{j=0}^{d-1} {d \choose j} a_j x_0^{d-j} x_1^d$. Then, by [Dol12, Example 1.4.1],

$$\operatorname{Cat}(k,k,2)(F) = \begin{pmatrix} a_0 & a_1 & \dots & a_k \\ a_1 & a_2 & \dots & a_{k+1} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ a_k & a_{k+1} & \dots & a_{2k} \end{pmatrix}.$$

We have the following relationship between the catalecticant and the secant varieties.

Lemma 7.2.9. [Iar99, Theorem 1.45] Let $C = \mathbb{P}^1$ be a curve and let $F = v_d(C) \subset \mathbb{P}(S_d)$. Let $I_{s+1}(\operatorname{Cat}(k,k,2)(F))$ be the ideal generated by the $(s+1) \times (s+1)$ -minors of $\operatorname{Cat}(k,k,2)(F)$ and let $s \geq 1$. Then

$$I_{s+1}(\operatorname{Cat}(k,k,2)(F)) = I(\operatorname{Sec}_s(F)).$$

We give give two examples. In the first example, C is a line and in the second example, C is a conic.

Example 7.2.10. Let C be a line L. Then $F = v_6(L) \subset \mathbb{P}^{27}$ is a sextic. Recall that an $[F_L] \in \langle v_6(L) \rangle$ can be considered as a general binary form. By Theorem 6.0.4, r(F) = 4, thus we have the following strict inclusions:

$$v_6(L) \subsetneq \operatorname{Sec}_2(v_6(L)) \subsetneq \operatorname{Sec}_3(v_6(L)) \subsetneq eq \operatorname{Sec}_4(v_6(L)) = \langle v_6(L) \rangle.$$

We write $F = \sum_{j=0}^{5} {6 \choose j} a_j x_0^{6-j} x_1^6$ and consider $(a_0 : \cdots : a_6)$ as coordinates in $\langle v_6(L) \rangle = \mathbb{P}^6$. This gives

$$\operatorname{Cat}(3,3,2)(F) = \begin{pmatrix} a_0 & a_1 & a_2 & a_3 \\ a_1 & a_2 & a_3 & a_4 \\ a_2 & a_3 & a_4 & a_5 \\ a_3 & a_4 & a_5 & a_6 \end{pmatrix}.$$

For an $[F_L] \in \mathbb{P}^6$, we have by Lemma 7.2.9, that $[F_L] \in \text{Sec}_3(F)$ if and only if det(Cat(3,3,2)(F)) vanish in $[F_L]$, $[F_L] \in \text{Sec}_2(F)$ if and only if every 3×3 minor of Cat(3,3,2)(F) vanish in $[F_L]$, and $[F_L] \in F$ if and only if every 2×2 minor of Cat(3,3,2)(F) vanish in $[F_L]$.

Example 7.2.11. Let C be a line Q. Then $F = v_6(Q) \subset \mathbb{P}^{27}$ is a degree twelve polynomial. Recall that an $[F_Q] \in \langle v_6(Q) \rangle$ can be considered as a general binary form. By Theorem 6.0.4, r(F) = 7, thus we have the following strict inclusions:

$$v_6(Q) \subsetneq \operatorname{Sec}_2(v_6(Q)) \subsetneq \operatorname{Sec}_3(v_6(Q)) \subseteq \operatorname{Sec}_4(v_6(Q)) = \langle v_6(Q) \rangle.$$

We write $F = \sum_{j=0}^{11} {\binom{12}{j}} a_j x_0^{12-j} x_1^{12}$ and consider $(a_0 : \cdots : a_{12})$ as coordinates in $\langle v_6(Q) \rangle = \mathbb{P}^{12}$. This gives

$$\operatorname{Cat}(6,6,2)(F) = \begin{pmatrix} a_0 & a_1 & a_2 & a_3 & a_4 & a_5 & a_6 \\ a_1 & a_2 & a_3 & a_4 & a_5 & a_6 & a_7 \\ a_2 & a_3 & a_4 & a_5 & a_6 & a_7 & a_8 \\ a_3 & a_4 & a_5 & a_6 & a_7 & a_8 & a_9 \\ a_4 & a_5 & a_6 & a_7 & a_8 & a_9 & a_{10} \\ a_5 & a_6 & a_7 & a_8 & a_9 & a_{10} & a_{11} \\ a_6 & a_7 & a_8 & a_9 & a_{10} & a_{11} & a_{12} \end{pmatrix}.$$

For an $[F_Q] \in \mathbb{P}^{12}$, we have by Lemma 7.2.9, that $[F_Q] \in \text{Sec}_s(F)$ if and only if every $(s-1) \times (s-1)$ minor of Cat(3,3,2)(F) vanish in $[F_Q]$ for $3 \leq s \leq 7$, and $[F_Q] \in F$ if and only if every 2×2 minor of Cat(3,3,2)(F) vanish in $[F_Q]$.

Now, we introduce some lemmas we will use in the discussion below.

Lemma 7.2.12. Let A be an $n \times n$ matrix. Then A has rank r if and only if A can be written as a minimal sum of r matrices of rank 1.

Proof. Let $A = (v_1, \ldots, v_n)$, that is v_i are the columns of A. Since A has rank r, there exists a basis $\{b_1, \ldots, b_r\}$ for the column space of A. In other word, there exists a_{ij} such that

$$v_1 = a_{11}b_1 + \dots + a_{1r}b_r,$$

$$\vdots$$

$$v_n = a_{n1}b_1 + \dots + a_{nr}b_r.$$

This gives that

$$A = (a_{11}b_1 + \dots + a_{1r}b_r, \dots, a_{n1}b_1 + \dots + a_{nr}b_r)$$

= $(a_{11}b_1, \dots, a_{n1}b_1) + \dots + (a_{1r}b_r + \dots + a_{nr}b_r)$

Since $A_i = (a_{1i}b_i, \dots, a_{ni}b_i)$ is a matrix where every column is a multiple of b_i , A_i has rank 1. For the other implication, assume that

$$A = (a_{11}b_1, \dots, a_{n1}b_1) + \dots + (a_{1r}b_r + \dots + a_{nr}b_r)$$

= $(a_{11}b_1 + \dots + a_{1r}b_r, \dots, a_{n1}b_1 + \dots + a_{nr}b_r).$

Since r is minimal, $\{b_1, \ldots, b_r\}$ is linearly independent. Since the columns of A are spanned by $\{b_1, \ldots, b_r\}$, the column space as dimension n, which implies that A has rank n.

Let the multiplicity of p in det A be

$$m_p(\det A) = \max\{m : D(\det A)(p) = 0 \text{ for all } D \in \mathbb{C}[\frac{\partial}{\partial a_{ij}}]_{m-1}\}$$

Lemma 7.2.13. Let $A = (a_{ij})$ be an $n \times n$ matrix and let $p \in \mathbb{P}^{n^2-1}$ Assume $m = m_p(\det A)$. Then every $(n - m + 1) \times (n - m + 1)$ minors vanish in p.

Proof. Let $A_{i,j}$ be the $(n-1) \times (n-1)$ minor obtained by deleting the *i*th row and *j*th column, Generally, let det $A_{i_1...i_{m-1},j_1...j_{m-1}}$ be the $(n-m+1) \times (n-m+1)$ minor obtained by deleting the rows i_1, \ldots, i_{m-1} and columns j_1, \ldots, j_{m-1} . Then det $A = \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} a_{ij} \det A_{ij}$. Thus,

$$\frac{\partial \det A}{\partial a_{ij}} = \det A_{ij}$$

In the same way, we let $0 \le i_1 < \cdots < i_{m-1} \le n-1$ and $0 \le j_1 < \cdots < j_{m-1} \le n-1$ be given. Then

$$\frac{\partial^m \det A}{\partial a_{i_1 j_1} \dots a_{i_{m-1} j_{m-1}}} = \det A_{i_1 \dots i_{m-1}, j_1 \dots j_{m-1}}.$$

Evaluating in p, we get

$$\frac{\partial^m \det A}{\partial a_{i_1j_1} \dots a_{i_mj_m}}(p) = \det A_{i_1 \dots i_m, j_1 \dots j_m}(p).$$

Since $\frac{\partial \det A}{\partial a_{i_1 j_1} \dots a_{i_m j_m}}(p) = 0$ by assumption, we are done.

Lemma 7.2.14. Let $\operatorname{Cat}(k,k,2)(F)$ be given and consider the hypersurface $H = V(\operatorname{det}(\operatorname{Cat}(k,k,2)(F)))$. If $p \subset \operatorname{Sec}_s(F)$, but $p \nsubseteq \operatorname{Sec}_{s-1}(F)$, then $m_p = k + 1 - s$.

Proof. This follows from Lemma 7.2.13, Lemma 7.2.12 and Lemma 7.2.9.

Proposition 7.2.15. $\mathcal{F}_{[016c]} \neq \mathcal{F}_{[016b]}$

Proof. Since dim $\mathcal{F}_{[016c]} = \dim \mathcal{F}_{[016b]}$ it is enough to show that for a general element $F \in \mathcal{F}_{[016b]}$ then $F \notin \mathcal{F}_{[016c]}$. Assume therefore $F \in \mathcal{F}_{[016b]}$, that is F is apolar to a scheme Γ where a subscheme of length four is contained in a line L. Let Q be the conic containing the remaining five points. We have that $\langle v_6(L) \rangle = \mathbb{P}^6$, $\langle v_6(Q) \rangle = \mathbb{P}^{12}$. Let $p_1, p_2 \in L \cap Q$. Then $\langle v_6(p_1), v_6(p_2) \rangle \subset \langle v_6(L) \rangle \cap \langle v_6(Q) \rangle$, which gives that $\langle v_6(L), v_6(Q) \rangle = \mathbb{P}^{17}$. Let

$$\hat{L} = \langle v_6(L) \rangle \cap \langle v_6(Q), F \rangle = \mathbb{P}^2 \subset \mathbb{P}^6,$$
$$\hat{Q} = \langle v_6(Q) \rangle \cap \langle v_6(L), F \rangle = \mathbb{P}^2 \subset \mathbb{P}^{12}.$$

A general point in \hat{L} has rank 4 and a general point in \hat{Q} has rank 7. If we prove that there exists an $F_1 \in \hat{L}$ such that F_1 has rank 2, then we can find a unique $F_2 \in \hat{Q}$ such that $F_2 \in \langle F_1, F \rangle$, so F would be of type [016b]. We claim that such an F_1 does not exist. Indeed, let

$$H = V(I_3(Cat(3,3,2)(v_6(L)))),$$

and consider $H \cap \hat{L}$. If there exists an $F_1 \in H \cap \hat{L}$, then $F_1 \in \text{Sec}_2(v_6(L))$. Since dim $S_2(v_6(L)) = 3$ and both $H, \hat{L} \subset \mathbb{P}^6$, we have $H \cap \hat{L} = \emptyset$ in general. Consequently, there does not exists an $F_1 \in \hat{L}$ of rank 2, so $F \notin \mathcal{F}_{[016c]}$.

Remark 7.2.16. The relationship between the catalecticant and the secant varieties to a curve can be used to give a geometric description of the VSP(F, 9) for an $F \in \mathcal{F}_{[016a]}$. Let $F \in \mathcal{F}_{[016a]}$ and recall that VSP(F, 9) is two points, that is F can be written as a power sum representation of nine linear forms in two ways. By apolarity, there exists a $I_{\Gamma} \subset F^{\perp}$ and we have shown that I_{Γ} is generated by a cubic K and a 3-dimensional subset of quadrics. In particular, Γ is contained in K. Assume that K is the union of a line L and a quadric Q. Then there exists a subscheme $\Gamma_L \subset \Gamma$ of length three contained in L and a subscheme $\Gamma_Q \subset \Gamma$ of length six contained in Q.

Let $p_1, p_2 \in L \cap Q$ and let $L' = \langle v_6(p_1), v_6(p_2) \rangle$. By the same arguments as in the proof of Proposition 7.2.15, we can find two planes

$$\begin{split} \hat{L} &= \langle v_6(L) \rangle \cap \langle v_6(Q), F \rangle = \mathbb{P}^2 \subset \mathbb{P}^6, \\ \hat{Q} &= \langle v_6(Q) \rangle \cap \langle v_6(L), F \rangle = \mathbb{P}^2 \subset \mathbb{P}^{12}. \end{split}$$

Let

$$H_L = V(\det(\operatorname{Cat}(3,3,2)(v_6(L))))$$

$H_Q = V(\det(\operatorname{Cat}(6, 6, 2)(v_6(Q)))).$

We first consider $H_L \cap \hat{L} \in \mathbb{P}^6$. Since dim $H_L = 5$ and dim $\hat{L} = 2$, dim $(H_L \cap \hat{L}) = 1$. For every $p \in L'$, we have that $p \in \text{Sec}_2(v_6(L))$, thus, by Lemma 7.2.14, $L'^2Q' = H_L \cap \hat{L}$, where Q' is a conic. Since $v_6(p_1), v_6(p_2) \in v_6(L)$, the multiplicity of $H_L \cap \hat{L}$ in these point is 3, thus $v_6(p_1), v_6(p_2) \in Q'$. Secondly, we consider $H_Q \cap \hat{Q} \in \mathbb{P}^{12}$. Since dim $H_Q = 11$ and dim $\hat{Q} = 2$, dim $(H_Q \cap \hat{Q}) = 1$. For every $p \in L'$, we have that $p \in \text{Sec}_2(v_6(Q))$, thus, by Lemma 7.2.14 $L'^5Q'' = H_Q \cap \hat{Q}$, where Q'' is a conic. Since $v_6(p_1), v_6(p_2) \in v_6(Q)$, the multiplicity of $H_Q \cap \hat{Q}$ in these points i 6, thus $v_6(p_1), v_6(p_2) \in Q''$. To summarize, each point on Q' has rank 3 and each point on Q'' as rank 6.

We will show that there are two pairs of points on Q' and Q'' such that F lies in the span of each pair. Pick a point $F_L \in Q'$ and let F_Q be the corresponding point in \hat{Q} such that $F \in \langle F_L, F_Q \rangle$. Let F_L variate along Q' and consider the conic $Q_{\hat{Q}}$ in \hat{Q} parameterizing the corresponding F_Q . Then $Q_{\hat{Q}} \in \hat{Q} = \mathbb{P}^2$ and $Q'' \in \hat{Q} = \mathbb{P}^2$ intersect in four points, where two of the points are $v_6(p_1), v_6(p_2)$. Let F_2, F'_2 be the remaining two points and let F_1, F'_1 be the corresponding points on Q'. Then $F \in \langle F_1, F_2 \rangle$ and $F \in \langle F'_1, F'_2 \rangle$. See the figure.



We now investigate how a general element of $\mathcal{F}_{[016b]}$ or $\mathcal{F}_{[016c]}$ fits into the figure. Let $F \in \mathcal{F}_{[016c]}$. Thus F is apolar to a scheme Γ of length nine, where a subscheme of length two is contained in a line L and the remaining subscheme of length seven in a conic Q. Let $L', \hat{L}, \hat{Q}, H_L$ and H_Q be as above. We consider $H_L \cap \hat{L} \in \mathbb{P}^6$. As in the case [016a], $L'Q' = H_L \cap \hat{L}$, where Q' is a conic. By assumption, there exists an $F_{(2)} \in \hat{L}$ of rank 2. Thus, $m_{F_{(2)}}(H_L) = 2$, so Q' is the union of two lines intersecting in $F_{(2)}$. A general point in \hat{Q} has rank 7, thus we can find an $F_{(7)} \in \hat{Q}$ of rank 7 such that $F \in \langle F_{(2)}, F_{(7)} \rangle$. Since $VSP(F_{(7)}, 7) = \mathbb{P}^1$, there is pencil of ways F can be decomposed as a sum of $F_{(2)}$ and $F_{(7)}$. Consider now $H_Q \cap \hat{Q}$. The situation is an in the case [016a], so $L'^5Q'' = H_Q \cap \hat{Q}$, where Q'' in general is a non-degenerate conic. We use the same strategy to find F_1, F_2 and F'_1, F'_2 such that $F \in \langle F_1, F_2 \rangle$ and $F \in \langle F'_1, F'_2 \rangle$ and F_1, F'_1 has rank 3 and F_2, F'_2 has rank 6. Since F_1 lies on the line spanned by $v_6(p_1)$ and $F_{(2)}$ and $F_{(7)}$, the decomposition $F = F_1 + F_2$ is one of the decompositions of in $VSP(F, 7) = \mathbb{P}^1$.

Let $F \in \mathcal{F}_{[016b]}$. We can do a similar description as in the case [016c], where we note that Q'' and not Q' is degenerate, since we assume that there exists a point of rank 5 in \hat{Q} .

7.3 Binary Forms

In this section we explain how the F where F^{\perp} contains a linear form fits into the stratification just given. Recall that if F^{\perp} contains a linear form, then F can be considered as a binary form. The power sum decomposition of binary forms are completely understood and are stated in the following **Theorem 7.3.1** (Sylvester). Let d = 2k and $F \in \mathbb{C}[x_0, x_1]_d$. Then $F^{\perp} = \langle G_1, G_2 \rangle$, where $\deg G_1 = d_1$ and $\deg G_2 = d_2$ and $d_1 + d_2 = d + 2$. Let $d_1 \leq d_2$. Then $r(F) = d_2 \operatorname{VSP}(F, r(F))$ is one point for $r(F) \leq k$ and $\operatorname{VSP}(F, k + 1) = \mathbb{P}^1$.

Corollary 7.3.2. Let d = 6 and $F \in \mathbb{C}[x_0, x_1, x_2]_6$ and assume that F is apolar to a line. Then $r(F) \leq 4$ and VSP(F, r(F)) is one points for $r(F) \leq 3$ and $VSP(F, 4) = \mathbb{P}^1$.

1 2 1 -	11	1 1	1
	- 1 1 -		
		- 1 1 -	
			- 2 2 -
		- 1 1 -	
	- 1 1 -		
- 2 1 1	1 1	1 1	1

By the corollary we can find the Betti tables for each case.

We summarize the corollary in a table.

B	r(F)	VSP(F, r)	Г	$\dim(\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{B}})$
[000]	1	one point	one point	2
[100]	2	one point	two points	5
[010]	3	one point	three points on a line	7
[002]	4	\mathbb{P}^1	four points on a line	8

Observe that the type [000] is $v_6(\mathbb{P}^2) \subset \mathbb{P}^{27}$. We show how these Betti strata fit into our stratification in Figure 7.3.



Figure 7.3: Stratification including the binary forms

8 | Double Cubic Forms

In this chapter we do explicit computation on the apolar ideal of double cubic forms. In particular, we investigate the relation between a given form $F = Q^2$, where Q is a ternary cubic, and a cubic apolar to F.

We begin with a familiar characterization of ternary cubics. The family of ternary cubics of the form $Q = x_0^3 + x_1^3 + x_2^3 + \lambda x_0 x_1 x_2 = 0$ for $\lambda \in \mathbb{A}^1$ is called *the Hesse pencil*.

Lemma 8.0.1. [AD08] Let Q = 0 be a smooth ternary cubic. Then Q = 0 is a member of the Hesse pencil. The only singular member of the Hesse pencil is the following

1. $x_0 x_1 x_2 = 0$

2. $(x_0 + x_1 + x_2)(x_0 + \epsilon x_1 + \epsilon^2 x_2)(x_0 + \epsilon^2 x_1 + \epsilon x_2) = 0$

- 3. $(x_0 + \epsilon x_1 + x_2)(x_0 + \epsilon_1^x + \epsilon_2^x)(x_0 + x_1 + \epsilon x_2) = 0$
- 4. $(x_0 + \epsilon^2 x_1 + x_2)(x_0 + \epsilon x_1 + \epsilon x_2)(x_0 + x_1 + \epsilon^2 x_2) = 0$, where $\epsilon^3 = 1$.

A cubic of the form $Q = x_0^3 + x_1^2 x_2 - x_0^2 x_2 = 0$ is called a *nodal cubic* and a cubic of the form $Q = x_0^3 - x_1^2 x_2 = 0$ is called a cuspidal cubic.

Lemma 8.0.2. Let Q = 0 med a non-degenerate ternary cubic not in the Hesse pencil. Then Q = 0 is either a nodal cubic or a cuspidal cubic.

Now, we give a result that gives a correspondence between a double cubic form F and a cubic in the apolar ideal.

Proposition 8.0.3. Let $Q = x_0^3 + x_1^3 + x_2^3 + \lambda x_0 x_1 x_2$ and let $Q' = y_0^3 + y_1^3 + y_2^3 + \lambda' y_0 y_1 y_2$. Let $Q^2 = F$. If $\lambda \lambda' = -18$, then $Q' \in F^{\perp}$.

Proof. We use the program in Listing 10.21 and get the following output:

$$Q'(Q^{2}) = (8\lambda\lambda' + 144)x_{0}^{3} + (8\lambda\lambda' + 144)x_{1}^{3} + (8\lambda\lambda' + 144)x_{2}^{3} + (8\lambda\lambda' + 144)x_{2}^{3} + (8\lambda\lambda' + 144)\lambda x_{0}x_{1}x_{2}$$

Since $18 \cdot 8 = 144$, we get that if $\lambda \lambda' = -18$ then $Q'(Q^2) = 0$.

Corollary 8.0.4. Let $Q = x_0^3 + x_1^3 + x_2^3 + \lambda x_0 x_1 x_2$ and let $Q' = y_0^3 + y_1^3 + y_2^3 + \lambda' y_0 y_1 y_2$ and assume $\lambda \lambda' = -18$. Then $Q \in (Q'^2)^{\perp}$ and $Q' \in (Q^2)^{\perp}$

Remark 8.0.5. By, [Fri02, Proposition 2.16], we have that the *j*-invariant of a ternary cubic form in Hesse form $E_{\lambda}: x_0^3 + x_1^3 + x_2^3 + \lambda x_0 x_1 x_2$ is given by

$$j(E_{\lambda}) = \frac{\lambda^3 (\lambda^3 - 216)^3}{(\lambda + 3)^3 (\lambda + 3\epsilon)^3 (\lambda + 3\epsilon^2)^3}$$

We use the program in Listing 10.25 to show that when $\lambda\lambda' = -18$, for $\lambda = 1$, then $j(E_{\lambda}) \neq j(E_{\lambda})$, which means that the two general curves Q = 0 and Q' = 0 in Corollary 8.0.4 are not isomorphic.

Proposition 8.0.6. Let $Q = x_0^3 - x_1^2 x_2$. Let $F = Q^2$ and $Q' = y_2^3$ and $Q'' = y_0 y_2^2$. Then $Q', Q'' \in F^{\perp}$ and Q', Q'' are the only cubic forms in the ideal.

It is easy to check that $Q', Q'' \in F^{\perp}$. For the uniqueness, let

$$\hat{Q} = b_0 y_0^3 + b_1 y_1^3 + b_2 y_2^3 + b_3 y_0^2 y_1 + b_4 y_0 y_1^2 + b_5 y_0^2 y_2 + b_6 y_0 y_2^2 + b_7 y_1^2 y_2 + b_8 y_1 y_2^2 + b_9 y_0 y_1 y_2$$

be a general cubic. Then, by the program in Listing 10.23, we have

$$\hat{Q}(Q^2) = (120b_0 - 4b_7)x_0^3$$
$$-(12b_0 - 24b_7)x_1^2x_2$$
$$-12b_9x_0^2x_1 - 12b_5x_0x_1^2$$
$$+8b_8x_1^3 - 12b_4x_0^2x_2$$
$$-24b_3x_0x_1x_2 + 24b_1x_1x_2^2$$

We have that $Q' \in F^{\perp}$ if every coefficient of each monomial is zero. We have immediately that $b_1 = b_3 = b_4 = b_5 = b_8 = b_9 = 0$. Further, we get the equations

$$120b_0 - 4b_7 = 0, (8.1)$$

$$12b_0 - 24b_7 = 0. (8.2)$$

This system of equations is true only if $b_0 = b_7 = 0$. To summarize, we have that b_2 and b_6 are free variables, so $Q' = y_2^3$ and $Q'' = y_0 y_2^2$ are the only cubics in F^{\perp} .

Proposition 8.0.7. Let $Q = x_0^3 + x_1^2 x_2 - x_0^2 x_2$. Let $F = Q^2$ and $Q' = y_2^3$. Then $Q' \in F^{\perp}$ and Q' are the only cubic forms in the ideal.

Proof. It is easy to check that $Q' \in F^{\perp}$. For the uniqueness, let

$$\hat{Q} = b_0 y_0^3 + b_1 y_1^3 + b_2 y_2^3 + b_3 y_0^2 y_1 + b_4 y_0 y_1^2 + b_5 y_0^2 y_2 + b_6 y_0 y_2^2 + b_7 y_1^2 y_2 + b_8 y_1 y_2^2 + b_9 y_0 y_1 y_2$$

be a general cubic. Then, by the program in Listing 10.24

$$\begin{split} \hat{Q}(Q^2) &= (120b_0 - 40b_5 + 8b_6 + 4b_7)x_0^3 \\ &- (8b_8 - 12b_9)x_0^2x_1 \\ &+ (12b_5 - 8b_6)x_0x_1^2 \\ &+ 8b_8x_1^3 \\ - (120b_0 - 12b_4 - 24b_5 + 8b_7)x_0^2x_2 \\ &+ (24b_3 - 16b_9)x_0x_1x_2 \\ &+ (12b_0 - 8b_5 + 24b_7)x_1^2x_2 \\ &+ (24b_0 - 8b_4)x_0x_2^2 \\ && (24b_1 - 8b_3)x_1x_2^2 \end{split}$$

We have that $Q' \in F^{\perp}$ if every coefficient of each monomial is zero. We first see that $b_8 = 0$, which implies that $b_9 = b_3 = b_1 = 0$. The remaining equations are:

$$120b_0 - 40b_5 + 8b_6 + 4b_7 = 0$$

$$120b_0 - 12b_4 - 24b_5 + 8b_7 = 0$$

$$12b_0 - 8b_5 + 24b_7 = 0$$

$$24b_0 - 8b_4 = 0$$
$$12b_5 - 8b_6 = 0$$

The corresponding matrix equation is

$$\begin{pmatrix} 120 & 0 & -40 & 8 & 4 \\ 120 & -12 & -24 & 0 & 8 \\ 12 & 0 & -8 & 0 & 24 \\ 24 & -8 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 12 & -8 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} b_0 \\ b_4 \\ b_5 \\ b_6 \\ b_7 \end{pmatrix}$$

By row reduction, we get that the only solution is $b_0 = b_4 = b_5 = b_6 = b_7 = 0$. To summarize, $b_0 = b_1 = b_3 = b_4 = b_5 = b_6 = b_7 = b_8 = b_9 = 0$, and b_2 is a free variable. This implies $\hat{Q} = b_2 y_2^3$, which shows that the only cubic in the apolar ideal of F is y_2^3 .

Theorem 8.0.8. Let Q be a irreducible ternary cubic form and let $F = Q^2$. Then F^{\perp} contains at least one cubic form.

Proof. By Lemma 8.0.1 and Lemma 8.0.2, the non-degenerate cubics are either in the Hesse pencil or a nodal or a cuspidal cubic. By Proposition 8.0.3, an element in the Hesse pencil has at least one cubic form in the apolar ideal, from Proposition 8.0.7 that a nodal cubic has exactly one cubic form in the apolar ideal, and from Proposition 8.0.6 that a cuspidal cubic has exactly two cubic forms in the apolar ideal.

Remark 8.0.9. Since the irreducible ternary cubics are open in the space of ternary cubics, the result holds for a reducible ternary cubic as well.

Now, we show that if Q is the Fermat cubic and $F = Q^2$ then F^{\perp} contains exactly one cubic form.

Proposition 8.0.10. Let $Q = x_0^3 + x_1^3 + x_2^3$. Let $F = Q^2$ and $Q' = y_0y_1y_2$. Then $Q \in F^{\perp}$ and Q' is the only cubic in the ideal.

Proof. We obviously have $Q'(Q^2) = 0$. For the proof of uniqueness, let

$$Q'' = b_0 y_0^3 + b_1 y_1^3 + b_2 y_2^3 + b_3 y_0^2 y_1 + b_4 y_0 y_1^2 + b_5 y_0^2 y_2 + b_6 y_0 y_2^2 + b_7 y_1^2 y_2 + b_8 y_1 y_2^2 + b_9 y_0 y_1 y_2 + b_9 y_0 y_1 + b_9$$

be a general cubic. Then, by the program in Listing 10.22, we have

$$Q''(Q^2) = (120b_0 + 12b_1 + 12b_2)x_0^3 + (12b_0 + 12b_1 + 120b_2)x_2^3 + (12b_0 + 120b_1 + 12b_2)x_1^3 + 36b_4x_0^2x_1 + 36b_3x_0x_1^2 + 36b_6x_0^2x_2 + 36b_8x_1^2x_2 + 36b_5x_0x_2^2 + 36b_7x_1x_2^2 + 36b_7x_1x_2^2$$

We have that $Q' \in F^{\perp}$ if every coefficient of each monomial is zero. We have immediately that $b_3 = b_4 = b_5 = b_6 = b_7 = b_8 = 0$. Further, we have the following equations:

$$120b_0 + 12b_1 + 12b_2 = 0 \tag{8.3}$$

$$12b_0 + 12b_1 + 120b_2 = 0 \tag{8.4}$$

$$12b_0 + 120b_1 + 12b_2 = 0 \tag{8.5}$$

To solve 8.3 - 8.5, we consider the coefficient matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} 120 & 12 & 12 \\ 12 & 12 & 120 \\ 12 & 120 & 12 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Row reducing gives the identity matrix, which implies that the only solution is $b_0 = b_1 = b_2 = 0$. To summarize, $b_0 = b_1 = b_2 = b_3 = b_4 = b_5 = b_6 = b_7 = b_8 = 0$, and b_9 is a free variable. This implies $Q'' = b_9 y_0 y_1 y_2$, which shows that the only cubic in the apolar ideal of F is $y_0 y_1 y_2$.

Corollary 8.0.11. Let Q be a general ternary cubic and let $F = Q^2$. Then F^{\perp} contains exactly one cubic form.

Proof. By Theorem 8.0.8, F^{\perp} contains at least one cubic form for a general Q. To contained more than one cubic form in the ideal is a closed condition, so if we can find an element that contain only one cubic, we are done. In Proposition 8.0.10 we showed that if Q is the Fermat cubic has only one cubic, then F^{\perp} contain only one cubic form.

Now, we investigate the case when the cubic form in the apolar ideal of a double cubic is a triple line.

Proposition 8.0.12. Assume $F = Q^2$ for a cubic Q such that $y_2^3 \in F^{\perp}$. Then

$$Q = a_0 x_0^3 + a_1 x_1^3 + a_3 x_0^2 x_1 + a_4 x_0 x_1^2 + a_5 x_0^2 x_2 + a_7 x_1^2 x_2 + a_9 x_0 x_1 x_2$$

In particular, Q is singular.

Proof. Let $Q = a_0 x_0^3 + a_1 x_1^3 + a_2 x_2^3 + a_3 x_0^2 x_1 + a_4 x_0 x_1^2 + a_5 x_0^2 x_2 + a_6 x_0 x_2^2 + a_7 x_1^2 x_2 + a_8 x_1 x_2^2 + a_9 x_0 x_1 x_2$ be a general cubic. Then

$$y_{2}^{3}(Q^{2}) = (12a_{0}a_{2} + 12a_{5}a_{6})x_{0}^{3}$$

$$+(12a_{2}a_{3} + 12a_{5}a_{8} + 12a_{6}a_{9})x_{0}^{2}x_{1}$$

$$+(12a_{2}a_{4} + 12a_{6}a_{7} + 12a_{8}a_{9})x_{0}x_{1}^{2}$$

$$+(12a_{1}a_{2} + 12a_{7}a_{8})x_{1}^{3}$$

$$+(48a_{2}a_{5} + 24a_{6}^{2})x_{0}^{2}x_{2}$$

$$+(48a_{6}a_{8} + 48a_{2}a_{9})x_{0}x_{1}x_{2}$$

$$+(48a_{2}a_{7} + 24a_{8}^{2})x_{1}^{2}x_{2}$$

$$+(12a_{2}a_{6}x_{0}x_{2}^{2}$$

$$+120a_{2}a_{8}x_{1}x_{2}^{2}$$

$$+120a_{2}^{2}x_{3}^{3}$$

We have that y_2^3 is apolar to F if $y_2^3(Q)$. We get that $a_2 = 0$, which implies that $a_6 = a_8 = 0$. Since every term of $y_2^3(Q^2)$ contains either a_2, a_6 or a_8 , we are done.

To show that Q is singular, let $x_2 = 1$. Then $Q = a_0 x_0^3 + a_1 x_1^3 + a_3 x_0^2 x_1 + a_4 x_0 x_1^2 + a_5 x_0^2 + a_7 x_1^2 + a_9 x_0 x_1$. The cubic Q is singular if there is a point on the curve where both partial derivatives vanish.

$$F_{x_0} = 3a_0x_0^2 + 2a_3x_0x_1 + a_4x_1^2 + 2a_5x_0 + a_9x_1,$$

$$F_{x_1} = 3a_1x_1^2 + a_3x_0^2 + 2a_4x_0x_1 + 2a_7x_1 + a_9x_0.$$

When $x_0 = x_1 = 0$ we get $F_{x_0} = F_{x_1} = 0$. The corresponding projective coordinate (0:0:1) is a point on the Q and is therefore a singular point.

9 Conclusion

9.1 Comparison of the Secant and the Catelecticant Varieties

In this section we compare the secant varieties and the catelecticant varieties to the Veronese embedding. We have that $\operatorname{Sec}_r(v_6(\mathbb{P}(S_1))) \subset \operatorname{Cat}_r(v_6(\mathbb{P}(S_1)))$. The equations defining the point in $\operatorname{Cat}_r(v_6(\mathbb{P}(S_1)))$ are defined by the catalecticant matrix. The equations defining $\operatorname{Sec}_r(v_6(\mathbb{P}(S_1)))$ are, however, not known in general. Therefore, we compare the catalecticant and secant varieties by using our stratification. In the cases where they coincide, we have the equations for the secant variety. We have that $\operatorname{rank}(\operatorname{Cat}(F)) = 10 - \dim(F^{\perp})_3$.

Theorem 9.1.1. We have the following

- 1. $\operatorname{Sec}_r(v_6(\mathbb{P}(S_1))) = \operatorname{Cat}_r(v_6(\mathbb{P}(S_1))), \text{ for } r \leq 6,$
- 2. Sec₇($v_6(\mathbb{P}(S_1))$) = Cat₇($v_6(\mathbb{P}(S_1))$) $\mathcal{F}_{[030]}$
- 3. Sec₈($v_6(\mathbb{P}(S_1))$) = Cat₈($v_6(\mathbb{P}(S_1))$) ($\mathcal{F}_{[023a]} \cup \mathcal{F}_{[030]}$)
- 4. $\operatorname{Sec}_9(v_6(\mathbb{P}(S_1))) = \operatorname{Cat}_9(v_6(\mathbb{P}(S_1)))$
- 5. $\operatorname{Sec}_{10}(v_6(\mathbb{P}(S_1))) = \operatorname{Cat}_{10}(v_6(\mathbb{P}(S_1)))$

Proof. We have that $\operatorname{rank}(\operatorname{Cat}(F)) = 10 - \dim(F^{\perp})_3$. Since $\operatorname{Sec}_r(v_6(\mathbb{P}(S_1)))$ is irreducible, [Har92], we only need to compare the rank of a general element $F \in \mathcal{F}_B$ with the $\operatorname{rank}(v_6(\mathbb{P}(S_1)))$. We get that for r different from 8 and 9, then F is the limit of an F_t , where $\operatorname{r}(F_t) = \operatorname{rank}(\operatorname{Cat}(F))$. We now consider the cases [030] and [023*a*].

For a general element $F \in \mathcal{F}_{[030]}$, $\dim(F^{\perp})_3 = 3$, thus $F \in \operatorname{Cat}_7$. The rank of a general element in $\mathcal{F}_{[030]}$ is 9, so $\mathcal{F}_{[030]} \subset \operatorname{Sec}_9(v_6(\mathbb{P}(S_1))) - \operatorname{Sec}_8(v_6(\mathbb{P}(S_1)))$. For a general element $F \in F_{[023a]}$, $\dim(\mathcal{F}^{\perp})_3 = 2$, thus $F \in \operatorname{Cat}_8(v_6(\mathbb{P}(S_1)))$. The rank of a general element in $F_{[023a]}$ is 9, so $\mathcal{F}_{[023a]} \subset \operatorname{Sec}_9(v_6(\mathbb{P}(S_1))) - \operatorname{Sec}_8(v_6(\mathbb{P}(S_1)))$.

9.2 Further Questions

In this section we raise some open questions.

The first question is related to the results we found in Chapter 8. Since there are only two ways to find a basis for a general F of cactus rank 9, there might be difficult to find smooth schemes that are apolar to F. For the double cubics, we found explicit equations for the cubic forms in the apolar ideal. Therefore, it should be possible investigate if there are some smooth schemes at all. We raise the following question

Question 9.2.1. Is there a smooth scheme of length nine apolar to a double cubic?

The second question we raise is if our methods work for forms of higher degrees.

Question 9.2.2. Is it possible to use the same methods that we have used for ternary forms of degree larger than six?

10 | Appendix

10.1 Computation for Chapter 4

```
Listing 10.1: Chern classes for G(4,9)
```

R=QQ[c1,c2,c3,c4]g6=3*c1^2*c4-2*c2*c4+6*c1*c2*c3-4*c1^3*c3-c3^2-6*c1^2*c2^2+c2^3+5*c1^4*c2-c1^6 g7=4*c1*c2*c4-c1^3*c4-2*c3*c4+2*c1*c3^2-6*c1^2*c2*c3+3*c2^2*c3 $+c1^{4}c3-3+c1+c2^{3}+4+c1^{3}c2^{2}-c1^{5}c2$ g8=4*c1*c3*c4-c4^2-3*c1^2*c2*c4+c2^2*c4+c1^4*c4-3*c1^2*c3^2+2*c2*c3^2-3*c1*c2^2*c3+4*c1^3*c2*c3-c1^5*c3 g9=2*c1*c4^2-3*c1^2*c3*c4+2*c2*c3*c4- $3*c1*c2^2*c4+4*c1^3*c2*c4-c1^5*c4$ e1=g6*c1^14, e2=g6*c1^12*c2,e3=g6*c1^11*c3,e4=g6*c1^10*c2^2, e5=g6*c1^10*c4,e6=g6*c1^9*c2*c3, e7=g6*c1^8*c2^3, e8=g6*c1^8*c3^2 e9=g6*c1^8*c2*c4,e10=g6*c1^7*c3*c4, $\texttt{e11} = \texttt{g6} * \texttt{c1}^7 * \texttt{c2}^2 * \texttt{c3}, \texttt{ e12} = \texttt{g6} * \texttt{c1}^6 * \texttt{c2}^4, \texttt{ e13} = \texttt{g6} * \texttt{c1}^6 * \texttt{c2}^2 * \texttt{c3}^2, \texttt{ e14} = \texttt{g6} * \texttt{c1}^6 * \texttt{c2}^2 * \texttt{c4}, \texttt{ e13} = \texttt{g6} * \texttt{c1}^6 * \texttt{c2}^2 * \texttt{c3}^2, \texttt{ e14} = \texttt{g6} * \texttt{c1}^6 * \texttt{c2}^2 * \texttt{c4}^2, \texttt{ e14} = \texttt{g6} * \texttt{c1}^6 * \texttt{c2}^2 * \texttt{c4}^2, \texttt{ e14} = \texttt{g6} * \texttt{c1}^6 * \texttt{c2}^2 * \texttt{c4}^2, \texttt{ e14} = \texttt{g6} * \texttt{c1}^6 * \texttt{c2}^2 * \texttt{c4}^2, \texttt{ e14} = \texttt{g6} * \texttt{c1}^6 * \texttt{c2}^2 * \texttt{c4}^2, \texttt{ e14} = \texttt{g6} * \texttt{c1}^6 * \texttt{c2}^2 * \texttt{c4}^2, \texttt{ e14} = \texttt{g6} * \texttt{c1}^6 * \texttt{c2}^2 * \texttt{c4}^2, \texttt{ e14} = \texttt{g6} * \texttt{c1}^6 * \texttt{c2}^2 * \texttt{c4}^2, \texttt{ e14} = \texttt{g6} * \texttt{c1}^6 * \texttt{c2}^2 * \texttt{c4}^2, \texttt{ e14} = \texttt{g6} * \texttt{c1}^6 * \texttt{c2}^2 * \texttt{c4}^2, \texttt{ e14} = \texttt{g6} * \texttt{c1}^6 * \texttt{c2}^2 * \texttt{c4}^2, \texttt{ e14} = \texttt{g6} * \texttt{c1}^6 * \texttt{c2}^2 * \texttt{c4}^2, \texttt{ e14} = \texttt{g6} * \texttt{c1}^6 * \texttt{c2}^2 * \texttt{c4}^2, \texttt{ e14} = \texttt{g6} * \texttt{c1}^6 * \texttt{c2}^2 * \texttt{c4}^2, \texttt{ e14} = \texttt{g6} * \texttt{c1}^6 * \texttt{c2}^2 * \texttt{c4}^2, \texttt{ e14} = \texttt{g6} * \texttt{c1}^6 * \texttt{c2}^2 * \texttt{c4}^2, \texttt{ e14} = \texttt{g6} * \texttt{c1}^6 * \texttt{c2}^2 * \texttt{c4}^2, \texttt{ e14} = \texttt{g6} * \texttt{c1}^6 * \texttt{c2}^2 * \texttt{c4}^2, \texttt{ e14} = \texttt{g6} * \texttt{c1}^6 * \texttt{c2}^2 * \texttt{c4}^2, \texttt{ e14} = \texttt{g6} * \texttt{c1}^6 * \texttt{c2}^2 * \texttt{c4}^2, \texttt{ e14} = \texttt{g6} * \texttt{c1}^6 * \texttt{c2}^2 * \texttt{c4}^2, \texttt{ e14} = \texttt{g6} * \texttt{c1}^6 * \texttt{c2}^2 * \texttt{c4}^2, \texttt{ e14} = \texttt{g6} * \texttt{c1}^6 * \texttt{c2}^2 * \texttt{c4}^2, \texttt{ e14} = \texttt{g6} * \texttt{c1}^6 * \texttt{c2}^2 * \texttt{c4}^2, \texttt{ e14} = \texttt{g6} * \texttt{c1}^6 * \texttt{c2}^2 * \texttt{c4}^2, \texttt{ e14} = \texttt{g6} * \texttt{c1}^6 * \texttt{c2}^2 * \texttt{c4}^2, \texttt{ e16} * \texttt{c2}^2 * \texttt{c4}^2 * \texttt{$ e15=g6*c1^6*c4^2 e16=g6*c1^5*c3^3, e17=g6*c1^5*c2^3*c3, e18=g6*c1^5*c2*c3*c4, e19=g6*c1^4*c2^5, $e^{20}=g^{6}*c^{1}^{4}*c^{2}^{3}*c^{4}$, $e^{21}=g^{6}*c^{1}^{4}*c^{2}^{2}*c^{3}^{2}$ $e22=g6*c1^{4}*c2*c4^{2}$, $e23=g6*c1^{4}*c3^{2}*c4$, $e24=g6*c1^3*c2^4*c3$, $e25=g6*c1^3*c2^2*c3*c4$, e26=g6*c1^3*c2*c3^3, e27=g6*c1^3*c3*c4^2 e28=g6*c1^2*c2^6,e29=g6*c1^2*c2^4*c4, e30=g6*c1^2*c2^3*c3^2, e31=g6*c1^2*c2^2*c4^2, e32=g6*c1^2*c2*c3^2*c4, e33=g6*c1^2*c3^4 e34=g6*c1^2*c4^3, e35=g6*c1*c2^5*c3, e36=g6*c1*c2^2*c3*c4, e37=g6*c1*c2^2*c3^3, e38=g6*c1*c2*c3*c4^2, e39=g6*c1*c3^3*c4, e40=g6*c2^7 e41=g6*c2^5*c4, e42=g6*c2^4*c3^2, e43=g6*c2^3*c4^2, e44=g6*c2^2*c3^2*c4, e45=g6*c2*c3^4, e46=g6*c2*c4^3, e47=g6*c3^2*c4 b1=g7*c1^13, b2=g7*c1^11*c2, b3=g7*c1^10*c3, b4=g7*c1^9*c2^2, b5=g7*c1^9*c4, b6=g7*c1^8*c2*c3, b7=g7*c1^7*c2^3, b8=g7*c1^7*c3^2 $\texttt{b9=g7*c1^7*c2*c4, b10=g7*c1^6*c3*c4, b11=g7*c1^6*c2^2*c3,}$ $b12=g7*c1^{5*}c2^{4}$, $b13=g7*c1^{5*}c2*c3^{2}$, $b14=g7*c1^{5*}c2^{2*}c4$ b15=g7*c1^5*c4^2, b16=g7*c1^4*c3^3, b17=g7*c1^4*c2^3*c3, $b18=g7*c1^4*c2*c3*c4$, $b18=g7*c1^3*c2^5$, $b19=g7*c1^3*c2^3*c4$ b20=g7*c1^3*c2^2*c3^2, b21=g7*c1^3*c2*c4^2, b22=g7*c1^3*c3^2*c4, b23=g7*c1^2*c2^4*c3, b24=g7*c1^2*c2^2*c3*c4, b25=g7*c1^2*c2*c3^3 b26=g7*c1^2*c3*c4^2, b27=g7*c1*c2^6, b28=g7*c1*c2^4*c4, b29=g7*c1*c2^3*c3^2, b30=g7*c1*c2*c4^2, b31=g7*c1*c2*c3^2*c4, b32=g7*c1*c3^4, b33=g7*c1*c4^3, b34=g7*c2^5*c3, b35=g7*c2^3*c3*c4, b36=g7*c2^2*c3^3, b37=g7*c2*c3*c4^2, b38=g7*c3^3*c4

```
d1=g8*c1^12, d2=g8*c1^10*c2, d3=g8*c1^9*c3,
d4=g8*c1^8*c2^2, d5=g8*c1^8*c4, d6=g8*c1^7*c2*c3,
d7=g8*c1^6*c2^3, d8=g8*c1^6*c3^2
d9=g8*c1^6*c2*c4, d10=g8*c1^5*c3*c4, d11=g8*c1^5*c2^2*c3,
d12=g8*c1^4*c2^4, d13=g8*c1^4*c2*c3^2, d14=g8*c1^4*c2^2*c4
d15=g8*c1^4*c4^2, d16=g8*c1^3*c3^3, d17=g8*c1^3*c2^3*c3,
d18=g8*c1^3*c2*c3*c4, d19=g8*c1^2*c2^5, d20=g8*c1^2*c2^3*c4
d21=g8*c1^2*c2^2*c3^2, d22=g8*c1^2*c2*c4^2,
d23=g8*c1^2*c2^2*c3^2c4, d24=g8*c1*c2^4*c3,
d25=g8*c1*c2^2*c3*c4, d26=g8*c1*c2*c3^3
d27=g8*c1*c3*c4^2, d28=g8*c2^6, d29=g8*c2*4*c4,
d30=g8*c2^3*c3^2, d31=g8*c2^2*c4^2, d32=g8*c2*c3^2*c4,
d33=g8*c3^4, d34=g8*c4^3
```

f1=g9*c1^11, f2=g9*c1^9*c2, f3=g9*c1^8*c3, f4=g9*c1^7*c2^2, f5=g9*c1^7*c4, f6=g9*c1^6*c2*c3, f7=g9*c1^5*c2^3, f8=g9*c1^5*c3^2 f9=g9*c1^5*c2*c4, f10=g9*c1^4*c3*c4, f11=g9*c1^4*c2^2*c3, f12=g9*c1^3*c2^4, f13=g9*c1^3*c2*c3^2, f14=g9*c1^3*c2^2*c4 f15=g9*c1^3*c4^2, f16=g9*c1^2*c3^3, f17=g9*c1^2*c2^3*c3, f18=g9*c1^2*c2*c3*c4, f19=g9*c1*c2^5, f20=g9*c1*c2^3*c4 f21=g9*c1*c2^2*c3^2, f22=g9*c1*c2*c4^2, f23=g9*c1*c3^2*c4, f24=g9*c2^4*c3, f25=g9*c2*c3*c4, f26=g9*c2*c3^3, f27=g9*c3*c4^2

```
P=matrix{{e1,e2,e3,e4,e5,e6,e7,e8,e9,e10,e11,e12,e13,e14,e1
5,e16,e17,e18,e19,e20,e21,e22,e23,e24,e25,
e26,e27,e28,e29,e30,e31,e32,e33,e34,e35,e36,e37,e38,e39,e40
,e41,e42,e43,e44,e45,e46,e47,b1,b2,b3,b4,
b5,b6,b7,b8,b9,b10,b11,b12,b13,b14,b15,b16,b17,b18,b19,b20,
b21,b22,b23,b24,b25,b26,b27,b28,b29,b30,
b31,b32,b33,b34,b35,b36,b37,b38,d1,d2,d3,d4,d5,d6,d7,d8,d9,
d10,d11,d12,d13,d14,d15,d16,d17,d18,d19,
d20,d21,d22,d23,d24,d25,d26,d27,d28,d29,d30,d31,d32,d33,d34
,f1,f2,f3,f4,f5,f6,f7,f8,f9,f10,f11,f12,
f13,f14,f15,f16,f17,f18,f19,f20,f21,f22,f23,f24,f25,f26,f27}}
(M,C)=coefficients P
F = transpose(C)
R=QQ
G=lift(F,R)
```

M T=reducedRowEchelonForm G

10.2 Computation for Chapter 5

```
Listing 10.2: Three points
```

```
i1 : R=QQ[x,y,z]
o1 = R
o1 : PolynomialRing
i2 : M = matrix \{ random(1,R), random(1,R), random(1,R) \}
     \{random(1,R), random(1,R), random(1,R)\}
o2 = | 6/7x+6/5y+7/3z 2/3x+2y+7/4z 8x+5/2y+4/3z
                                                   | 10/9x+4/5y+9/5z 3x+1/2y+1/2z 4x+10/7y+2/5z |
             2
                    3
o2 : Matrix R <--- R
i3 : I = minors(2,M);
o3 : Ideal of R \,
i4 : J=minors(2,jacobian I);
o4 : Ideal of R
i5 : codim variety ideal(I,J)
o5 = 3
i6 : degree variety I
o6 = 3
```

Listing 10.3: Four points

o6 = 4

Listing 10.4: Four points, three on a line

```
i1 : R=QQ[x,y,z]
o1 = R
o1 : PolynomialRing
i2 : M = matrix{{(x+y)*y,(x+z)*(y+z),x},{z,y,0}}
o2 = | xy+y2 xy+xz+yz+z2 x |
     | z
           У
                         0 |
                       3
              2
o2 : Matrix R < --- R
i3 : I = minors(2,M);
o3 : Ideal of R
i4 : J=minors(2,jacobian I);
o4 : Ideal of R
i5 : codim variety ideal(I,J)
o5 = 3
```

Listing 10.5: Five points, four on a line

```
i1 : R=QQ[x,y,z]
o1 = R
o1 : PolynomialRing
i2 : M = matrix{{(x+y)*y^2, (x+z)*(y+z)*z,x},{y,z,0}}
o2 = | xy2+y3 xyz+xz2+yz2+z3 x |
     lу
                              0 1
              z
              2
                        3
o2 : Matrix R <--- R
i3 : I = minors(2, M);
o3 : Ideal of R \,
i4 : J=minors(2,jacobian I);
o4 : Ideal of R
i5 : codim variety ideal(I,J)
o5 = 3
```

Listing 10.6: Five points

```
Listing 10.7: Six points
```

Listing 10.8: Six points, four on a line

```
i3 : I = minors(2,M);
o3 : Ideal of R
i4 : J=minors(2,jacobian I);
o4 : Ideal of R
i5 : codim variety ideal(I,J)
o5 = 3
```

Listing 10.9: Seven points on a conic

```
i1 : R=QQ[x,y,z]
o1 = R
o1 : PolynomialRing
i2 : M = matrix{{(y)*(y-x)*(z-x),(x+z),x},{(y-z)*(x+z)*(x+y),z+y,x-y}}
o2 = | x2y - xy2 - xyz + y2z
                               x+z x
                                        | x2y+xy2-x2z+y2z-xz2-yz2 y+z x-y |
              2
                        3
o2 : Matrix R <--- R
i3 : I = minors(2, M);
o3 : Ideal of R
i4 : J=minors(2, jacobian I);
o4 : Ideal of R
i5 : codim variety ideal(I,J)
o5 = 3
```

Listing 10.10: Six points

```
i1 : R=QQ[x,y,z]
o1 = R
o1 : PolynomialRing
i2 : M = matrix{{random(1,R),random(1,R),random(1,R),
     \{random(1,R), random(1,R), random(1,R), random(1,R)\},\
     \{random(1,R), random(1,R), random(1,R), random(1,R)\}
o2 = | 7/9x + 3/2y + 5z
                                    7/4x+1/3y+9/5z 10x+4/3y+5/2z |
                     x+3/10y+z
     | 3/10x+3/7y+3/5z 1/4x+1/2y+3z 3/8x+y+7/9z 1/3x+3/7y+5/2z |
     | 1/2x+7/9y+1/5z 7x+5/7y+10/7z 2/3x+1/10y+9/5z 7/9x+3/2y+5/7z |
             3
                      4
o2 : Matrix R <--- R
i3 : I = minors(3, M);
o3 : Ideal of R
```

```
i4 : J=minors(2,jacobian I);
o4 : Ideal of R
i5 : codim variety ideal(I,J)
o5 = 3
i6 : degree variety I
o6 = 6
```

```
Listing 10.11: Nine points in a CI \,
```

```
i1 : R=QQ[x,y,z]
o1 = R
o1 : PolynomialRing
i2 : M = matrix \{ \{x^3+y^3, z^3+x^2*y \} \}
o2 = | x3+y3 x2y+z3 |
             1
                     2
o2 : Matrix R <--- R
i3 : I = minors(1, M);
o3 : Ideal of R
i4 : J=minors(2, jacobian I);
o4 : Ideal of R
i5 : codim variety ideal(I,J)
o5 = 3
i6 : degree variety I
o6 = 9
```

Listing 10.12: Seven points

```
i1 : R=QQ[x,y,z]

o1 = R

o1 : PolynomialRing

i2 : M = matrix{{(y+x+z)*x,(x+z)*(y-x),(x+z)*(x+y)},{(y-z),(x+z),z+y}}

o2 = | x2+xy+xz -x2+xy-xz+yz x2+xy+xz+yz |

| y-z x+z y+z |

o2 : Matrix R <--- R

i3 : I = minors(2,M);

o3 : Ideal of R
```

```
i4 : J=minors(2,jacobian I);
o4 : Ideal of R
i5 : codim variety ideal(I,J)
o5 = 3
```

```
Listing 10.13: Seven points, four on a line
```

```
i1 : R=QQ[x,y,z]
o1 = R
o1 : PolynomialRing
i2 : M = matrix{{random(2,R),random(2,R),random(2,R),random(1,R)},
     \{random(1,R), random(1,R), random(1,R), 0\},\
     \{random(1,R), random(1,R), random(1,R), 0\}
o2 = | 5/8x2+10/9xy+4y2+5/2xz+5/2yz+7z2
7/9x2+10xy+6/7y2+9/8xz+8/3yz+3/2z2
x2+9/8xy+7/8y2+1/4xz+2yz+2z2 3/2x+5/8y+3z |
     | 5/9x+8y+7/2z
                        1/2x+7/6y+1/2z
                                              2/5x+1/2y+3/5z
                                                                        0
| 7/6x+5/4y+7/5z
                         3/7x+5/8y+7/3z
                                                    2x+y+5/8z
                                                                        0
Т
              3
                       4
o2 : Matrix R <--- R
i3 : I = minors(3, M);
o3 : Ideal of R
i4 : J=minors(2, jacobian I);
o4 : Ideal of R
i5 : codim variety ideal(I,J)
o5 = 3
i6 : degree variety I
o6 = 7
```

Listing 10.14: Eight points

```
i1 : R=QQ[x,y,z]

o1 = R

o1 : PolynomialRing

i2 : M = matrix{{(y+x+z)*(x+y),(x+z)*(y-x)+x^2,(x+y-z)},
{(x+z)*(x+y)+z^2,(x+z+y)*(x-y)-y^2,z+y+x}}

o2 = | x2+2xy+y2+xz+yz xy-xz+yz x+y-z |

| x2+xy+xz+yz+z2 x2-2y2+xz-yz x+y+z |
```

```
2 3

o2 : Matrix R <--- R

i3 : I = minors(2,M);

o3 : Ideal of R

i4 : J=minors(2,jacobian I);

o4 : Ideal of R

i5 : codim variety ideal(I,J)

o5 = 3
```

```
i1 : R=QQ[x,y,z]
o1 = R
o1 : PolynomialRing
i2 : M = matrix \{ \{ (y+x+z) * (x+y), (x+z) * (y-x) + x^2, (x+y-z) \} \}
      \{(x+z)*(x+y)+z^2, (x+z+y)*(x-y)-y^2, 0\}\}
o2 = | x2+2xy+y2+xz+yz xy-xz+yz
                                     x+y-z |
     | x2+xy+xz+yz+z2 x2-2y2+xz-yz 0
                                             2
                        3
o2 : Matrix R <--- R
i3 : I = minors(2, M);
o3 : Ideal of R
i4 : J=minors(2, jacobian I);
o4 : Ideal of R
i5 : codim variety ideal(I,J)
o5 = 3
```

```
i1 : R=QQ[x,y,z]

o1 = R

o1 : PolynomialRing

i2 : M = matrix{{random(2,R),random(2,R),random(1,R),random(1,R)},

        {random(2,R),random(2,R),random(1,R),random(1,R)},

        {random(1,R),random(1,R),random(1,R)},

        {random(1,R),random(1,R),o,0}}

o2 = | 1/4x2+4xy+3y2+1/3xz+7/4yz+1/5z2

3x2+4/7xy+y2+1/3xz+3/2yz+4/5z2

8x+7/9y+1/10z 1/2x+2y+3z |

        | x2+1/5xy+2y2+4/3xz+4/5yz+2/5z2

        x2+8/9xy+1/3y2+2/3xz+5yz+z2
```

Listing 10.16: Eight points, seven on a conic

```
1/3x+1/2y+2z 3/2x+4/9y+z |
                                  2x + 5/8y + 2z
     | 2x+5/3y+1/7z
                                                                    0
                                                                                   0
T
              3
                        4
o2 : Matrix R < --- R
i3 : I = minors(3,M);
o3 : Ideal of R
i4 : J=minors(2,jacobian I);
o4 : Ideal of R
i5 : codim variety ideal(I,J)
o5 = 3
i6 : degree variety I
o6 = 8
```

Listing 10.17: Nine points

```
i1 : R=QQ[x,y,z]
o1 = R
o1 : PolynomialRing
i2 : M = matrix{{random(2,R),random(1,R),random(1,R),random(1,R)},
     \{random(2,R), random(1,R), random(1,R), random(1,R)\},\
     \{random(2,R), random(1,R), random(1,R), random(1,R)\}
o2 = | 3/8x2+5/2xy+1/2y2
+5/2xz+1/6yz+3/2z2 7/8x+3/5y+1/4z 5/4x+9/10y+2z 3/10x+1/10y+7/9z |
     | 10/7x2+3/10xy
     +2/3y2+7/8xz+yz+5/4z2 x+6/5y+5/4z 10x+10y+1/2z 10x+5/2y+9/2z
                                                                            | 3/4x2+2/3xy
     +2y2+3/2xz+yz+z2
                              x+9/10y+9/10z 7/5x+3y+1/9z 5x+9/4y+4/5z
                                                                             1
              3
                       4
o2 : Matrix R <--- R
i3 : I = minors(3, M);
o3 : Ideal of R
i4 : J=minors(2, jacobian I);
o4 : Ideal of R
i5 : codim variety ideal(I,J)
05 = 3
i6 : degree variety I
o6 = 9
```

```
i1 : R=QQ[x,y,z]
o1 = R
o1 : PolynomialRing
i2 : M = matrix \{ random(2,R), random(1,R), random(1,R), random(1,R) \}
     \{random(2,R), random(1,R), random(1,R), 0\},\
     \{random(2,R), random(1,R), random(1,R), 0\}\}
o2 = | 1/8x2 + 3/4xy + 8/9y2
+8/3xz+yz+1/10z2 3/10x+5/7y+3/7z 3/10x+3y+1/2z 3/4x+5y+z |
     | 1/7x^{2}+xy^{8}/5y^{2}
     +xz+1/3yz+3/4z2
                             1/5x+7/2y+1/3z 6/5x+5/7y+9/7z 0
                                                                         | 8/5x2+8/9xy+10/3y2+5/8xz
     +5/4yz+5/8z2 5/7x+9/7y+1/6z 7/6x+5/3y+2/7z 0
                                                             3
                        4
o2 : Matrix R < --- R
i3 : I = minors(3, M);
o3 : Ideal of R
i4 : J=minors(2, jacobian I);
o4 : Ideal of R
i5 : codim variety ideal(I,J)
o5 = 3
i6 : degree variety I
o6 = 9
```

Listing 10.19: Nine points, seven on a conic

```
i1 : R=QQ[x,y,z]
o1 = R
o1 : PolynomialRing
i2 : M = matrix{{random(2,R),random(1,R),random(1,R),random(1,R)},
     \{random(2,R), random(1,R), random(1,R), random(1,R)\},\
     \{random(2,R), random(1,R),0,0\}\}
o2 = | 5/2x2 + 9/4xy
+y2+4xz+7/3yz+4/5z2
                         3x+8/9y+2/5z 9/5x+y+4/5z
                                                       3x+3/4y+5z
                                                                    | 1/2x^2+2xy+9/2y^2
     +2/3xz+10/7yz+z2
                          x+1/2y+3/2z 5/3x+3/4y+1/2z 2/3x+1/3y+5z |
     | 9/7x2+8/3xy+9/5y2+3/2xz+1/8yz+2/9z2 x+6/7y+2z
                                                                          0
                                                          0
L
              3
                        4
o2 : Matrix R < --- R
i3 : I = minors(3, M);
o3 : Ideal of R
i4 : J=minors(2, jacobian I);
```

```
o4 : Ideal of R
i5 : codim variety ideal(I,J)
o5 = 3
i6 : degree variety I
o6 = 9
```

Listing 10.20: Ten points

```
i1 : R=QQ[x,y,z]
```

```
o1 = R
```

```
o1 : PolynomialRing
```

```
4 5

o2 : Matrix R <--- R

i3 : I = minors(4,M);

o3 : Ideal of R

i4 : J=minors(2,jacobian I);

o4 : Ideal of R

i5 : codim variety ideal(I,J)

o5 = 3
```

```
i6 : degree variety I
```

```
o6 = 10
```

10.3 Computation for Chapter 8

```
i1 : A=QQ[1,1']
o1 = A
o1 : PolynomialRing
i2 : R=A[x0,x1,x2]
o2 = R
o2 : PolynomialRing
i3 : Q = (x0^3+x1^3+x2^3+1*x0*x1*x2)^2
                                                 4 2 2 2 2 3 3
             3 3
                       6
      6
                                4
33
                  4
                       6
o3 = x0 + 2x0 x1 + x1 + 21*x0 x1*x2 + 21*x0*x1 x2 + 1 x0 x1 x2 + 2x0 x2
+ 2x1 x2 + 21*x0*x1*x2 + x2
o3 : R
i4 : diff(x0^3+x1^3+x2^3,Q)+l'*diff(x0*x1*x2,Q)
                    3
                                       3 2
3
o4 = (81*1' + 144)x0 + (81*1' + 144)x1 + (81 1' + 1441)x0*x1*x2
+ (81*1' + 144)x2
o4 : R
                            Listing 10.22: Fermat cubic
    i1 : A=QQ[b0,b1,b2,b3,b4,b5,b6,b7,b8,b9]
o1 = A
o1 : PolynomialRing
i2 : R=A[x0,x1,x2]
o2 = R
o2 : PolynomialRing
i3 : Q = (x0^3+x1^3+x2^3)^2
             33
                     6
                             33
                                       33
      6
                                                 6
o3 = x0 + 2x0 x1 + x1 + 2x0 x2 + 2x1 x2 + x2
o3 : R
i4 : b0*diff(x0^3,Q)+b1*diff(x1^3,Q)+b2*diff(x2^3,Q)+b3*diff(x0^2*x1,Q)
+b4*diff(x0*x1<sup>2</sup>,Q)+b5*diff(x0<sup>2</sup>x2,Q)+b6*diff(x0*x2<sup>2</sup>,Q)+b7*diff(x1<sup>2</sup>x2,Q)
+b8*diff(x1*x2^2,Q)+b9*diff(x0*x1*x2,Q)
```

Listing 10.21: Hesse pencil

		3	2	2
3	2	2	2	2
3				

```
o4 = (120b0 + 12b1 + 12b2)x0 + 36b4*x0 x1 + 36b3*x0*x1 + (12b0 + 120b1 + 12b2)x1
+ 36b6*x0 x2 + 36b8*x1 x2 + 36b5*x0*x2 + 36b7*x1*x2 + (12b0 + 12b1 + 120b2)x2
```

o4 : R

Listing	10.23:	Cuspidal	cubic	

```
i1 : A=QQ[b0,b1,b2,b3,b4,b5,b6,b7,b8,b9]
o1 = A
o1 : PolynomialRing
i2 : R=A[x0, x1, x2]
o2 = R
o2 : PolynomialRing
i3 : Q = (x0^3 - x1^2 + x2)^2
      6
           32
                     4 2
o3 = x0 - 2x0 x1 x2 + x1 x2
o3 : R
i4 : b0*diff(x0^3,Q)+b1*diff(x1^3,Q)+b2*diff(x2^3,Q)+b3*diff(x0^2*x1,Q)
+b4*diff(x0*x1^2,Q)+b5*diff(x0^2*x2,Q)+b6*diff(x0*x2^2,Q)+b7*diff(x1^2*x2,Q)
+b8*diff(x1*x2^2,Q)+b9*diff(x0*x1*x2,Q)
                                              2
                              2
                                                       3
                                                                   2
                   3
2
                2
o4 = (120b0 - 4b7)x0 - 12b9*x0 x1 - 12b5*x0*x1 + 8b8*x1 - 12b4*x0 x2
-24b3*x0*x1*x2 + (-12b0 + 24b7)x1 x2 + 24b1*x1*x2
```

o4 : R

Listing 10.24: Nodal cubic

2

```
o4 : R
```

Listing 10.25: j	j-invariant
------------------	-------------

```
i1 : A=QQ[lambda,e]/(e^{2+e+1})
o1 = A
o1 : QuotientRing
i2 : R=A[x0,x1,x2]
o2 = R
o2 : PolynomialRing
i3 : jE_lambda = (1^3*(1^3-216)^3)/((1+3)^3*(1+3*e)^3*(1+3*e^2)^3)
     -9938375
o3 = -----
       21952
o3 : frac A
i4 : jE_lambda' = ((-18/1)^3*((-18/1)^3-216)^3)/(((-18/1)+3)^3
*((-18/1)+3*e)^3*((-18/1)+3*e^2)^3)
    -65548320768
04 = _____
       9938375
```

o4 : frac A

References

- [AD08] Artebani, M. and Dolgachev, I. The Hesse pencil of plane cubic curves. 2008. arXiv: math/0611590 [math.AG].
- [AH95] Alexander, J. and Hirschowitz, A. Polynomial interpolation in several variables. 1995.
- [BE77] Buchsbaum, D. A. and Eisenbud, D. 'Algebra Structures for Finite Free Resolutions, and Some Structure Theorems for Ideals of Codimension 3'. In: American Journal of Mathematics 99.3 (1977), pp. 447–485.
- [Cay09] Cayley, A. 'Sur les Déterminants Gauches'. eng. In: The Collected Mathematical Papers. Cambridge University Press, 2009, pp. 410–413.
- [CLO05] Cox, D., Little, J. and O'Shea, D. Using Algebraic Geometry. Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer New York, 2005.
- [Dol12] Dolgachev, I. V. Classical algebraic geometry : a modern view. eng. Cambridge, 2012.
- [Eis06] Eisenbud, D. The geometry of syzygies: a second course in commutative algebra and algebraic geometry. eng. Vol. 229. Graduate texts in mathematics. Springer, 2006.
- [Eis16] Eisenbud, D. 3264 and all that : a second course in algebraic geometry. eng. Cambridge, 2016.
- [Eis95] Eisenbud, D. Commutative Algebra: With a View Toward Algebraic Geometry. eng.
 Vol. 150. Graduate Texts in Mathematics. New York, NY: Springer New York, 1995.
- [Fri02] Frium, H. R. 'The Group Law on Elliptic Curves on Hesse form'. In: Finite Fields with Applications to Coding Theory, Cryptography and Related Areas. Ed. by Mullen, G. L., Stichtenoth, H. and Tapia-Recillas, H. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2002, pp. 123–151.
- [Ful98] Fulton, W. Intersection Theory. eng. New York, NY, 1998.
- [Gro61] Grothendieck, A. 'Techniques de construction et théorèmes d'existence en géométrie algébrique IV : les schémas de Hilbert'. fre. In: Séminaire Bourbaki 6 (1960-1961), pp. 249–276.
- [GS] Grayson, D. R. and Stillman, M. E. *Macaulay2, a software system for research in algebraic geometry.* Available at http://www.math.uiuc.edu/Macaulay2/.
- [Har92] Harris, J. Algebraic Geometry: A First Course. Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer, 1992.
- [Hey69] Heymans, P. 'Pfaffians and Skew-Symmetric Matrices'. eng. In: Proceedings of the London Mathematical Society s3-19.4 (1969), pp. 730–768.
- [Iar99] Iarrobino, A. A. Power sums, Gorenstein algebras, and determinantal loci. eng. Berlin, 1999.
- [Kap+21] Kapustka, G. et al. Quaternary quartic forms and Gorenstein rings. 2021. DOI: 10.48550/ARXIV.2111.05817.

- [KL72] Kleiman, S. L. and Laksov, D. 'Schubert Calculus'. eng. In: The American mathematical monthly 79.10 (1972), pp. 1061–1082.
- [Mac72] Macaulay, F. S. 'The Algebraic Theory of Modular Systems'. In: 1972.
- [Muk09] Mukai, S. 'Polarized K 3 surfaces of genus 18 and 20'. In: 2009.
- [Syl04] Sylvester, J. J. (.-1. An essay on canonical forms, supplement to a sketch of a memoir on elimination, transformation and canonical forms. Cambridge, 1904.